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Financial Summary

BB HE

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF fB &S ft2mkExR
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
B Z2-TF Z2-NF Z2-)\F ZZ2—tF
RMB’000
AREFTT
Revenue ON 281,823 212,260 356,828 760,103 729,624
Gross profit S 170,720 96,479 222,633 599,450 461,098
(Loss)/profit from operations & (B1R),aF (336,584) (500,233) (467,692) 150,988 172,448
(Loss)/profit before taxation GRS
(E518) /5 (397,397) (471,908) (473,754) 523,555  (873,098)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(ER),Twf (387,114)  (470,906) (494,451) 526,227  (911,138)
Total comprehensive expense FERNEEZ HE%EE
for the year (425,451)  (600,897) (453,972) (126,385) (919,199)
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF S84tk RFE
FINANCIAL POSITION
Year ended December 31,
BEt+t-A=+—-HLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—EC-F ZER-TF ZT-NF ZT-)\F ZT—tF
RMB’000
ARETTT
Assets EE
Non-current assets IEMBNEE 353,037 429,583 391,714 134,616 78,627
Current assets REVEE 1,699,239 2012451 2,662,441 3,526,320 1,118,732
Total assets BEBER 2,052,276 2,442,034 3,054,155 3,660,936 1,197,359
Equity and liabilities ERREE
Equity attributable to the equity — ZNA FIREZS IR R
shareholders of the Company FE(E RS 1,886,434 2,311,864 2,914,631 3,451,521 (4,395,620)
Total equity iR 1,889,303 2,314,754 2,918,203 3,455,648 (4,395,620)
Non-current liabilities ERHAaE 16,685 2,643 12,371 61 5,253,072
Current liabilities mMENAE 148,288 124,637 123,581 205,227 339,907
Total liabilities aEes 164,973 127,280 135,952 205,288 5,592,979
Total equity and liabilities Kk aERE 2,054,276 2,442,034 3,054,155 3,660,936 1,197,359
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Chairman’s Statement

B

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2021.

KEY OPERATIONAL DATA

=3IV

EBERE

AANERREFE  ASUKRMRAZ

HAL

Bz -+ _A=1+—RIEEZE
ERE

SEE S

For the For the
year ended year ended
December 31, December 31, Year-on-year
2021 2020 change®
BZE HE
—EB-—fF —E_TF
+=A +=A
=t+-—-H =+—H
LR IR EEEEL
Core monetization user traffic ZLEERERE 21.6 19.9 8.5%
(in million)® (BZ)n
Second-day retention rate@ REBFRe 50.7% 49.0% 1.7 percentage
points
1.7EE D
Average daily engagement time S SESA=E kST 11.8 14.5 (2.7 minutes)
(min)® (7 #%8)e (2.798)
Notes: BisE
(1) “Core monetization user traffic” refers to monthly active user (‘MAU”) of our (1)  [ROEBAFKE HERMNEERZE Appt) A

BabyTree Parenting App, calculated by counting the number of active users
during the calendar month in question. The number of MAUs of our mobile apps
is tracked and calculated by Umeng (& 2), a third-party data tracking service
provided by Beijing Ruixunlingtong Technology Co., Ltd. (b R sA T mEHY
ER/A7]). The average number of MAUs of BabyTree is approximately 75.9
million as of December 31, 2021.

) “Second-day retention rate” refers to the percentage of active users on our
BabyTree Parenting App that remained active users in the second day. The
number of second-day retention rate is tracked and calculated by QuestMobile,
a third-party data tracking service provided by Beijing Guishi Information
Technology Limited Jt R & {5 BERHE AR A F)).

) “Average daily engagement time” refers to the average time spent on our
BabyTree Parenting App by users.

(4) The year-on-year change of core monetization user traffic represents the
percentage change. The year-on-year change of second-day retention rate
represents the difference between the periods indicated. The year-on-year
change of average daily engagement time represents the difference between
the periods indicated.

ERAF(TAERAE])  miBTEEEER S
MERAFNHERTE - ﬁfFﬁAppmﬂiﬁﬁé%ﬁ
HEHRBULRHEAEBRRAR A RRESN

= HEERMRES) B RATE - HE S = —F
+ZA=+—8 BEEHNTHRERBFEA
7598 & °
[RBBEXERMEEEZEAPMERAFPR
KENMAERAFMNENL - RBBEFEXRHTH
QuestMobile R it 5T + QuestMobile &1L R E =
EERHEAR A RIRENE = HEURRH R

[FHER2EBHERPEENRMERHS

BApp EHIFHEE -

BOERBERERLZBEANLES - KA
BEXRALEHEMREECENEE - F1OE
B2 8E R L #EhiE R AR < HR ZE
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

KEY FINANCIAL DATA

ERBEE
Year ended December 31, Year-on-year
BE+=-A=+—HLEE change (%)
2021 2020 [ L &
—E-—F —ZEFF (%)
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARETT

Brand value is the essence of a M&C brand, which is the reason
why we have continued on the path of promoting our brand value
throughout our 15 years’ journey of venture. According to NielsenlQ,
the market size of M&C market in 2021 has been continuously
expanding. The upsurge of domestic brands, namely China-Chic
(E478), enabled M&C consumers to have a wider selection of
national products and services, while penetrating higher-tier cities.
In addition, due to solid support and encouraging governmental
policies, more than 70% families planned to have another child,
continuously driving the growth of the industry. China’s gross
domestic product (GDP) in 2021 reached RMB114.4 trillion as
compared to 2020, representing an increase of 8.1% year-on-
year. We believe that our unparalleled status in the M&C industry,
accompanied by a favorable market environment, will allow us to
seize every opportunity to implement our business strategy and
further solidify our position as industry leader.

Annual Report 2021 | BabyTree Group

Revenue WA 281,823 212,260 32.8%
— Advertising —EBE 255,578 188,295 35.7%
— E-commerce —Er 23,885 19,895 20.1%
- Others —HAth 2,360 4,070 -42.0%
Gross profit EF 170,720 96,479 77.0%
Gross margin EFR 60.6% 45.5% 15.1%
Loss for the year FEEE (387,114) (470,9006) -17.8%
BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK EXOERRE
Our Brand A

MEEEHNERMEHEE  EHER
MEISFMEXEERERSERAMBEE
BrsEMNRA - REERRQHER - =
T —FRHEMGHTISHETEEX -
= (A 8RR 0 R (B B8 1 — — e
17 BB HEBEMEAERZANRKRER
RARTSIERE o o - EBINBRHANZ
BREET  BB70%HNREAE £ =
o HETBITERE - —T-—FFE
BN AEELREGDPEINARKE114.4818
T BT FTFREIEREA% o B
ME - BMESRITEEERILAHAA
R —EARGFHTISRE G ER M MICE
BEARSEHRBMIEBER - WiE—
HEERMERITHEBGENMAL o



Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Our Brand (Continued)

Furthermore, according to the M&C industry report published by
BigData-Research (th#Z 74 #f) recently, our BabyTree Parenting
App was rated with the highest overall satisfaction, leading in
MAU and obtaining the highest M&C user coverage. Moreover,
BabyTree had the highest brand awareness and usage among
Generation Z, showing its high branding and leveraging power
among the young families in China.

Support from national policies

According to the latest data from the National Bureau of Statistics,
there were approximately 10.62 million newborn babies in China
in 2021, representing a decrease of 11.5% compared to 12.00
million in 2020. Despite that the whole industry encountered
great pressure, we used our users’ demands as the starting
point and dedicated great resources to improving our brand and
content construction, with a focus on traffic expansion and user
age extension, thereby expecting to serve more users within
suitable age range. As evident in China’s 2022 Government Work
Report, which was announced recently, to reduce the burden of
childrearing and encourage child birthing, the PRC government
has announced policies to encourage child birth and support
the implementation of the three-child policy by including nursing
expenses for infants under three years old as special additional
deductions for individual income tax (IIT). Further, the report
promised to develop preferential childcare services and strengthen
the protection of minors. Due to such extensive support and
beneficial measures initiated by the PRC government, we have
unprecedented faith in servicing young families and the M&C
industry in China.

(¥KOERRE @)

H IR e ()

BEAN - RIELE R R TR RITER
WE - HMEER R EAp R ERITEE
BREERS  ARBRPEBITRE.
RFEEXRENBHEMAEN - i
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Rim - BRHEERBEFERED S B
eI R ES

BRBEZEF
BERRFABHSEHER  —F=—F
FEAOB1062BE8EER  R_2F =
TEMI2008BEEBRP11.5% - BEE
MITEEREREN - BRMUAAFPEX
B AREBEERANEARER
NABE  BEEIREREEBPFRE
BE HZAAENTFREEBANES
RPRER - REBESEQAMACHREZ
EFHNIERSG) AREERE
B EEAS  PEBNEE THEIER
BOR  SHRHER=-ZER  B=mUA T2
20 52 RRE B AN A (B A PSR S 18T h30
Br oo ltoh - MERFERREELERS
S b AR F AIRTE o A BT SRER AR
IEEZR R RAFERE - RIPERER
EFRRELRSBITEBZNMARENE
Ly
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Chairman’s Statement

B

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued) FBEERRESE @)

6

Leading M&C community user traffic layout ecosystem
Attributable to the implementation of a series of strategies and
tactics, the MAUs of the Company’s core product BabyTree
Parenting App continued to grow steadily in 2021, reaching 21.6
million, representing a year-on-year growth of 8.5% compared
to 2020, among which the post-pregnancy users accounted for
35.0%, which remained stable as compared to 2020. The second-
day retention rate of our products remained stable, reaching
50.7% in 2021, with user time remaining above 11 minutes.

In addition, we deepened our traffic layout, leading to continuous
increase of the Group’s scale of new media community users,
and have also been receiving great results from our efforts in the
media field, including Douyin, WeChat Channels and Xiaohongshu,
with the cumulative number of new media community users
approaching 1 million, which is still expanding.

Reinforced BabyTree WeChat Community

In 2021, we undertook the construction of BabyTree WeChat
community from zero to one. As of December 31, 2021, there
were approximately 1.14 million community active members
between the age range -1 and 2, with the WeChat community
extensively covering all provinces and 54 main cities in China,
being the largest community in scale as well as the most active
community in the Internet M&C industry, enabling the advent of
Mother Assistant Distribution System (Z 58125 $552 %) and
multi-mode brand community advertising (G A& & % % it BEL
).

Our BabyTree WeChat communities are separated into specific
user groups, which provide different user atmospheres and relate
to various topics such as complementary baby food, second-hand
products, shopping and consumption and father-specific topics.
Among the BabyTree WeChat communities, 3.9%, 34.8% and
61.4% were pre-pregnancy, pregnant and post-pregnancy users,
respectively. As a result of our refined operations, our average
community activity exceeded 25% for the year ended December
31, 2021.

Annual Report 2021 | BabyTree Group
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Leading M&C community user traffic layout ecosystem
(Continued)

Reinforced BabyTree WeChat Community (Continued)
Further, we have achieved traffic diversion to our communities
through our product matrix and synchronize user data through
WeChat mini programs, enabling the seamless connection of
both ends. We have also further enhanced our external traffic
acquisition capabilities through our WeChat mini programs,
which contain empowering knowledge sharing and e-commerce
functioning, amounting to a total of 100,000 new community
members currently.

Refined operation system based on digital operation
management platform

The construction of Mother Assistant Distribution System helps
us greatly reduce our operating costs and enhance monetization
potential through operation of over 7,000 communities by
approximately 1,400 amateur BabyTree mother assistants ((AF &
15E 2 8). Further, our digital operation middle platforms including
acquisition system and information management system coupled
with our incentive mechanism divided by areas and tiers allows us
to achieve refined operations within first-tier and second-tier cities.

Revenue enhancement through e-commerce empowerment
We initiated our efforts in community monetization since May
2021. Through the construction of Mother Assistant Distribution
System, the monthly net sales amounted to over RMB2 million in
June 2021.

Marketing model upgrade

We expanded brand community marketing to six marketing models
to connect the path from exposure to conversion, among which,
the community operation and the first M&C orders of A2 and Mead
Johnson (Z£:BE) have provided the essential support for new
customer acquisition. During the year ended December 31, 2021,
the BabyTree WeChat community provided service to more than
128 advertisers. Our brand advertising execution achieved a total
of approximately RMB13.3 million. We aim to continuously utilize
our community ecosystem to support our first revenue curve and
gradually increase our sales to enhance our revenue.

EXOEREE @)
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Generation Z’s differentiated content and product
operation

Content system enrichment

We hope that by continuously enriching the professional
generated content (PGC) and professional user-generated content
(PUGQ) of the platform, we will bring a content ecosystem of
“specialization and general integration” and the innovative form of
“video & graphics” to the platform, which not only integrates rich
professional user content, but also provides an in-depth value of
users’ unique resources, thereby promoting the development and
prosperity of the platform’s content ecosystem.

PUGC - Creator Program. In the second half of 2021, Key
Opinion Consumers (KOCs) and Key Opinion Leaders (KOLs)
were incubated from our members through the “Creator Contest”,
which included more than 1,500 certified creators and produced
nearly 40,000 pieces of high-quality content with an average click-
through rate (“CTR”) of 6.4%.

PGC - Introduction of professional content. During the year ended
December 31, 2021, we have released 640 pieces of PGC and
2,780 pieces of expert endorsement, and 200 videos including
52 episodes of self-made parent-child early education game
videos for children aged from O to 1, with an average CTR of 28%.
Meanwhile, the platform planed and released 13 content topics,
combined with experts live, which are intended to give users the
most practical advice and the most professional content.

PGC&PUGC - Livestreaming content. We have hosted a total
of 3,895 livestreaming sessions, including cooperating with 50
experts and 193 KOCs and hosting 1,646 and 1,300 livestreaming
sessions, respectively. This has allowed us to gain a total exposure
of over 10 million views during the year ended December 31,
2021. Among which, we launched BabyTree Variety Bar (i
#x%Bar), an intellectual property (IP) program for entertainment,
shopping and education. We also hosted the Hot Mom Singing
Contest (BRI IEKIAZE) at the end of the year.

Annual Report 2021 | BabyTree Group
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Generation Z’s differentiated content and product
operation (Continued)

User age extension

For pre-pregnancy users, we updated the test kit’s ovulation
test strip function and added an artificial intelligence recognition
function. For pregnant users, we comprehensively upgraded the
test kit's obstetric inspection schedule during the second half of
2021, which is easier for users to understand and read. In relation
to the needs of post-pregnancy users, we launched functions
including WeTime Album (/N ¢ #21#), paid early education
courses and parenting weekly, aimed at expanding the age width
of users in terms of, among others, content and tools. Since the
launch of WeTime Album in September 2021, the second-day
retention rate of users using the function, being 57.12%, was
significantly higher than that of other users.

In addition, the second-day retention rate of the new versions
of the pregnant page and the post-pregnancy page increased
by 1.9% and 1.0%, respectively, as compared to the previous
versions. The overall second-day retention rate reached 50.7% for
the year ended December 31, 2021.

User experience optimization

We have optimized search experience through the launch of
“Search SUG Direct Tool”, which includes keyword to content
tool library, search tool optimization, through the two core stages
of pregnancy and childcare for new mothers. It provides new
mothers with one-stop information source, allowing access to
authoritative M&C knowledge at one click. As a result, the number
of daily search users increased by 28.6%, and the number of
weekly search days per user increased by 6.5% in 2021.

(¥KOERRE @)
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Chairman’s Statement

B

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Technology Optimization and Upgrade

Technical upgrades to enhance business continuity
Multi-cloud deployment capability. The technology system has
the capability of cloud-native development and multi-cloud
deployment, as well as the capability of comprehensive system
elasticity and multi-cloud deployment in different locations,
reducing our dependence on cloud service and infrastructure
providers. We have upgraded the processing capability of
operation artificial intelligence (Al), and greatly improved early
warning and disaster tolerance capability, improving the continuity
of our business and system stability.

Technical capability upgrade for business-end commercial
products and consumer-end content distribution

In terms of our business-end commercial products, we have
completed the construction of e-commerce WeChat mini program
and developed core functions such as shop owner classification
and fission. In addition, we have built a large-scale shop owner
recruitment, training, operation and monetization system,
equipped with the ability to automatically create, efficiently operate
and quickly realize monetization. We have also established the
algorithm capability of Smart Bidding for self-serve advertising,
which successfully helps customers control and reduce advertising
cost, with continuous increase in customer retention and overall
revenue.

In terms of our consumer-end content distribution, through the
introduction of content recommendation capabilities provided by
mainstream cloud service providers, we have created a positive
racing-horse mechanism driving iteration and optimization of our
algorithms, which helps us upgrade our content recommendation
capabilities, with a focus on niche long-tail content distribution
mechanism and enlarge the proportion of long-tail content, thereby
promoting the dynamic development of community content
creation and distribution. In addition, we have in place content
review mechanism for the voluminous cache of content generated
on our platform. In an active response to the three-child policy
promulgated by the government, which aims to improve the quality
of community UGC and create M&C communities with a positive
and warm environment, we cooperated with multiple security
vendors, allowing us to automatically filter high-quality content
enabled by Al to reduce the risk and uncertainties brought about
by content creation.

Annual Report 2021 | BabyTree Group
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Key Monetization Channels

Advertising

2021 was a challenging year for the Internet advertising business.
The industry faced fierce competition. The fragmented product
form from non-traditional M&C platforms placed pressure on our
business fundamentals. Fortunately, the advertising business
continued the momentum of the first half of 2021. Revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2021 amounted to RMB255.6 million,
representing an increase of 35.7% over the same period last year.

Revenue from traditional brand advertising and self-serve
advertising accounted for 79.9% and 20.1% of the advertising
business, respectively. Gross profit of advertising business was
RMB149.0 million, representing a yearly rebound of 65.3% after
two years of unfavorable macroeconomic environment. The gross
profit margin for the technology-driven self-serve advertising was
approximately 100.0%.

Solid traditional brand advertising

(i) Discovering domestic clients
Domestic clients continued to perform strongly, contributing
to our revenue of over RMB90 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021, representing an increase of 71.5%
year-on-year, and was equivalent to approximately 46%
of brand advertising revenue. As the implementation of
this advertising strategy effectively expanded the domestic
M&C related customer base in 2021, we firmly grasped the
opportunity brought by the rapid growth of China-Chic (B4),
and the upsurge of domestic brands. Our key cooperation
with Junlebao, a domestic infant formula brand drove us
to jointly hold the “National Formula Day”. During the year
ended December 31, 2021, we conducted large-scale
promotions through a variety of trial activities, livestreaming
sessions and topic trends, and we helped establish a
positive image for Junlebao for the new generation, which
has become a classic case for our advertising business.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

6. Key Monetization Channels (Continued)

Advertising (Continued)
Solid traditional brand advertising (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Continue to expand new customers, especially M&C related
customers

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we continued to
deepen our cooperation with existing customers, and have
established cooperative relationship with 121 new brands,
including 70% domestic brands and 30% international
brands. Among which, 30% of our existing customers were
M&C related customers, contributing to approximately
RMB60 million of our Group’s revenue.

In 2021, we cooperated with advertisers in a variety of
industries to expand in multiple dimensions, such as skin
care and makeup clients including L’Oréal, Cetaphil and
electric appliance and automobile brands including TCL,
GAC Mitsubishi and other leading brands.

Upgrade ways to attract new advertisers

Branding is the core to the M&C industry. In accordance
with the research report from BigData-Research (bt iZ 4 ),
the average revenue per user (ARPU) per capita of mother-
infant families in the PRC has been growing steadily, and is
expected to reach RMB6,250 in 2022. Further, the United
Psychological Agency released an interesting psychological
test in relation to branding, which analyzed its positive
correlation with the shopping psychology and shopping logic
of mothers. BabyTree, being one of the most influencing
M&C platform in China, launched differentiated reinforced
advertising channels through its traffic operation capabilities
during the year ended December 31, 2021. In the first half
of the year, we launched the “WeChat Partnering” business
with A2 and Heng An, among which, community operation
and the first M&C orders of A2 and Mead Johnson provided
the core support for our new customer strategy to carry
out in-depth strategic cooperation. In the second half of the
year, we successfully drove customers to devote resources
through differentiated IP programs, such as Ms. WU Minxia’s
“Weekly Diary of Good Pregnancy”, and we welcomed Ms.
Cherrie YING (FE3K52) to be our Chief Parenting Officer in
2022.
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Chairman’s Statement

B

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

6. Key Monetization Channels (Continued)

Advertising (Continued)

Solid traditional brand advertising (Continued)

(i)  Upgrade ways to attract new advertisers (Continued)
In addition, the launch of a product-efficiency integrated
marketing plan during Tmall Double 11 and JD 618 has
become one of our branding benchmarks in 2021. In
2021, we engaged maternal and child experts, parenting
experts, brand representatives, and amateur users online to
improve branding to customers during Tmall Double 11, and
launched “Double 11 Good Things Appreciation Bureau” as
a special topic on our BabyTree Parenting App. BabyTree
also linked with multiple brands to jointly create “Magic 618 -
Institute of Wonders” (1821618-20 #5532 £f7) during JD 618.

Finally, we launched a strategic cooperation with the
Fosun Group through CBME China 2021, which greatly
strengthened cooperation with advertising agencies,
stabilized existing customer increment and developed new
customer resources.

Key focus in 2022

Looking toward to 2022, our brand advertising business will focus
on several directions, including further exploration of top brands
of M&C industry and brands favored by young families, upgrade
of Omni-Channel business solutions for advertisers to help
them leverage its brand recognition and become our long-term
cooperation partners.
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Chairman’s Statement

B

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Key Monetization Channels (Continued)

Advertising (Continued)

Continuous momentum of self-serve advertising

In recent years, brands are no longer satisfied with mere
advertising. Instead, performance-based self-serve advertising
and innovation in advertising formats have become popular with
advertisers. In particular, self-serve advertising is a tech-driven
business segment with low operating and client retention costs,
which is enjoying a high gross profit of RMB51.3 million (compared
with RMB35.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2020),
and the value per click remained stable as compared to 2020. In
light of this, we continued to capitalize on the strong momentum of
self-serve advertising services. In 2021, we continued to optimize
our operating algorithms and expanded our brand base. For
the year ended December 31, 2021, we had 2,311 merchants
(compared with 712 merchants for the year ended December
31, 2020, representing an increase of 224.6% year-on-year).
Our advertisers for self-serve advertising mainly covers industries
such as body-slimming, home-services, prenatal yoga, M&C care
service center, accounting for more than 80% of our revenue from
self-serve advertising services.

E-commerce

In the second half of 2021, the platform continued to optimize the
merchant settlement process. At the same time, the original shop
owners of the community were integrated with the new model of
private domains. The columns of the mall were revised to connect
with App content.

The revenue of the e-commerce business was RMB23.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing a double-
digit increase of 20.1% compared with the year ended December
31, 2020, and the gross margin was 81.4% for the year ended
December 31, 2021, which was mainly due to the significant
recovery of the performance of the e-commerce marketplace
channel.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued) FBEERRESE @)

Key Monetization Channels (Continued)

E-commerce (Continued)

Construction of community distribution system

In June 2021, we have constructed a community distribution
system, thereby implementing a full-crew owner plan. As of
December 31, 2021, the total amount of participating users was
13,182, with the total sales contributing to nearly 20% of the
transaction volume of our relevant platforms, achieving a closed-
loop construction ecosystem of users within the platform and
promoting the rapid development of e-commerce business.

Classification of merchant recruitment system

We established targeted management through refined
management of platform merchants based on brand recognition or
sales rankings on relevant platforms, which divided them into key
account merchants, potential merchants and standard merchants.
We achieved differentiated operation based on merchant’s
classification. As of December 31, 2021, there were a total of 241
merchants on our platform, including 8 KA merchants. Benefiting
from our excellent category management mechanism, our top
three categories of merchants contributed to nearly 50% of the
transaction scale on relevant platforms.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued) FBEERRESE @)

Key Monetization Channels (Continued)

E-commerce (Continued)

Key focus in 2022

In 2022, we will continue to be committed to the research,
development and promotion of C2M products and the potential
research of the Mika brand. In addition to the self-developed
products, we will also continue to jointly launch co-branded
products with third parties and construct the BabyTree C2M
product system and brand matrix based on various brands. We
expect to launch our first batch of self-developed cleaning and
care products in the second quarter of 2022, which will be mainly
for pregnant women and children, as well as related peripheral
products to provide consumers with one-stop cleaning and care
solutions. In addition, we will continue to build deeper into mother
and baby nutrition, mother and baby consumer goods and other
related fields in the future.

Meanwhile, we will continue to optimize the supply chain, reduce
costs and increase efficiency, as well as explore a new model
for platform e-commerce, and improve user’s satisfaction and
conversion rate.

In terms of marketing methods, we will create closed-loop
marketing for our users through promotion, publicity and sales
on BabyTree Breeding Stop (B E#Z2 5 ). Meanwhile, we will
develop short videos, live broadcasts and other celebrity branding
methods on third-party channels, such as Douyin and Kuaishou,
and cooperate with online platforms such as Tmall, JD.com, and
Hema Xiansheng to open up channels for online sales in relation to
non-mother and baby consumer goods. In addition, we also hope
to gradually cooperate with offline supermarkets in order to open
up offline channels for distribution, thereby realizing a three-step
marketing plan.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued) FBEERRESE @)

Key Monetization Channels (Continued)

Efforts made for Partnering Business

We are also continuously improving our operational capabilities,
such as developing online and offline third-party operation
business. The third-party operation business involves our precise
construction of a complete link of third-party operation services in
relation to the branding, covering the entire life cycle of domestic
and foreign brands. We provide six key servicing strategy
suggestions for domestic and foreign brands, including brand
exposure, store operation, integrated marketing, media operation,
customer service and warehousing and logistics.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we have been
exploring the third-party operation business, and we have reached
a cooperation consensus with a number of domestic and foreign
brands, including the famous Australian brand Dr. Roebucks and
the new domestic toothpaste brand Gma-oral (H >K&). In addition,
we have also reached a cooperation consensus with other well-
known online and offline brands, including Tmall and Pinduoduo.
Thus, achieving the integration and connection of internal and
external resources of BabyTree, and realizing the breakthrough
development of various business models in the end, thereby
improving the monetization opportunities through our platform as a
whole.

In 2022, we will continue to intensify our efforts to provide
comprehensive solutions to various brands, ranging from early
preparation, brand development and continuous marketing, as
well as to build a connection for the high-quality overseas brands
to enter into the Chinese market. We provide customers with
business strategies in the early stage, assist them in integrated
marketing after they enter into the market, grasp the optimal time
for planning and creative marketing, and carry out marketing
support and fission marketing in the long-term cooperation stage,
in order to maximize online sales while assisting brand expansion
through our service capabilities for offline maternal and infant
distribution channels.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

6. Key Monetization Channels (Continued)

020 Business - The Continuous Efforts in SaaS platform

()

(i)

Marketing SaaS capabilities

The establishment of 020 Marketing SaaS platform is still in
progress. Through online and offline connection empower
business-end customers such as post-pregnancy care
and other offline stores, which allows them to explore the
potential of new monetization model. The core functions
include merchant launch, sale packages, group purchase
distribution, store evaluation, online customer acquisition,
offline conversion and private domain traffic operation. It
helps make full use of the private domain traffic within the
BabyTree platform and WeChat community.

Talent strategy upgrade and women employees rights
protection

As of December 31, 2021, we had 502 full-time employees,
most of whom were in China, mainly in Beijing and Shanghai,
with the rest in Wuhan, Guangzhou and Hangzhou.

In 2021, we changed the organization to create a horizontal
and vertical front-end, middle-end and back-end matrix
organizational structure that better promotes business
collaboration, encouraging departmental collaboration and
mutual support. In line with the 1 + 2 + 7 short, medium
and long-term strategic goal of “deeply tapping the potential
of the first business curve B2B, covering the traffic end
and the new growth point of advertising business, and
creating the second growth curve C2M and O20 business
model”, we have carried out a comprehensive organizational
upgrade and personnel replacement, in preparation for the
introduction of more talents suitable for the new business
model in the second half of the year. In order to better attract
external high-caliber talents to join, open up the channel
for internal training and promotion, and let employees
closely tie to the Company’s performance and market
value, we have optimized the design of the post and rank
system and supplemented it with corresponding diversified
incentive programs, including equity incentives, to increase
employees’ sense of belonging and ownership, and to create
a high-performance corporate culture.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued) FBEERRESE @)

6. Key Monetization Channels (Continued) 6. TESBREE)

020 Business - The Continuous Efforts in SaaS platform

(Continued)

(i) Talent strategy upgrade and women employees rights
protection (Continued)
In addition, we make full use of the ecological resources of
the shareholders, with the ecological linkage of business to
obtain growth opportunities. In the introduction of high-end
people, through the introduction of senior consultants and
other forms, BabyTree has quickly formed a team of experts,
laying the talent advantage in the industry. We promote
the mechanism of multi-dimensional organizational fission,
design an attractive profit-sharing model, promote the
multiple fission of business team, mother and user, and help
the business achieve the goal of exponential growth.

Outlook of 2022

Through servicing young families in the PRC for over 15 years,
BabyTree confidently and proudly promotes the message of
love and care to all users. Benefiting from the support of China’s
governmental policies, we believe we can implement the following
enhancements and plans:

Developing content ecosystem as a cornerstone

We will establish a comprehensive KOC/KOL system, thereby
forming a complete value chain from content creation to
monetization. Through cooperating with leading companies such as
Toutiao, Kuaishou and Xiaohongshu, we will vigorously introduce
pan-M&C video content to enhance content consumption and
user stickiness. In addition, we will further cooperate with entities
within the Fosun ecosystem in terms of expert Q&A, assisted
reproduction, and intelligent hardware.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Outlook of 2022 (Continued)

Optimization and Revitalization of the C2M ecosystem

We have attached great importance to remedying mistakes we
have made in the past and gain experience for the future. Defined
by the criteria of high gross profit, high growth, high repurchase,
high-tech, high attractiveness, high security, we aim to strengthen
our selection capabilities through global selection. In addition,
leveraging advantages brought about by the ecosystem of Fosun,
our strategic shareholders, we comprehensively link to M&C family
consumption life. We expect to further expand to more diverse
categories such as ear temperature guns, feeding nipples, and
bottles, providing a one-stop solution for baby consumption
quality, baby lifestyle, mother and baby consumer goods.

Further, we intend to build a C2M data platform with a set of
functions such as user insight, product design, marketing and
sales, concept testing, supply chain opening system based on
data sourced web-wide to build a top C2M brand in the M&C
industry. Through the dynamic combination of production, research
and e-commerce, we aim to create an all-around response to
users’ demand encompassing learning, accompanying, shopping,
playing, and repurchase, establishing a perfect closed-loop for
e-commerce based on content community.
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Chairman’s Statement

B

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued) FBEERRESE @)

Outlook of 2022 (Continued)

Cross-territory leveraging

Possibility of Metaverse. Subject to country policies and complying
with the relevant laws and regulations, we will explore the entry
point for the M&C industry under the emerging technology
system such as metaverse and strive to find the leverage for user
expansion and business optimization. We plan to introduce the
first metaverse IP through our Mika brand which will promote its
young and warm brand positioning, while potentially moving into
the metaverse territory in the long-run.

Enterprise WeChat SCRM SaaS platform construction. We will
complete the construction of Enterprise WeChat SCRM SaaS
platform to empower business-end customers to operate their
private domain traffic, through core functions such as WeChat
group and customer management, user acquisition, private traffic
acquisition and conversion. We will help create user profiles and
connect with third-party marketing platforms, such as Meitun
Mama, 020 Marketing SaaS, Taoke and Weimob, continuously
optimizing user profiles according to marketing conversion data,
and in turn improve our acquisition capabilities. Through intelligent
product selection, unified training, standard jargon library and
unified SOP, we help achieve standardized large-scale operation
model and complete close loop from private domain construction,
customer operation to commercial conversion.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

= = =A aN
B IEJE nq-nﬂﬂ &IJ *ﬁ'
Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=+—HLEE
2021 2020
—E—F —E-TE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Revenue WA 281,823 212,260
Cost of revenue BER A (111,103) (115,781)
Gross Profit EF 170,720 96,479
Other revenue Hilg A 40,910 35,137
Other net gain/(loss) Hibss, (E518) %5 4,298 (36,302)
Selling and marketing expenses HE R EHAY (285,225) (285,568)
General and administrative expenses —MRITERAX (218,463) (258,336)
Research and development expenses A (48,824) (51,643)
Loss from operations REEE (336,584) (500,233)
Net finance income BRI F R 2,842 5,049
Fair value change on financial instruments AR EBETEBEH T AEH (60,216) 26,327
measured at fair value through profit or loss ~ EB#HFAE R T EM AR EBEE S

Share of losses of associates FE(EE 2 N ESE (3,439) (3,051)
Loss before taxation MR AIE R (397,397) (471,908)
Income tax credit FriSTHE R 10,283 1,002
Loss for the year FEEER (387,114) (470,906)

Attributable to: EER
Equity shareholders of the Company RATERRR (387,099) (470,262)
Non-controlling interests eSS (15) (644)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmR DM

REVENUE

Our total revenue increased by 32.8% to RMB281.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2021, compared to RMB212.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to the increase in revenue of
our advertising and e-commerce businesses. The following table sets

forth our revenue by segment for the years indicated:

A

HREE T -_TF+-_A=Z+—HLEFEHN
BPAANRE2123BET - BZRIREBEZZT
Z—F+Z A=+ —BLEFENBU AL
32.8%EARKE281.8EEL * TE2HREMW
BEEREEHEFWAIGI o FREIRAT
FEERYEEIDHIMA

Year ended December 31,
BE+T-A=+t—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF

% of total % of total
Amount revenues Amount revenues
LEE T ON: 1 (=Rt ONGD
| Bkt ®F Btk

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T AREFT
Advertising EE 255,578 90.7% 188,295 88.7%
E-commerce ESNE] 23,885 8.5% 19,895 9.4%
Others Efb 2,360 0.8% 4,070 1.9%
Total et 281,823 100.0% 212,260 100.0%
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REVENUE (continued)

Advertising

Revenue from advertising business increased by 35.7% to RMB255.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to RMB188.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily because (i) we
effectively expanded our M&C related customers, and as the acceptance
of local brands in China has increased, our customers’ advertising
budgets have increased, and we have continued to deepen cooperation
with existing customers; and (i) the development of self-serve advertising
business remained strong.

E-commerce

Revenue from e-commerce business increased by 20.1% to RMB23.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to RMB19.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to (i) the
building of our e-commerce team is gradually near-completion, and the
e-commerce business has also fully developed the online sales business
while maintaining the original self-operated model; and (i) the expansion
of the e-commerce platform business has led to an increase in revenue
during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Others

Revenue from others decreased by 42.0% to RMB2.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2021, compared to RMB4.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to the number of births
in China being still in decline, while the rate of second births among
newborns has risen, further reducing the demand for knowledge related
to mother and child care.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

COST OF REVENUE

Our cost of revenue decreased by 4.0% to RMB111.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2021, compared to RMB115.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to the decrease in
revenue of the self-operated segment of the e-commerce business,
while the corresponding cost decreased. The following table sets forth
our cost of revenue by segment for the periods indicated:

LR

BHAMEXERAERBE_Z _TF+ A
=t HIEFENARE158BSITRI4.0%
FHE_ZT-_—F+A=T—RHILEFENA
REANMABEL DEEHNERHEBE LR
BRUCATEE - MR TR « TREIINATR
HAfE R ) BR 8 0 H) B ZEA

Year ended December 31,
BE+T-A=+t—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF

% of % of
total cost total cost
Amount of revenue Amount of revenue
fhiaez IhEE%
oI O N: = R HAMESL

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT
Advertising BE 106,532 95.9% 98,126 84.8%
E-commerce ESE] 4,448 4.0% 16,646 14.4%
Others Eib 123 0.1% 1,009 0.8%
Total FE 111,103 100.0% 115,781 100.0%
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GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit increased by 77.0% to
RMB170.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared
to RMB96.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. Our gross
profit margin increased from 45.5% for the year ended December 31,
2020 to 60.6% for the year ended December 31, 2021. The following
table sets forth our gross profit and gross profit margin by segment for
the years indicated:

ENREFN=R

BRLEMRE BN EFEREE T =%
FTA=T—ALFENAREBBLSBEET
BH77.0% 28 E T —F+-A=+—H
IHFEHAREI707EE T - RFIHEFIEX

HEE—

455% FH=EH
1FFE#60.6% °

22T

FoRFT-AST-ALEESH
—#+=A=+—8

TERBIIRFREE D
ESMERRERNE :

Year ended December 31,

BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2021 2020

—EC-—F —ZEFF
Gross profit Gross profit
Gross profit margin Gross profit margin
ER ER=E EH EFE
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

ARBT T ARETTT
Advertising BE 149,046 58.3% 90,169 47.9%
E-commerce B 19,437 81.4% 3,249 16.3%
Others HAith 2,237 94.8% 3,061 75.2%
Total 45 170,720 60.6% 96,479 45.5%
OTHER REVENUE Hibr A

QOur other revenue increased by 16.4% to RMB40.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2021, compared to RMB35.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to the increase in investment
income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

OTHER NET GAIN/(LOSS)

Our other net gain/(loss) primarily consists net foreign exchange gains.
We recorded other net loss of RMB36.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020, while we recorded other net gain of RMB4.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily due to fluctuations in
foreign exchange rates.
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EEENWEDN

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

Our selling and marketing expenses decreased by 0.1% to RMB285.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to RMB285.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2020, which remained generally
stable. Selling and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenue
decreased to 101.2% for the year ended December 31, 2021 from
134.5% for the year ended December 31, 2020.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Our general and administrative expenses decreased by 15.4% to
RMB218.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to
RMB258.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due
to the improvement of the Group’s operational efficiency which reduced
related costs. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of
revenue decreased to 77.5% for the year ended December 31, 2021
from 121.7% for the year ended December 31, 2020.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Qur research and development expenses decreased by 5.5% to
RMB48.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to
RMB51.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due
to the improvement in the work efficiency of the Group’s R&D personnel.
Research and development expenses as a percentage of revenue
decreased to 17.3% for the year ended December 31, 2021 from 24.3%
for the year ended December 31, 2020.

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded loss from operations of
RMB336.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing
a decrease of 32.7% from the loss from operations of RMB500.2 million
we incurred for the year ended December 31, 2020.

HEREHMAX

BMMEEREHAIHRBE-S_EF
+TZA=+—HLEFEMNARIEK285.6E 8T
BWAL0N%EBE—_E-_—F+-_A=+—HI
FEMARBI852HE L - EXARFBET -
PAERABLLAIIE - HEREIEATHER
CECRF+ A=+ —HIEFEMNI345%

EHE-_Z-—F+-_A=+—HIEFEN
101.2% °

—RRATHBEX

BN —RETBEAIHEBRHE-_T-_FF
+= )EJ*+—EIJJ:¢VEI'])\E¢§258.3§F%TE
BRIE154%EHE T —F+-_A=+—8H
IEFEMARE218588 L NEERRASE
B @M REA  HERARREE - g
Holins  —RMETEASHBEZE-S=TF
+ - A=+—BItFEMI21.7%REEZEHZE —
—F+ZA=+—HILFENTT5% °
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TERERIRTFT - AR AMLAmE -
YHEEZE-SFTA=1T—HILFED
A 3%EEEHE T -_—F+-_A=+—H
LIEFEM17.3% °

REFR

BRLEMRA  HMIREBE=ZTE=—F+=A
T —HILEFEHELEBEARKI36.68
B BREE-Z=ZEF+=-A=1+—HL
FEEENKEBEARKES0028 &R
32.7% °
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NET FINANCE INCOME

Our finance income primarily comprises interest income from deposits.
Our net finance income decreased to RMB2.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021, compared to RMB5.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020. Such decrease was primarily due to the decrease
in interest income from bank deposits.

FAIR VALUE CHANGES ON FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

We recorded a fair value gain on financial instruments measured at
fair value through profit or loss of RMB26.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020, while we recorded a fair value loss on financial
instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss of RMB60.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

SHARE OF LOSSES OF ASSOCIATES

Our share of losses of associates increased to RMB3.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2021, compared to RMB3.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2020.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

We recorded income tax credit of RMB10.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021, and recorded income tax credit of RMB1.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily because we estimate
there will be sufficient taxable income in the foreseeable future to utilize
the carry-forward tax losses and deductible temporary differences.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded loss attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB387.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021, representing a decrease of 17.7% from the loss
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of RMB470.3 million
we incurred for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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EEENWEDN

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Our total assets decreased from RMB2,442.0 million as of December
31, 2020 to RMB2,052.3 million as of December 31, 2021. Our total
liabilities increased from RMB127.3 million as of December 31, 2020 to
RMB163.0 million as of December 31, 2021. Liabilities-to-assets ratio
changed from 5.2% as of December 31, 2020 to 7.9% as of December
31, 2021.

The current ratio (being the ratio of total current assets to the total
current liabilities) was 11.6 as of December 31, 2021, compared to 16.1
as of December 31, 2020.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING

Our cash and other liquid financial resources (comprising (i) cash and
cash equivalents including cash on hand and bank deposits and (ii)
short-term bonds portfolios and wealth management products we
bought), decreased from RMB1,730.1 million as of December 31, 2020
to RMB1,416.6 million as of December 31, 2021, primarily due to the
decrease in working capital.

We adopt a prudent treasury management policy to ensure that our
Group maintains a healthy financial position. As of December 31, 2021
we did not have any outstanding borrowings. Accordingly, no gearing
ratio is presented.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Our capital expenditures, consisting of payments for the purchase
of property, plant and equipment, were incurred mainly for servers,
computers and office equipment. Our capital expenditures were RMB1.5
million as of December 31, 2021, compared to RMB5.1 million as of
December 31, 2020.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

We had cash at banks denominated in foreign currencies, which
exposed us to foreign exchange risk. We do not use any derivative
contracts to hedge against its exposure to foreign exchange risk. We
manage currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates and will take prudent measures to minimize the currency
translation risk.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2021, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we did not conduct any
material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures.

As at the date of this annual report, we did not have any future plans for
material investments.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not have any significant investments held as of December
31, 2021.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of December 31, 2021, RMB2.1 million was pledged to secure
investments.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The Group does not have any material subsequent event after December
31, 2021 and up to the date of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended December 31, 2021 (for the year ended December 31,
2020: Nil).
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held on Friday, June 10, 2022. A notice convening
the AGM will be published and dispatched to the shareholders of the
Company in the manner required by the Listing Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining the members’ eligibility to attend and
vote at the AGM, the Company’s register of members will be closed
from Monday, June 6, 2022 to Friday, June 10, 2022, both dates
inclusive, during which period no transfer of share will be registered. In
order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, unregistered holders
of shares of the Company shall ensure that all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, June 2, 2022.

COMPANY INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on February 9,
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability, and the shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on November 27, 2018.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2021, we had 502 full-time employees, substantially
all of whom were based in China, primarily in Beijing and Shanghai,
with the rest based in Wuhan, Guangzhou, Hangzhou, Xiamen and
Ningbo. Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and
motivate qualified personnel. The remuneration package for our
employees generally includes salary and bonuses. We determine
employee remuneration based on factors such as qualifications and
years of experience. Employees also receive welfare benefits, including
medical care, retirement benefits, occupational injury insurance and
other miscellaneous items. We make contributions to mandatory social
security funds for our employees to provide for retirement, medical,
work-related injury, maternity and unemployment benefits.

BRRBFXRE

BREBFRGEHIN T -__FRATH(EH
R8T - ARBRFBAFASHNBEHIZ MR
AP E M0 FUER B IR T AR BICR

TERERDBFELEFE

ARETRREERRBEFRAETRNE LRE
B ARRBR -_ZE-_—_FXA~B(EH
—)ET_FRATHEHR)(BEER
WA )EEHEROBFERFE - R TE
TRABRMDBEER - AFABRLEREE
FRGIRE EIRE - ARBIRMOAIRERLRE
BEAGHERRETER - —FA-A(E
BAPD) T PUE = T2 RIS ET B B S HER A
BREXREARNAEERNBEFELDERE
FAREBESHZFLERAT (MU AT EEFERA
EHEASIIA M 7IE1712-171655 48 ) LA
&R °

RAEHR

RARRARZZB-N\F_ANBRERSHSEM
RIRERRAEREELRA  HRORZF
—NEFE+ AT BEBRMERLT -

=]

BE-Z-—F+-A=+—8H  ®MAL02
Z2BES  HR A BHESE - E24E1E
AR LR ESERE - BN - N BEFR
B o BAPIHARINBURN R AIWRE] - BERH
BAERABNRES - BENFHEFE—RE
EITERRMY - RABRBEERLRERFHER
ZETREREFH - RETAIESEN 8218
B RKRERN - THRE REMME - BB
BERMHBHMELFRES - URHEK B
B I £BRKRERR -

FERE 2021 | AHBEER 31



32

Directors and Senior Management
EERSREEE

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set
out as follows:

OUR DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. GAO Min (%), aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive
Director with effect from January 20, 2021 and the vice chairman of
the Board with effect from March 30, 2021, and has been appointed
as the co-chairman of the Board with effect from June 18, 2021. With
effect from July 28, 2021, Mr. Gao has been re-designated from a non-
executive Director to an executive Director and has also been appointed
as a member of the strategic committee of the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, from July 1995 to April 2000, Mr. Gao joined
Shanghai Biouxi Gas Co., Ltd. (F/&8EFARIEHFRR A a)) and served
as human resources director. From November 2001 to June 2002, he
served as human resources director and management consultant of
Pufeng International Management Consultancy Co., Ltd. (&2 R & 12
ZEAAPR A T). From July 2002 to February 2007, he served as assistant
to chairman of the board of directors and the director of administrative
human resources of Shanghai Tongce Real Estate Consultancy Co., Ltd.
(EBREREEZRAR AR (currently known as Tongce Real Estate
Consultancy Co., Ltd. (RIZEEEZARMD AR 2 7). From March 2007
to January 2015, he served as the vice president and general manager
of human resources center of Shanghai Forte Land Company Limited
(B (= E)& D AR A 7)) and as the chairman of the board of directors
of its several subsidiaries. From February 2015 to February 2016, Mr.
Gao joined Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. (F/&18
ESRIE(EE)AR2AF) and served as assistant to the president and
co-general manager of human resources department. From June 2015
to May 2017, Mr. Gao served as a non-executive director of Shanghai
Ganglian E-commerce Holdings Co., Ltd. (i8S F B kn 8%
/2 7]) (@ company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code:
300226). From March 2016 to September 2018, he served as vice
president and general manager of human resources center of Shanghai
Yuyuan Tourist Mart (Group) Co., Ltd. (=8 % 5 jk 2 i (& E) % 7D
BMRA7]) (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock
code: 600655), and from December 2018 to December 2019 and since
November 2020, he has served as its non-executive director.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Since February 2016, he has served as a non-executive director
of Zhaojin Mining Industry Company Limited (B &2 M AR A
A]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1818).
Since October 2018, Mr. Gao has worked at Shanghai Fosun High
Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. and has served various positions including
senior assistant to the president, co-chief human resource officer,
vice president and global partner. He is also currently a non-executive
director of Tebon Securities Co., Ltd. (EFBEEKRMER A7) and a
non-executive director of Baihe Jiayuan Network Group Co., Ltd. (B&
FRBRERRNBR QR

Mr. Gao obtained his bachelor’s degree in arts from Shanghai Normal
University (_F/SR1&KE) in July 1995, and his master’'s degree in
business administration from China Europe International Business
School in April 2002.

Mr. XU Chong (&%), aged 46, was appointed as an executive
Director on June 11, 2018. He was also appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee on November 27, 2018 and a member of the
Strategic Committee on January 20, 2021. He joined the Group as the
chief financial officer in October 2014. Mr. Xu currently serves as director
in a number of companies in which our Company has equity interests,
including certain subsidiaries of our Company. Mr. Xu is primarily
responsible for strategic development, financial operations management
and capital operations.

Mr. Xu has over 18 years of experience in corporate finance and
financial management. He served as a manager at BOC International
Holdings Limited from July 2001 to August 2003, the chief financial
officer at SinoMedia Holding Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 0623) from June 2004 to February 2006 and a
vice president of Asia region at Cazenove Capital Management Limited
from March 2006 to July 2007, where he was primarily responsible for
corporate finance. He re-joined SinoMedia Holding Limited in July 2007
and served as the chief financial officer until May 2010. Mr. Xu served
as the chief financial officer and vice president at Huakang Insurance
Brokerage Company Limited ((£EERERIE AR A 7)) from March
2011 to July 2011. He worked as a financial advisor and then the chief
financial officer at Shanghai Zhaogangwang Information Technology
Corporation Limited (/848 & sl EHZ D AR A 7)) from June 2012
to June 2014. Since August 26, 2020, Mr. Xu has been an independent
non-executive director of Joy Spreader Interactive Technology. Ltd (£
=H#HRAT) (@ company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since September 23, 2020, stock code: 6988).

Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor’s degree in laws from Nanjing University
in July 1998 and a master’s degree in laws from Renmin University of
China in July 2001.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Huainan (£ 1£#), aged 56, was appointed as a Director on
February 9, 2018 and was re-designated as an executive Director and
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) on June 11, 2018. He was also
appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee on November 27, 2018. He was the
Chief Executive Officer of our Company from January 2007 to January
2021. He was re-designated from an executive Director to a non-
executive Director and was appointed as the chairman of the Strategic
Committee on January 20, 2021. Mr. Wang currently serves as director
in a number of companies in which the Company has equity interests,
including certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wang founded
the Group in January 2007. Mr. Wang is primarily responsible for the
Company’s overall strategy formulation.

Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Wang had many years of experience in
the fields of marketing and administrative management. From 1996 to
2001, he served as a brand manager at The Procter & Gamble Company
(a company listed on New York Stock Exchange, ticker symbol: PG),
where he was primarily responsible for brand building, promotion and
marketing. From 2001 to 2005, he served as a senior marketing director
at Yahoo! Inc. (a company formerly listed on NASDAQ, ticker symbol:
YHOO) and as the chief executive officer at 1pai.com.cn (—3849), a joint
venture established by Yahoo! Inc. and SINA Corp. From 2005 to 2006,
he served as the chief marketing officer, Asia at Google LLC.

Mr. Wang graduated from Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree
in English in July 1988. He also obtained a master’s degree in sociology
from Columbia University in October 1989 and a master’s degree in
business administration from Georgetown University in July 1996.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. QIAN Shunjiang (£JE5I), aged 57, was appointed as a
non-executive Director and a member of the Strategic Committee on
January 20, 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, from July 1986 to September 1989, Mr. Qian
was a teacher at Shanghai University of Finance and Economics. From
September 1989 to April 1996, he served as the financial manager of
Shanghai Johnson Co., Ltd. (L& #EBR A E]). From May 1996 to
February 1998, he served as the financial manager of Orient Overseas
Container Line (China) Co., Ltd. (R7/84NEEMIE (FH) BIRAF).
From March 1998 to April 2004, he served as the financial director
of Johnson & Johnson (China) Investment Co., Ltd. (384 (FFE) &
BAHRAR]). From May 2004 to August 2006, he served as deputy
chief accountant and head of finance department of China Worldbest
Group Co., Ltd. (FEIZEREE B R A R]). From September 2006 to
December 2008, he served as vice president and chief financial officer
BRAETINA
fR A a]). From February 2009 to May 2010, he served as vice president

of Lianlian Yintong Electronic Payment Co., Ltd. (3

and chief financial officer of Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group)
Co., Ltd. (E/B1E 254t (£ IRHER A A]) (a2 company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600196, and the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 2196). From June 2010 to April 2012, Mr. Qian
served as consultant of New Journey International Hospital Management
Company Limited (#7212 BIFR Z b B2 HFR 2 7)). From May 2012 to
May 2013, Mr. Qian served as deputy chief financial officer of Shanghai
Fosun High Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. (-8 25k (£E) B
BR /A F]). From June 2013 to March 2020, he served as vice president
and chief accountant of Nanjing Nangang Iron & Steel United Co., Ltd.
(P R MM 2865 B IR A 7). He has also been a director of Nanjing
Iron & Steel Co., Ltd. (F REMELALD BR A 7)) (@ company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600282) since December 2013.
Since April 2020, he joined Fosun International Limited (16 2 B AR A
7)) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0656) as vice
president and co-chief financial officer.

Mr. Qian obtained his bachelor’s degree in accounting from Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics in July 1986.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)
Mr. CHEN Bing (F)k), aged 47, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director with effect from July 28, 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, from September 1997 to August 2005, Mr.
Chen served various positions at KPMG. From April 2006 to August
2008, he served as a senior audit manager of MAZARS Shanghai
Certified Public Accountants LLP (8352 &=/ (LRA E)),
and from August 2008 to July 2017, as its partner. From July 2017, he
had served various positions including the joint general manager of the
audit department, assistant to the president and senior assistant to the
president of Fosun International Limited (18 £ BFE GBR A &) (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0656), and he currently
serves as the general manager of the audit department, Co-Chief Risk
Officer and vice president.

Mr. Chen obtained his bachelor’s degree in international trade from
Fudan University (8 B K£) in July 1997. He has been a non-practicing
member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
a member of Shanghai Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
February 2018.

Annual Report 2021 | BabyTree Group

BMNES @)

FHITES ()
BOKFE - 475%  CRZERIENITEE B
ZE - FtAZ+NBRER -

RIAREER - B—ANEFNALAZ=ZFT
hENA RELCREFHSAMEHE

EZEEN - B NFOAZE T N\F
NA - HEELEEEHZES u*gm$ﬁﬁﬁ'(akm
BINWEAETERE MBS /\FENAZE

Z—tFtA RETEABA - BT t
FLA  EREEBEARAR(—HERB AT

EZRATE - BRHRR 0656)9?&35%1!%
5 BIERTEHEALE  BEPERS
BEEIE - HIR AR LT - HWJ*EJ*H
BB K& EIRRE -

RAEER —NNAEFLARBGEERSERE
FRLTEM - HA-E-N\F_AERATEE
SEE S IFE G B M LT M &5

meEes -



Directors and Senior Management
EERSREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)
Mr. CHEN Weijun (BR#18), aged 42, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director and a member of the strategic committee of the
Company with effect from June 18, 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, from September 2003 to February 2005,
Mr. Chen served as the director of Kingsoft antivirus business division
(® 1L 5 5% 26) and Seasun game studio business division (FaLL
BB T {E=EEE) of Kingsoft Corporation Limited (& 1L &5 R
/A A]) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3888).
From February 2005 to September 2009, he served as the senior
director of Alibaba Group Holding Limited (Fif 2 @R EEER AR A
7)) (a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, ticker symbol:
BABA, and the Stock Exchange, stock code: 9988), and as the chief
technology officer of Alisoft (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. PR (L)8) B
f2 /A &]), the then subsidiary of Alibaba Group Holding Limited. From
May 2012 to November 2018, Mr. Chen served as a member of the
executive committee of Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China,
Ltd. (FEIFZ R (£E) B BB AF]) (@ company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2318, the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock code: 601318, and the OTC Markets, ticker symbol: PNGAY)
and worked at its subsidiaries including as the chief technology officer
of OneConnect Financial Technology Co., Ltd. (SE@SRRHEER
72a]) (@ company listed on New York Stock Exchange, ticker symbol:
OCFT), as the chief technology officer and the chief information officer
of Shenzhen Wanlitong Internet Information Technology Co. Ltd. (%
I8 B EPKREERMAR AT and as the chief executive officer of
Shanghai Youwan Network Technology Co., Ltd. (B8R ItEERIE A
B2 =]). From November 2018 to January 2021, he served as the chief
information officer, the chief innovation officer and the dean of medical
healthcare and hardware research institute of the Shanghai branch of
Ping An Health Internet Co., Ltd. (FZ2FEEEERMNER AT LED
72 \]). Since January 2021, he has served as the vice president of Fosun
International Limited (18 £ BIFR B R A 7)) (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 0656) and the president of the industrial internet
business group (3£ B B 495 3£ 8) of the company.

Mr. Chen obtained his bachelor’s degree in engineering from Yancheng
Institute of Technology (24 T £f5) in June 2002.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. WU Ying (R £), aged 46, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on January 20, 2020 and a member of the Strategic Committee
on January 20, 2021. He is responsible for participating in formulating
the Company’s corporate and business strategies.

Mr. Wu joined TAL Education Group (“TAL”) (a company listed on the
New York Stock Exchange, ticker symbol: TAL) in 2017, and served
various positions in TAL. He served as the president of Content and
Internet Industry Department in TAL until June 30, 2020. From 2008
to 2017, he served as the founder and the chairman of the board at
First Leap: Future Leaders Institution, a company engaged in English
education services and was later acquired by TAL in 2015. From 2005
to 2008, he served as the vice president at Lenovo Group (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00992).

Mr. Wu obtained his bachelor’s degree in computer science from
Peking University in 1997, and his master’s degree in science from
Indiana University Bloomington in 1998. Mr. Wu was enrolled in Harvard
Business School Executive Education Program in 2008.

Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN, aged 52, was appointed as
a non-executive Director on June 11, 2018, primarily responsible for
participating in formulating the Company’s corporate and business
strategies.

Mr. Reitermann joined The Ogilvy Group in Taipei in January 1997 and
has been the chief executive officer (China) since August 2014 and the
chief executive, Asia and greater China since May 2016. He has also
been a global client leader of WPP plc (a company listed on the London
Stock Exchange, ticker symbol: WPP, and on NASDAQ, ticker symbol:
WPP) since 2017, where he is primarily responsible for management of
global client relationships.

Mr. Reitermann received his bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration from Ludwigshafen University of Applied Sciences in
January 27, 1997 in Germany.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Guanglei (BRE£), aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee on
November 27, 2018. He was appointed as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of Nomination Committee on
June 30, 2020, and a member of the Strategic Committee on January
20, 2021. He is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to the Board.

From 1992 to 2001, Mr. Chen worked at Pingdingshan sub-branch
and Henan branch of China Construction Bank, where he was primarily
responsible for accounting and auditing. From January 2005 to August
2005, Mr. Chen worked at the finance department of Financial Street
Holdings Co., Ltd. (£ @& ERAR KD B R F]) (@ company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000402) and the head of
finance department at Financial Street Huizhou Properties Co., Ltd.
(EREEMEEBMRAT). From April 2008 to May 2011, Mr. Chen
worked as the financial controller at Zhongjin Gold Corporation Limited
(F&E2MRMH AR AT (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 600489). Mr. Chen worked as the deputy chief
accountant from May 2011 to July 2012 and then as the chief economist
from July 2012 to November 2017 at Beijing Financial Street Investment
Group Co., Ltd. (bt & @& E (£E) AR AF]). He also served
as assistant to the chairman and deputy general manager at Tianrui
Group Co., Ltd. (KIfEE D AR A7) and chairman of the board
of Tianrui Group Finance Co., Ltd. (KInSE BB %A R & (T A 7)) from
November 2017 to March 2018. Mr. Chen was a non-executive director
at Hengtai Securities Co., Ltd ([BEZ=#EH 7D B R A7) (2 company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1476) from September 2012
to November 2017. From March 2019 to November 2019, Mr. Chen
was an independent non-executive director of Xiamen Overseas Chinese
Electronic Co., Ltd. (EFIZEBEFIRMNBR A E]) (@ company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600870). From April 2018 to
July 2019, Mr. Chen was the president of Hongjing Enterprise Consulting
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (ALR{P%# (dbR) BR A F)).
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chen has been an external director of Beijing Enterprises Group
Company Limited (1t 5 iZA% & E B R A 7)) delegated by Stated-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council
of Beijing since December 2018, an independent non-executive director
of Hainan Jingliang Holdings Co. Ltd. (G5 ZEIZERRMHER AT (a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000505,
200505) since September 2019 and an independent non-executive
director of DreamEast Group Limited (25 5 2B A R A 7)) (@ company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 593) since December 20,
2019. He is also currently the vice president and financial officer of Tibet
Ningsuan Technology Group Co., Ltd. (il =& R EBE AR A 7).

Mr. Chen is currently an off-campus graduate advisor at Central
University of Finance and Economics (FFREBf4&£ X&), Chinese
Academy of Fiscal Sciences (# B8/ BRI EFff388t), Capital University
of Economics and Business (B #B4& & X&), Beijing Technology
and Business University (it ;R T A&, China University of Mining
and Technology, Beijing (FBI#E3 K& - b R), Shanghai National
Accounting Institute (=8B & 51 267) and Beijing National Accounting
Institute (It RBEZKR €:HE7). He is also an invited member of the
financial committee of Western Returned Scholars Association (& ZE[a]
@) a deputy secretary of Green Manufacturing Association of China
(Fh B 4% 5 B3RS BB), @ member of the Professional Steering Committee
of Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a managing

director of the Chinese Medical Accounting Association (Fb B 28 &&=+
=)
=)

Mr. Chen graduated from Henan College of Finance and Economics
(B B 4K EBR) (currently known as Henan University of Finance and
Economics (] g 81 A€ BUE K E2) with a bachelor’s degree in accounting
in December 2000 and from Zhengzhou University (£5H A 22) with a
bachelor’s degree in finance in July 2002. He received his master’s
degree in accounting from the Research Institute of Fiscal Science
affiliated to Ministry of Finance (BfEX2BRIZ28F7SFT) (currently known
as Chinese Academy of Fiscal Sciences (Ff B8 IR ZEER)) in July
2005, his doctorate degree in accounting from Central University of
Finance and Economics (7 SR Bf 48 A 22) in June 2008 and conducted
his postdoctoral research in applied economics at the Research Institute
of Fiscal Science affiliated to Ministry of Finance from June 2012 to
September 2014.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chen received a certificate of “National Leading Accountant” (£ Ed
GH4EE A4 B E) issued by Ministry of Finance in November 2015. He
has been accredited as a certified tax agent by the Office of Personnel of
Henan Province (Al g & A % B2) in December 2002 and a certified public
accountant by the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
April 2011,

Mr. De-chao Michael YU (&1{&) (Dr. Yu), aged 58, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and a member of each
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee on
November 27, 2018, primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to the Board. Dr. Yu was also appointed as a
member of the Audit Committee on March 7, 2019.

Dr. Yu has been an executive director, chairman of the board and chief
executive officer of Innovent Biologics, Inc. ({54 ¥ELEE) (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1801) since April 28, 2011.
Dr. Xu has been an independent non-executive director of Cheerwin
Group Limited (FAZE£EE AR A7) (@ company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange since March 10, 2021, stock code: 6601) since
February 19, 2021. Dr. Yu was a director, president and chief executive
officer of Chengdu Kanghong Biotech Co. Ltd. (5% &BEz3AE MR B R
7~ a]) from 2006 to 2010. Dr. Yu was the vice president of research and
development at Applied Genetic Technology Corporation (a company
subsequently listed on the NASDAQ with ticker symbol AGTC) in 2005.
Between 1997 and 2001, Dr. Yu was the vice president of Calydon, Inc.
which was later acquired by Cell Genesys, Inc. (a company subsequently
listed on the NASDAQ with ticker symbol CEGE), and worked there till
2005 following the acquisition as a principal scientist. He served as an
independent director at PharmaBlock Sciences (Nanjing), Inc. (F R 2
AREIRHBRRAE) (2 company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code: 300725) from December 2015 to May 2018.

Dr. Yu has served in different capacities in various committees and
associations, including the chairman of the board of the Chinese
Antibody Society (ZE AL &) since 2017, a vice president of
the Chinese Association for Medicinal Biotechnology (H [ 52 & 4 4
Rt ) since 2019 and a deputy director of Drug Research and
Development Special Committee of the China Pharmaceutical Innovation
and Research Development Association (A B 88 %% 81| 5T 1 & 5 i 2%
EEZ B @) since 2015.
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EENGHREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Yu has engaged in innovative research on biopharmaceuticals for
more than 20 years, who has invented three Class | new drugs. Dr.
Yu invented the world’s first commercialized oncolytic virus-based
immunotherapeutic product, Oncorine® (recombinant human type-
5 adenovirus injection), creating a precedent for the use of viruses to
treat tumors. Dr. Yu co-invented and led the development of China’s
first monoclonal antibody-like new drug with global intellectual property
rights, Langmu® (Conbercept eye injection) which has changed the
history of zero domestically developed medicine for Chinese patients
with blindness caused by fundus diseases. Dr. Yu also co-invented
and led the development of Tywyt® (sintilimab injection) which approved
for marketing in China for relapsed or refractory classical Hodgkin’s
lymphoma (r/r cHL) on December 24, 2018 and was included in the
National Reimbursement Drug List (NRDL) in 2019 as the only PD-1
in that year and was also the first PD-1 inhibitor included in NRDL
historically.

Dr. Yu is an inventor of over 60 issued patents and patent applications,
and has published more than 50 SCI scientific articles and book
chapters.

Dr. Yu obtained his doctor of philosophy degree in genetics from the
Chinese Academy of Sciences (# BI£I22B5) in May 1993 and completed
his postdoctoral training in pharmaceutical chemistry in University of
Callifornia, San Francisco.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREEE

OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu (E3L&), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on June 30, 2020
and a member of the Strategic Committee on January 20, 2021. He is
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgment to the
Board.

Mr. Shiah joined Shanghai Marco Mary Xinyuan Culture Communication
Co., Ltd. (BB AIIBEMELEZEFRAF]) in January 2018 and
has served as their chief executive officer since then. Since April 2019,
Mr. Shiah has also worked at Shanghai Changning Taini Hantuoyu
Co., Ltd. (L/BREREZEEBMRAR]) as a course development
consultant. Since December 2015, he has worked at Beijing Fuxue
Online Education Technology Co., Ltd. (L T 2EEHBE R ERA
7l), and has served as their chairman of the board of directors since July
2018. From January 2002 to January 2012, he served as the founder
and chief executive officer at each of Jingzhong (Shanghai) Management
Consulting Co., LTD (% (£/&8) BEAAABR AR and Shanghai
Gymboree Science and Education Service Co., Ltd. (/845 B RI#UR
AR A F). From June 1994 to December 2002, he worked at Swire
Group and Taikoo Motors Group and had been their general manager
since January 1998.

Mr. Shiah has been a consultant at Beijing Xia Jing Shan Culture Co.
Ltd. Jt R E iU XL BBR A F]) since May 2018. He also served as a
director at Butterfly House (4% 2 ) from August 2018 to November
2019.

Mr. Shiah obtained his bachelor’s degree in science from University of
California, Los Angeles in 1985. He finished the advanced management
program offered by INSEAD in June 2001.

Mr. Shiah was a director and the legal representative of Nisong Trade
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (i 8E 5 (£)8) AR A7) (“Nisong Trade”)
when its business license was revoked in June 12, 2019 as a result of
overdue annual inspection. Nisong Trade was primarily engaged in the
sales of maternal and infant products and has ceased to operate since
2018. Nisong Trade is established in the PRC and is currently during the
course of deregistration.

Mr. Shiah confirmed that there is no wrongful act on his part leading
to the license revocation and is not aware of any actual or potential
claim has been or will be made against him as a result of such license
revocation, and that no misconduct or misfeasance had been involved in
the license revocation of Nisong Trade.
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OUR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang, aged 61, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee on November 27, 2018. He was
redesignated as a member of the Remuneration Committee, and as a
result ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee on June
30, 2020. He is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to the Board.

From December 1991 to October 1995, Mr. Zhang worked as a
researcher at the Institute of System Science, National University of
Singapore. Mr. Zhang was a research manager at HP Labs from October
1995 to April 1999. From April 1999 to October 2011, Mr. Zhang
served as assistant managing director of Microsoft Research Asia, then,
managing director of Microsoft Advanced Technology Center, and the
chief technology officer at Microsoft Asia R&D Group. From November
2011 to December 2016, Mr. Zhang served as an executive director
and chief executive officer at Kingsoft Corporation Limited (& [ &E{45
fR/A 7)) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3888),
and also served as a director and the chief executive officer at Kingsoft
Cloud Holdings Limited. He has been an independent director of Digital
China Group Co., Ltd. ({#MNBISEB KD B R A F]) (@ company listed
on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000034.S7) since 2017,
an independent director at Huami Corporation (a company listed on
NASDAQ, ticker symbol: HMI) since February 2018, an independent
non-executive director since January 1, 2019 and the chairman of
the board of directors since May 15, 2020 at AAC TECHNOLOGIES
HOLDINGS INC. (& EHE TR B R A F]) (@ company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2018). Since November 2018, Mr. Zhang
has been the chairman of Beijing Academy of Artificial Intelligence (it
RERAIEZMZRT). Since July 7, 2021, Mr. Zhang has been an
independent non-executive director of XPeng Inc. (‘NiE S E AR A F)* (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since July 7,
2021, stock code: 9868).

Mr. Zhang received a bachelor of science degree from Zhengzhou
University in December 1981 and a Ph.D from Technical University of
Denmark in October 1991.

Mr. Zhang is a Fellow of the Institute of Electric and Electronic Engineers
(“IEEE”) and Association for Computing Machinery (‘ACM”). He was the
recipient of the 2012 ACM SIGMM Outstanding Technical Achievement
Award, the 2010 IEEE Computer Society Technical Achievement Award,
and the 2008 Asian American Engineer of the Year award.

*  For identification purpose only
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. XU Chong (#3#), aged 46, is also our chief financial officer. Please
see the paragraph headed “Executive Directors” for his biography.

Ms. CAIl Yumin (£ E#), aged 39, has been our chief human resource
officer since March, 2021 and is responsible for talent management and
development. From June 30, 2020 to January 20, 2021, Ms. Cai served
as a non-executive Director of the Group.

Ms. Cai joined Baihe Jiayuan Network Group Co., Ltd. (B & {4484
EERMHARAT) in July 2019 and serves as chief human resources
officer. From March 2014 to June 2019, she served as the general
manager of center of excellence for human resources at Shanghai
Fosun High Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. (818 2 5k () ikH
AR AT, a wholly owned subsidiary of Fosun International Limited (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0656). From August
2011 to March 2014, she served as a consulting manager of people
and change department at PricewaterhouseCoopers Management
Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (¥ BB EZ A (L&) ARAR).
From June 2008 to August 2011, she served as a senior consultant of
talent and organization consulting department at Aon Hewitt Consulting
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (16 &M EFE A (L&) BIRAQE]), which is
previously known as Hewitt Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (B F:&
= (_B)8) AR A 7]). From August 2005 to June 2008, she served as a
senior associate of financial services practice of assurance department
at PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP (formerly known as
PricewaternouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company (& 5Kk &

RREFHEIEEPIERAR).

Ms. Cai obtained her bachelor’s degree in law from Shanghai
International Studies University in 2005 and her master’s degree in
business administration from China Europe International Business
School in 2019.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. XIE Boyang (#185¥), aged 37, joined our Group in June 2017
and served as director of finance at Zhongming. Since November 2019,
Mr. Xie has served as the vice president of finance department and is
in charge of the overall capital management and financial budget of the
Group.

From September 2016 to June 2017, Mr. Xie served as the vice director
of finance department at Leshi Holding (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (Z4181%/% (3
) B AF]). From October 2015 to September 2016, he served as
the senior director of finance at Beijing Ujipin Network Technology Co.,
Ltd. t B E REERE AR AR]). From March 2010 to September
2015, he served as the director of finance at DX.com Limited Holdings
(currently known as Sino Vision Worldwide Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8086). From August 2007 to
February 2010, he was a senior auditor at PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mr. Xie obtained his bachelor’s degree in finance from Capital University
of Economics and Business (B #B4&E & 5 A2 in 2007. He has been
a charted global management accountant certified by the Association of
International Certified Professional Accountants and a senior member of
the Charted Institute of Management Accountants since October 2019.

Ms. GUO Ying (28%8), aged 41, joined our Group in July 2012 and
served as a director of calling center at Zhongming, a senior director
of mobile products at BabyTree Information and the general manager
of e-commerce at Meitun Mama. She was appointed chief of staff
of our Group in March 2021, primarily responsible for planning and
implementing corporate strategy. She served as head of e-commerce
business of our Group from December 2017 to February 2019 and
served as chief human resource officer of our Group from February 2019
to March 2021.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Guo served as a business development
manager at Lenovo (Beijing) Limited (848 (4t =) AR A 7)) from
May 2003 to April 2008. She served as a senior director of service
department at Beijing Badi Zhonghe Technology Co., Ltd. (it 5%/ \ 5 &1
RHE B A F) from May 2008 to March 2012, where she was primarily
responsible for product design, implementation and management.

Ms. Guo graduated from Beijing Institute of Petrochemical Technology (dt
A H b T E ) with a bachelor’s degree in marketing in July 2003.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGHREEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Ms. WANG Dan (£ f}), aged 35, joined our Group in April 2014
and was appointed senior director of public relations of our Group in
February 2019, primarily responsible for brand and public relations
management.

She served as head of brand and public relations from February 2018 to
February 2019. Ms. Wang served as a senior manager of public relations
at Shanghai Huagianshu Information Technology Limited (_E;&7E T4z
BERBARAQF]) from July 2010 to March 2014.

Ms. Wang graduated from Liaoning University (&% X&) with a

bachelor’s degree in international economics and trade in July 2010.

Ms. ZHOU Xiaoyu (&) #i), aged 31,
and served as a senior sales manager. She was appointed the general

joined our Group in June 2015

manager of center of business solutions in January 2019, primarily
responsible for key account advertising sales.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Zhou served as a sales manager at
Guangzhou Pacific Computer Information Consulting Co., Ltd (E /1A
RIS B AR A A]) from October 2012 to June 2015.

Ms. Zhou obtained her master’s degree in Integrated and Practicing
Management from the University of Hong Kong in 2021.
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EENGHREEE

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Joint Company Secretaries

Ms. MA Lie (52!), aged 30, was appointed as a Joint Company
Secretary of the Company on December 10, 2020. She joined the
Company as the senior assistant to the chief financial officer under the
office of the Board since March 2020. She is primarily responsible for
assisting the daily work of the chief financial officer and involved in the
financial planning of the Company and market research required for
Company’s development. In addition, Ms. Ma has also diligently involved
in the routine compliance matters including organizing/attending Board
and general meetings as well as corporate governance matters of the
Company.

Prior to joining our Company, Ms. Ma served as an investment manager
& Ell#%) from September 2017 to September 2018
and a senior analyst at 36Kr (364&) from January 2016 to September

at Unity Ventures (

2017. She has rich experience in capital market industry and company
research and analysis and coordinating financing negotiations with
investors. Ms. Ma was an associate at PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd
from September 2014 to January 2016.

Ms. Ma obtained a Bachelor’s degree of Business Administration in
Accounting and Finance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
October 2014 and a Master’s degree in Business Administration from
the University of Oxford in November 2019.

Ms. SIU Wing Kit (8858/2), was appointed as a joint company secretary
of the Company on 22 October 2021. Ms. Siu is a senior manager
of corporate services of Tricor Services Limited, which is a corporate
secretarial services provider. She has over 20 years of experience in the
corporate secretarial and has been handling the company secretarial
compliance works of Hong Kong listed companies, private and offshore
companies. Ms. Siu was admitted as a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered
Governance Professional and an associate of both The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom in December 2006. She obtained her master’s
degree in Corporate Governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in December 2006.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERME

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard
the interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended December 31,
2021, the Company has complied with most of the code provisions as
set out in the CG Code, except for the deviation from code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code (which has been renumbered as code provision
C.2.1 of part 2 of the CG Code with effect from January 1, 2022) (“Code
Provision A.2.1") as explained under the paragraph “Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer” below.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business and
to reviewing such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply
with statutory and professional standards and align with the latest
development.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(Continued)

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as the Group’s code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions.

Specific enquiry has been made by the Company with all Directors and
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended December 31, 2021.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the “Employees
Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the Model Code for
securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price-sensitive information of the Company. No
incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the
employees was noted by the Company for the year ended December
31, 2021 after making reasonable enquiry.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and takes decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Company.

The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director
to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the
Director is spending sufficient time performing them.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises twelve Directors, consisting of two
executive Directors, six non-executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors.

During the year ended December 31, 2021 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. GAO Min (Co-chairman)
(appointed as a non-executive Director on January 20, 2021,
appointed as Vice Chairman on March 30, 2021, appointed as
Co-chairman and ceased to act as Vice Chairman on June 18, 2021,
re-designated from a non-executive Director to an executive
Director on July 28, 2021)

Mr. XU Chong

Mr. PAN Zhiyong (appointed as an executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer on January 20, 2021 and resigned as an executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer on July 28, 2021)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. WANG Huainan (Co-Chairman)
(re-designated from an executive Director to a non-executive Director
and resigned as the Chief Executive Officer on January 20, 2021)
Mr. QIAN Shunjiang (appointed on January 20, 2021)
Mr. CHEN Bing (appointed on July 28, 2021)
Mr. CHEN Weijun (appointed on June 18, 2021)
Mr. WU Ying
Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN
Mr. WANG Changying
(resigned as Vice Chairman on March 30, 2021 and
as a non-executive Director on June 18, 2021)
Ms. CAl Yumin (resigned on January 20, 2021)
Ms. YAN Jia (resigned on January 20, 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. CHEN Guanglei

Mr. De-chao Michael YU

Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu

Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing
Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive Directors are
expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the Directors including the relationships
among the members of the Board are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no other financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s) among the
members of the Board and the senior management.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

During the period from January 1, 2021 and to January 20, 2021,
the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief
Executive Officer”) were held by Mr. WANG Huainan (“Mr. Wang”).
In view of Mr. Wang’s experience, personal profile and his roles in
the Company and the fact that Mr. Wang had assumed the role of
Chief Executive Officer of the Company since our commencement of
business, the Board considered it beneficial to the business prospect
and operational efficiency of the Company that Mr. Wang acted as the
Chairman of the Board and continued to act as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. While this would constitute a deviation from
Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board believed that this
structure would not impair the balance of power and authority between
the Board and the management of the Company, given that: (i) decision
to be made by the Board required approval by at least a majority of
the Directors; (i) Mr. Wang and the other Directors were aware of and
undertook to fulfill their fiduciary duties as Directors, which required,
among other things, that he acted for the benefit and in the best
interests of the Company and would make decisions for the Company
accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and authority was ensured
by the operations of the Board which comprised experienced and high
caliber individuals who met regularly to discuss issues affecting the
operations of the Company. Moreover, the overall strategic and other
key business, financial, and operational policies of the Company were
made collectively after thorough discussion at both Board and senior
management levels.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Continued)

The Chairman provides leadership to the Board by ensuring the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities in time. The
Chairman himself, or a Director or company secretary delegated by
him, is responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for each
Board meeting. The Chairman ensures that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established. The Chairman encourages
all Directors to make a full and active contribution to the Board'’s affairs
and take the lead to ensure that it acts in the best interests of the
Company. The Chairman ensures that all Directors receive adequate
information to fulfill their duties, which must be complete and reliable in
a timely manner. The Chairman ensures effective communication with
Shareholders and that views of Shareholders are communicated to the
Board as a whole. The Chairman promotes a culture of openness and
debate by facilitating the effective contribution of non-executive Directors
in particular and ensures constructive relations between executive and
non-executive Directors.

In order to further enhance the corporate governance of the Company
and comply with Code Provision A.2.1, and to better focus on the
development strategy of the Company, Mr. Wang resigned from his role
as the Chief Executive Officer on January 20, 2021, but remained as the
Chairman and Mr. PAN Zhiyong was appointed as an executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer on January 20, 2021. Subsequently, Mr.
GAO Min was appointed as the co-Chairman of the Board on June 18,
2021, and Mr. PAN Zhiyong resigned as an executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer on July 28, 2021.

After Mr. PAN Zhiyong’s resignation, the position of the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company is still vacant up to the date of this annual report,
and the responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer have been assumed
by Mr. GAO Min during such vacancy.

The Company will, from time to time, review the effectiveness of
the Group’s corporate governance structure and consider the re-
establishment of the role of the Chief Executive Officer.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least four independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third
of the Board, with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

Each independent non-executive Director (excluding Mr. SHIAH Hung-
Yu and Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang) has entered into an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from November
26, 2021. Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu has entered into an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from June 30,
2020. Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang has entered into an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of period from April 1, 2022 to June 30,
2022. The appointment letter shall continue unless and until terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party to
another.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Director in respect of his independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) of the Company (save for Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang) are
appointed for a specific term of three years, subject to renewal after the
expiry of the current term.

The Articles of Association provides that all Directors appointed to fill a
casual vacancy shall be subject to election by Shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment.

Under the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being, or if the number is not three or a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The retiring
Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including the non-executive Directors and the independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. Through active participation at Board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict
of interest and serving on Board committees, all non-executive Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on
corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

All Directors carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders at all times.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held
by them.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities of the Directors (Continued)

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

The Board has clearly set out the circumstances under which the
management should report to and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of
the Company. The Board regularly reviews the above said circumstances
and ensures they remain appropriate.

If any Substantial Shareholder or Director has a potential conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by a general meeting or the Board,
the relevant Directors shall abstain from voting and a Board meeting
attended by independent non-executive Directors who have no material
interest in the matter shall be held to discuss and vote on the same.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual
basis.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
Such induction shall be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key
plant sites and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors where
appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company organized
three training sessions conducted by qualified professionals and the
Hong Kong legal advisors of the Company, which were attended by
Mr. GAO Min, Mr. XU Chong, Mr. PAN Zhiyong, Mr. QIAN Shunjiang,
Mr. CHEN Bing and Mr. CHEN Weijun. Such training sessions covered
a wide range of relevant topics, including but not limited to directors’
duties and responsibilities, corporate governance and updates on Listing
Rules amendments. In addition, relevant reading materials including
directors’ manual, legal and regulatory update and seminar handouts
have been provided to the Directors for their reference and studying.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors (Continued)
The record of continuous professional development relating to director’s
duties and regulatory and business development that have been
received by the Directors for the year ended December 31, 2021 and up
to date of this annual report are summarized as follows:
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Directors Type of Training™
5= EAEF
Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. GAO Min®@ A B
=L

Mr. XU Chong A B
TR A&

Mr. PAN Zhiyong® A B
EEBEAE

Non-executive Directors

FHITES

Mr. WANG Huainan® B
FTiEmLE

Mr. QIAN Shunjiang® A
BT LA

Mr. CHEN Bing® A
BRIk AEO

Mr. CHEN Weijun® A
BRETE K AED

Mr. WU Ying B
RFEASE

Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN B
Christian Franz REITERMANNE 4=

Mr. WANG Changying® Nil
FRALE® it
Ms. CAI Yumin® Nil
RGO it
Ms. YAN Jia®© Nil
ERfEZ Lo i
Independent non-executive Directors

BUKHTES

Mr. CHEN Guanglei B
PRESE LA

Mr. De-chao Michael YU B
BB &

Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu B
Boh&EE

Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang B

ZHANG Hongjiang 7t 4
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors (Continued)
Notes:

1 Types of Training

A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

2 Appointed as a non-executive Director on January 20, 2021 and re-designated
from a non-executive Director to an executive Director on July 28, 2021
(©)] Appointed as an executive Director on January 20, 2021 and resigned on July

28, 2021

(4) Re-designated from an executive Director to a non-executive Director on
January 20, 2021

5) Appointed as a non-executive Director on January 20, 2021
(6) Appointed as a non-executive Director on July 28, 2021

(7) Appointed as a non-executive Director on June 18, 2021
8 Resigned as a non-executive Director on June 18, 2021

©) Resigned as a non-executive Director on January 20, 2021
BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Strategic Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their
authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Board committees
are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website and are available to Shareholders upon request.
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Audit Committee

As at December 31, 2021, the Audit Committee consists of three
members including three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. CHEN Guanglei (Chairman), Mr. De-chao Michael YU and Mr.
ZHANG Hongjiang (with Mr. CHEN Guanglei possessing the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise).

The Company adopted revised terms of reference of the Audit
Committee on November 30, 2020. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in
the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting process,
risk management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of external
auditors, arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters of the Company, sustainability performance,
Environmental, Social and Governance Report and providing advice and
comments to the Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Audit Committee held
two meetings to review, in respect of the year ended December 31,
2021 and the six months ended June 30, 2021, the annual and interim
financial results and reports and significant issues on the financial
reporting, operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and internal audit function,
appointment of external auditors and engagement of non-audit services
and relevant scope of works, connected transactions and arrangements
for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties. The Audit
Committee has been provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties.

The Audit Committee also had telephone conferences twice during the
year without the presence of the executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

As at December 31, 2021, the Remuneration Committee consists of five
members including three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. CHEN Guanglei (Chairman), Mr. De-chao Michael YU and Mr.
ZHANG Hongjiang, one executive Director, namely Mr. XU Chong and
one non-executive Director, namely Mr. WANG Huainan.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary
functions of the Remuneration Committee include determining, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management, making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management and establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and make recommendation to
the Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the Company and
the remuneration packages of the Directors and other related matters.
In addition, the Remuneration Committee made recommendations
to the Board on the renewed letters of appointment of the executive
Director, namely Mr. XU Chong, the non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. WANG Changying (resigned on June 18, 2021) and Mr. Christian
Franz REITERMANN, and the independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. CHEN Guanglei, Mr. De-chao Michael YU and Mr. ZHANG
Hongjiang.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee

As at December 31, 2021, the Nomination Committee consists of three
members including one non-executive Director, namely Mr. WANG
Huainan (Chairman) and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. CHEN Guanglei and Mr. De-chao Michael YU.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal duties
of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and
appointment of Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity as set out in the Company’s Board diversity policy, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional
experience etc. The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree
on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting to review the structure, size and composition of
the Board and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, to consider the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing
for election at the annual general meeting. In addition, the Nomination
Committee considered and recommended to the Board on the
appointment of Mr. GAO Min as the Vice Chairman. The Nomination
Committee also considered whether an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Strategic Committee

The Strategic Committee was established under the Board on January
20, 2021. As at December 31, 2021, the Strategic Committee consists
of eight members including two executive Directors, namely Mr. GAO
Min and Mr. XU Chong, four non-executive Directors, namely Mr. WANG
Huainan (Chairman), Mr. QIAN Shunjiang, Mr. CHEN Weijun and Mr. WU
Ying, and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHEN
Guanglei and Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu.

The main duties of the Strategic Committee include examining and
making recommendations to the Board on the long-term development
strategies, major investment plans, major capital operation and asset
operation projects of the Company and other major issues affecting the
Company’s development.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Strategic Committee
held one meeting to review and consider the Group’s future strategy in
the field of early education, as well as its third-party operation business.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on November 1, 2018
which sets out the basic principles to be followed to ensure that the
Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and
to maintain high standards of corporate governance.

Board nomination and appointments will continue to be made on merit
basis based on its business needs from time to time while taking into
account diversity. The Nomination Committee has primary responsibility
for identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and selecting, or making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of, individuals nominated for directorships.

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and
specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race, language,
cultural background, educational background, industry experience and
professional experience.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (Continued)

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against appropriate
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the policy,
developing and reviewing measurable objectives for implementing the
policy and monitoring the progress on achieving these measurable
objectives.

The Nomination Committee shall review this policy and the measurable
objectives at least annually, and as appropriate, to ensure the continued
effectiveness of the Board.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a Director Nomination Policy which sets out the
criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of directors of
the Company. The policy aims to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company as well as the Board continuity and appropriate leadership at
Board level.

Criteria for nomination and appointment of directors
In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following
criteria should be considered:

o Character and integrity.

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity
Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy.

° Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY (Continued)

Criteria for nomination and appointment of directors (Continued)

Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity.

Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the
Company.

Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.

NOMINATION PROCESS

(a)

Appointment of New Director

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including
but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation,
referral by other member of the management and external
recruitment agents.

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director
and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria
as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.
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NOMINATION PROCESS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Appointment of New Director (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them
by order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship,
as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set
out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

U)

(i)

(i)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the Company
of the retiring director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director continues
to meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.
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NOMINATION PROCESS (continued)

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and this policy and where
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions set
out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code (which has been
renumbered as code provision A.2.1 of part 2 of the CG Code with
effect from January 1, 2022).

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Audit Committee had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code
and Employee Written Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

Code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code (which has been renumbered as
code provision C.5.1 of part 2 of the CG Code with effect from January 1,
2022) provides that regular Board meetings should be held at least four
times a year involving active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company adopted the
practice of holding Board meetings regularly for at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals to discuss overall strategy as
well as operations and financial performance of the Group. The Board
held seven meetings during the year ended December 31, 2021. Apart
from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held one meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors during the year ended December 31, 2021.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS (continued)

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to the Directors in advance. Notice of regular
Board meetings is served to all the Directors at least 14 days before the
meeting. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep Directors apprised of
the latest development and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make decisions. The Board and each Director also have
separate and independent access to the senior management where
necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular Board meetings and
where necessary, other Board and committee meetings, to advise on
business development, financial and accounting matters, statutory and
regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects
of the Company.

The Memorandum and Articles of Association contain provisions
requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in
the quorum at the meetings for approving transactions in which such
Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.

The secretary of the meetings is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes
are normally circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable
time after each meeting and final version are open for Director’s
inspection.

Annual Report 2021 | BabyTree Group

ExgeENESHERZ@®

EESERARERER

BERETHERBAEZNERZRAT AR
AR FES - THESFEEZRAINE R
IES 14E|LL%’§:§$ c ERABREMESE

ehZEgeRR  MARSRLEEAM -
EEeXMERMEEER  TBRAENER

@E%%%AQ%‘X;(E%@: HIEL=AF

BTYHEES  URAEFBRAQRIHNER

RARBHBRR - ML EIEHIRE - EF

ﬁﬁxﬁiﬁﬁfﬁ%ﬁ%%%&%@EI’M/”]'H%E
BE(WEBE) °

BREEERERELRERETE SR AN
VERSNEMETEERNZEEERE U
RARBMERER  MBEREFER  EE
LREEAHR CREARHEMEIBIERELE
H o

M ERAM MADRMRSRE - RHtEEFL
HEMBBARBEANENRZNEH
BRAESEERERR BB AZSZRE
RN

CHRNERERENMRENMEEZEERNE
EEeMNRLE SRLENERRAR
REGRRNEEREANE TEFER AR
WERERR  MBRTRITAHEFER -

s
&
i
++t



Corporate Governance Report
TEERME

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS (continued)

Attendance Records of Directors

The attendance records of each Director at the Board, Board committee
meetings and the general meetings of the Company held during the year
ended December 31, 2021 are set out below:
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Name of Director Number of Attendance in Person/Number of Meeting(s)
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BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS (continued)

Attendance Records of Directors (Continued)
Notes:

(1) The annual general meeting of the Company was held on June 10, 2021

2) The extraordinary general meeting of the Company was held on October 26,
2021

) Appointed as a non-executive Director on January 20, 2021 and re-designated
from a non-executive Director to an executive Director and appointed as a
member of the Strategic Committee on July 28, 2021

(4) Appointed as an executive Director and a member of the Strategic Committee
on January 20, 2021 and resigned as an executive Director and a member of

the Strategic Committee on July 28, 2021

5) Re-designated from an executive Director to a non-executive Director on
January 20, 2021

(6) Appointed as a non-executive Director on January 20, 2021
(7) Appointed as a non-executive Director on July 28, 2021

8 Appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of the Strategic
Committee on June 18, 2021

) Resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of the Strategic Committee
on June 18, 2021

(10)  Resigned as a non-executive Director on January 20, 2021
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERME

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a Dividend Policy which sets out the principles

and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to the

declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as dividends to the

Shareholders of the Company.

A summary of the dividend policy is set out below:

1. In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital

requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value.

2. The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio.

3.  The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends
to the Shareholders of the Company, subject to the Articles of the
Association and all applicable laws and regulations and the factors
set out below.

4.  The Board shall also take into account the following factors of
the Group when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

° financial results;

° cash flow situation;

° business conditions and strategies;

o future operations and earnings;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;
o interests of Shareholders;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

° any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued) I EBUR (&)

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the
Group and the conditions and factors as set out above, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year
or period:

° interim dividend;

° final dividend;

o special dividend; and

° any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

5.

BF AR B R AR B 8B BOR A K it
RERAR BRI EMRFERHE
BER/HERTHIRE

o FHHIE:

o RHIRE:

o HRIE R

s ENEFERRAENMANDIK -

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to 6.  {F{a] Bf Bk 4 & & 7k HARR 249 28 b B s it
Shareholders’ approval. Ao

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or 7. AATAUELHRBRHKEZTSRA
scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. SEMEMERET IR LIRS -

Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the 8.  {E{A] R 4B EX &Y AR B, FE 15 2 U 2 JRE 4R 15 48 4%

Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

ERARIERART] -

The Board will review the dividend policy as appropriate from time to  EZZE2B A ZERBFTIRBEEE
time.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assist the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company has adopted and implemented comprehensive risk
management policies in various aspects of our business operations,
such as information system, financial reporting, internal audit and human
resources.

Information System Risk Management

Our objectives for information system management are to identify,
assess, monitor and control information technology risks by establishing
an effective mechanism to operate our business in a safe, continuous,
stable and compliant environment. We have implemented policies and
procedures stipulating: () the release of mobile apps in the ordinary
course and on an urgent basis; (i) the operation of our platforms: we
monitor certain key indicators and give an alarm if such indicators go
beyond the security thresholds; (i) the management of the authorities of
our employees and business partners to access certain functions of our
platforms; (iv) the management of the network and hard drive capacities
and (v) troubleshooting: we categorize system malfunctions and
accidents into three levels according to their seriousness and urgency,
and implement different mechanisms to fix them.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Financial Reporting Risk Management

We have implemented a financial reporting system, consisting of policies
and procedures for: (i) bottom-up financial reporting: in the ordinary
course of business, the financial personnel shall report to the manager
of the financial department and the chief financial officer level by level.
Any new business the accounting treatment methods for which has
not been stipulated shall be reported to the chief financial officer in a
timely manner; (i) top-down inquiries: the audit personnel at the group
level can request financial information from any member of the Group
as work requires and ask questions about the information provided;
(iiiy assignment of responsibilities: relevant financial personnel perform
document verification, review and bookkeeping in the accounting
system according to their duties and authorities; (iv) book closing:
monthly and quarterly accounts shall be reconciled and closed within
the first ten business days of the next month or quarter; (v) accounting
error correction: we have formulated different rectification measures for
different types of accounting errors, including errors that occurred during
the current accounting period, immaterial errors that occurred during the
last accounting period and material errors that occurred during the last
accounting period; (vi) financial statement preparation: each operating
entity will prepare its monthly and annual financial reports. The monthly
report of each operating entity shall be submitted to the Group within the
first ten business days of the next month, and the annual report of each
operating entity shall be submitted to the Group within 15 business days
after the end of the year; and (vii) financial statement analysis: financial
analysis meetings shall be held regularly every month, during which the
financial managers of each company shall present results of operations,
financial condition and qualitative and quantitative analysis to the senior
management. With these policies and procedures, we aim to ensure
that the information reported and disclosed in the financial report is true,
complete, accurate and timely.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Internal Audit Risk Management

We value the importance of our internal audit, as it is essential to our
stable operation and sustainable development. The objectives of our
internal audit are to monitor the implementation of applicable laws
and regulations and our internal policies, procedures and standard
operational procedures, to control our risk exposure at an acceptable
level and to improve our business operations.

We have implemented an independent and vertical organizational system
for our internal audit. We set up an Audit Committee under the Board
of Directors to organize and guide our internal audit work. The Internal
Audit Department regularly reports to the Audit Committee and submits
reports on audit projects in a timely manner.

As the executive department of our internal audit, the Internal Audit
Department is responsible for the supervision, evaluation and consulting
independently. According to our internal audit procedures, the Internal
Audit Department is responsible for auditing and monitoring the
soundness and effectiveness of our internal controls, reviewing the
reliability of accounting records and financial statements, analyzing and
assessing our business policies and activities of our business units for
appropriateness, efficiency and compliance, and auditing and appraising
the performance of our management team.

Human Resources Risk Management

We have implemented a human resource management system to ensure
the effective functioning of our Group, safeguard the legitimate rights
and interests of both parties to the employment relationship and improve
operating efficiency. Our internal human resource management system
covers all the stages of employment relationship, from recruitment to
probation, appraisal, transition and exit.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Anti-corruption

We have implemented internal anti-corruption rules to ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. Our anticorruption rules
define the scope of “corruption” and have detailed requirements as
to gifts and banquets, conflict of interest and financial reporting. Our
compliance department is responsible for the training, supervision and
execution of our anticorruption rules and reports to our Chief Executive
Officer. We have set up a corruption report center to collect information
on suspected corruption incidents. We offer a reward to real-name
informants who report proven corruption incidents. We also have
investigation and punishment procedures in place.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the year ended December 31, 2021.

At the Board meeting held on March 29, 2022, the Board, as supported
by the Audit Committee as well as the management report and the
internal audit findings, reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for
the year ended December 31, 2021, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial
reporting and internal audit function and staff qualifications, experiences
and relevant resources.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries.

Internal control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Whistleblowing Policy for Employees to Raise Concerns about
Possible Improprieties

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining the highest
standards of openness, probity and accountability. The Company’s
employees at all levels should conduct themselves with integrity,
impartiality and honesty.

The Board has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy to govern and deal with
fairly and properly concemns raised by the Company’s employees about
any suspected misconduct or malpractice regarding financial reporting,
internal control or other matters within the Company.

The Audit Committee of the Company shall review regularly the policy
and ensure that arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2021.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
announcements relating to disclosure of insider information and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other statutory and
regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are
put to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure
for formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior
management of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the year ended
December 31, 2021 are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to the code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code (which has been
renumbered as code provision E.1.5 of part 2 of the CG Code with
effect from January 1, 2022), the annual remuneration of the members of
the senior management (other than the Directors) by bands for the year
ended December 31, 2021 is set out below:
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Number of

individuals

AE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7L £ 2,000,000/& 7T 3
Total st 5

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the total fee paid/payable
in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s
external auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, is set out below:

Category of services

BB <
BE-_ZT-—F+-_A=+—HIEE %K
REIMNEZBM KB BB SR EBAERA
AT RENEZLIEEZRBEHEN LR
BRSNNNAT

Fee paid/payable

REESE et ENER
RMB’000

AREFIT

Audit services ENZIRTS 4,730
Non-audit services (including review of interim results) IEBIL R (B IEEH P ERE) 800
Total “ET 5,530
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

On October 22, 2021, Ms. WU Miu Wah resigned and had ceased to
act as a joint company secretary of the Company. Ms. SIU Wing Kit
has been appointed in place of Ms. WU as a joint company secretary of
the Company with effect from October 22, 2021. Ms. MA Lie serves as
the other joint company secretary of the Company. Ms. SIU is a senior
manager of corporate services of Tricor Services Limited and is not an
employee of the Company. Ms. SIU will contact the management of the
Company and report to the Board Chairman and/or the Chief Executive
Officer through Ms. MA when necessary. Both Ms. MA and Ms. SIU
have confirmed that each of them has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional trainings during the year ended December 31,
2021.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint company
secretaries to ensure that Board procedures, and all applicable law,
rules and regulations, are followed.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company
also recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to
make the best investment decisions.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. The general meetings of the Company provide
a platform for communication between the Board and the Shareholders.
The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees, are available
to answer Shareholders’ questions at general meetings. A notice to
Shareholders is sent by the Company at least 21 days before the annual
general meeting and at least 14 days in all other general meetings.

BENAWE

RZZBZ—F+A-+ZH AP ELLEIE
W TNBEREARBBEARMWE - BERLL
BT —FT+A-+ZHAREZERRIAL
THEEARAZBERRAME - FAUKTEE
ARAB—MUBERARAWE - BRXLTREEE
EBRBARAR(HRARWERGHER) Z
CERBSREIE - WIHARREES - BRL
KRB EREBF LT EARRFEE AL
MEESIRERHITREHER BE2-F
THF+ A=t HUIEFE BRI EEX
THRAKRESBEET IO 6E/ N E
BRI -

EREFHUNSHELARAWE ZERAR
B NEREFSEFULRMEEREE R
IR E C BT -

ERRNBEERREERR

ARRIRBEBROBYBBHENBREERH
KIEa R EHE B AR EEBRI MR T #
EREE - ARAINRHE MFEREERF]
BHNERNE  ARERRERREEEH&E
RERR -

ARABNBERRFERSYHFE  LEZEB
BRBFRAEGMNEMBERAE - ARARBERK
SREFCHERRREHERTE EFSXR
URREZEE  FMEEGRBERZESE:
Bk fHERE - RIS EEZE@MEMKE R
PR AE LR ERRWIER - ARRARBR
BEARGHNEL22NBKMBREMBRRREE
P1AB AR EFEEHM o

FERE 2021 | HHBIEER

79



80

Corporate Governance Report
TEERME

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company has not
made any changes to its Memorandum and Articles of Association. The
Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
(ir.babytree.com), where up-to-date information and updates on the
Company'’s financial information, corporate governance practices,
biographical information of the Board and other information are available
for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with Shareholders through various
communication channels and a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
is in place to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness.

To safeguard Shareholder interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of Director. All resolutions put forward
at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and of
the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposal at General
Meeting

Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association provides that any two or more
members may deposit written requisition to convene a general meeting
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists,
provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
General meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of
any one member which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s))
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in
the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by
the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be
held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly
as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board
provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the Company:

Address: Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong (For the attention of the Board of Directors/
Company Secretary)

Telephone:  86-10-61138080

Email: ir@babytree-inc.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group, for the year ended
December 31, 2021.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on February 9,
2018 as an exempted limited liability company under the Companies
Law. The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on November 27, 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the advertising, e-commerce and content
monetization business. Details of the principal activities of the principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and performance analysis of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2021 is set out in the chapter headed “Chairman’s
Statement” from pages 3 to 21 and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” from pages 22 to 31 of this annual report.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

EZEMAEBREREERALAEEHRE_F
TEFT A=t HUEFENEEZAHY
Bk -

—RE#

RRBRZZT—-N\FZANBREBRRERH
SHBAMKIAEHRRAEREERAR - AR
AROR —F-N\Ft+— A+ EBERBRM
EREM e

B3
AR A HRERRAT - AEEEERE

B BERABMBEY  AHEENEL
Al EBRBEERRA G RRN 18 -

EH O

AEEHZE-Z-_—F+_A=+—HIFE
MBSO R EESTHNAFERE F3E21
BlIEXEFEHREE]|—ERF2EINE[EEETH
K] o

MBRE

Year ended December 31, Year on year

BE+=-A=1+—HLEE change (%)
2021 2020 Eilsd
—E-—F —E-FF HE)(%)

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBFIT
Revenue A 281,823 212,260 32.8%
— Advertising —E5 255,578 188,295 35.7%
— E-commerce —EE 23,885 19,895 20.1%
— Others —H1h 2,360 4,070 -42.0%
Gross profit ER 170,720 96,479 77.0%
Gross margin FF= 60.6% 45.5% 15.1%
Loss for the year FEEE (387,114) (470,9006) -17.8%
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

Our shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on November 27, 2018
and the net proceeds raised during our initial public offering were
approximately HKD1,769.7 million.

The following table sets forth the status of the use of net proceeds from
the initial public offering®:

ERBREMBREAR

BAMBROR_E—N\F+— A=+t B8R
R ETERRE R AR EHMEENMER
TEFREAA A1, 760.7TE BB T ©

TREIERAAREEMEFIEFENERS
LS

Intended use Percentage Percentage
of proceeds of used of unused
Percentage of from the amount as of balance asof  Timeframe
intended use initial public ~ December 31, December 31,  for the unused
Intended use of proceeds of proceeds offering 2021 2021 balance
8z Ez
“3--f “F--f
ERDH t2A =:
fhfEsE RERE =1-H Zt-B  BRAXIA
Rz FERE EBRLH ABRRE SR
FrEREnEERE Bl R Bl BAl  BE%
Categories Sub-categories (%)~ (in HKD millions) (%) (%)
3 FER (%) (BB (%) (%)
Business expansion, such as acquiring Acquiring users and improving user 50 885 50 00 NA
Users and improving user engagement, engagement
generating and acquiring more quality
content, recruiting and retaining
competent personnel to support
our expansion and brand marketing
activities, and further enhancing our
brand awareness through marketing
activities?
ShER DINEREPRRRAPSE ERAFRREAF2EE il
- EXREGESRENS  BER
REBTARNERANER Rl
SHEY RRASHEDE-SRA
EMhmieAEEe
Generating and acquiring more quality content 10.0 177.0 100 00
ERREGESRENA
Recruiting and retaining competent personnel 10.0 177.0 100 00
to support our expansion and brand
marketing activities
RRRSZBEABNENY
ERRnigHEs
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL Z#RTEEMEFIERER@E)
OFFERING (continued)

Intended use Percentage Percentage
of proceeds of used of unused
Percentage of from the amount as of balance asof  Timeframe
intended use initial public ~ December 31, December 31,  for the unused
Intended use of proceeds of proceeds offering 2021 2021 balance
L E hEE
ZEC-F ZE--E&
BALH = =
fRFERE BERE =t-H St-B  BAADA
Refg HERE EBfLE ADABE &R
FERENEE AR A R# Aokt BAlL  BE%
Categories Sub-categories (%)  (in HKD millions) (%) (%)
g7 155 (%) (ABE#Ri) (%) (%)
Further enhancing our brand awareness 50 885 50 00
through marketing activities
RAHEDE-SRABMDRRALE
Sub-total 30.0 530.9 30.0 0.0
/J\E-f
Research and development, such as Recruiting and refaining technical talent to 100 1770 8.1 1.9 Inthenextsi
recruiting and retaining technical talent, develop and upgrade our mobile apps months
maintaining and strengthening our IT and websites with more functionalities by
infrastructure and further developing our ~ providing competitive salary and equity
technology stack® compensation and opening development
centers in emerging technology hubs
W DINBSRBERGAT  #E0  BARREGRFNNEMRRENERE AN
BIAMOERRTARTERE—S  FERRORURERL  BEREE
REARORiERe BIATURE RSB MOHRMAE
FRE S,
Maintaining and strengthening our IT 10.0 177.0 70 30
infrastructure to accommodate our business
expansion
BENRIAMNES RITERRIEAERE
BMHEHER
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL Z#RTEEMEFIERER@E)
OFFERING (continued)

Intended use Percentage Percentage
of proceeds of used of unused
Percentage of from the amount as of balance asof  Timeframe
intended use initial public ~ December 31, December 31,  for the unused
Intended use of proceeds of proceeds offering 2021 2021 balance
E raz
I3z-F It
BRLH TZA e
fRFERE BERE =t-H St-B  BAAEA
Refg HERE EBfeE ADABE &R
FrEsuaNRERR Al R# Bl BAlt  WER
Categories Sub-categories (%) (i HKD millions) (%) (%)
g7 185 (%) (ABE#R) (%) (%)
Further developing our technology stack, 100 1770 6.9 34
including data and storage management,
computer vision, Neurolinguistic
programming and augmented realty, to
enhance user experience
E-FRERNORINES - ARBERE
RER HERES ERESRERE
BRE RFAPER
Sub-total 30.0 530.9 20 8.0
/J\E-f
Further investments, acquisitions and 300 530.9 140 16.0  Inthe next twelve
strategic alliances, such as investing months
in companies with advanced

technology and service solutions or
with complementary busingss lines, or
have adequate capabilties to generate
synergy with our current business, and
establishing partnerships with qualty
local partners in overseas countries”
ARRE - REREMEE  flnRER FRT=EA
BRAERMRRHRR T ROARL
BERAEBENDALANERR
BRRES RN AT RERHE
REEMEHBHETRHER
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING (continued)

PIRBEFFBRERR @)

Intended use Percentage Percentage
of proceeds of used of unused
Percentage of from the amount as of balance asof  Timeframe
intended use initial public ~ December 31, December 31,  for the unused
Intended use of proceeds of proceeds offering 2021 2021 balance
L E raz
I3z-f It
BALH = =
fRFERE BERE =t-H St-B  BAADA
RERR HERE EBfeE ADABE &R
FrEsuaNRERR A R# Al BAlt  WER
Categories Sub-categories (%)  (in HKD millions) (%) (%)
g7 185 (%) (ABE#Ri) (%) (%)
Working capital and other general 100 177.0 85 15
corporate purposes
BEELRAM-RAARSE
Total 100.0 1,769.7 745 2.5
Eh
Notes: BsE

(1) The figures in the table are approximate figures.

2) The Company has fully utilized the intended use of proceeds for business
expansion, representing a 11-month delay in its expected timeframe set out
in the Prospectus. Such delay was primarily due to adjustments made to the
Group’s business development strategy as affected by the macroeconomic
environment in China.

) The Company expects to fully utilize the remaining unused net proceeds for
research and development in the next six months, representing a 19-month
delay in the expected timeframe set out in the Prospectus for recruiting and
retaining technical talent and for further developing technology stack, and
a 7-month delay in the expected timeframe set out in the Prospectus for
maintaining and strengthening IT infrastructure. Such delay was primarily due to
adjustments to the Group’s business development strategy as affected by the
macroeconomic environment in China.

(4) The Company expects to fully utilize the remaining unused net proceeds
for investments in the next 12 months, representing a 25-month delay in
its expected timeframe set out in the Prospectus. Such delay was primarily
because the operating results of potential targets were materially and adversely
affected by the outbreak of COVID-19 and the Company will continue to explore
potential investment opportunities.

The remaining balance of the net proceeds was placed with banks. The
Group will apply the remaining net proceeds in the manner set out in the
Prospectus.

(1) REANBFSEOBT -

@ ARRREMZARREFEROMEHACDHE
BRER SRR ERPAHROTRRFRERT
AR - ABEEEEZEDARNE S BERBLER
BEE  ARENEBERBBERLERE -

@  ARREF RS RE) AR RO B BV PR AS SRIEF
BRRARRNEAAEERRER - BUERERMN
A RS S i B BT A A DA K3 — S BBl
HRNTRHRFEREE T19EA - UREBERE
T2 PR RE O A K SR L (5 B R B R R e A TR I
REXREET7EA - HETEE 2 hREHE
FERERRETE  AEENEBRRBRE L

@ ARRREFRIEARE BN ARNMEE SRS FRRF
BN ARKI2(EA NEBEBER - RAEKREES
FRE e TR HARS PR SR EE25ME A - MAEEEZETD
mNEE B RS ERET N BMRR SR E
MBEBARTHFE  RARRBEERREENRE
e o

PRSRIRF BRI ER T UAE F RN IRTT - A&
BB ARERAEN T ARAKR THAE
RIEFE ©
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS

Relationship with Suppliers

Our suppliers primarily include suppliers of products sold through direct
sales on our e-commerce platform. Our largest supplier accounted for
5.87% of our total purchases for the year ended December 31, 2021.
Our top five suppliers accounted for 20.66% of our total purchases for
the year ended December 31, 2021.

Relationship with Customers

Our customers primarily include advertising customers (including
advertisers and advertising agencies), users who make purchases on
our e-commerce platform and users who purchase or subscribe for
our premium content. We have a broad base of customers. Our largest
customer (an advertising customer) for the year ended December 31,
2021 accounted for 11.71% of our revenue. Our top five customers (all
of which are advertising customer) accounted for 32.94% of our revenue
for the year ended December 31, 2021.

All of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers are independent
third parties. None of the Directors, their close associates or the
Shareholders which to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company, had any interest
in any of the five largest suppliers or customers during the year ended
December 31, 2021.

Relationship with Employees

We believe that we maintain a good working relationship with our
employees and we have not experienced any significant labor disputes
or any difficulty in recruiting staff for our operations. None of our
employees are currently represented by labor unions.

88  Annual Report 2021 | BabyTree Group

B PERS R 1R
BMOHEREEREERMOENTFEER
HiFMEHEROEER - RPN RAMHER
HERMEE S -_—F+-A=1+—HIFE
R BREN5.87% KM AT A R HEMEE R
MEE—_T-—F+_A=-+—BLEFEKE
4858 #920.66% ©

HEFRBF
BINEFPZEAREER P (BRESHRE
HRE) REMEFFaBENAPLEE
SEIBERMEEZRNTNAP - ZAMBERZHE
FER HE-_T-_—F+_-_A=+—HILF
B BN AERP(—HESEEP )EHE MW
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EUWARS2.94% ©
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the environment, giving
back to community and achieving sustainable growth. Details of such
will be set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be
published within five months after the financial year end (i.e. by 31 May
2022).

LICENCES, REGULATORY APPROVALS AND
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2021, there were no material
breaches or violations of relevant laws and regulations in China, where
the Group has business entities and operation, and the Group obtained
all material licences and permits necessary for its business in the
jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Details of our compliance with
relevant laws and regulations will be set out in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report.

BEBREERSE

AEBERNREITHEEME  BARERMN R
BR RERE DNBELSERERUHEHR
& - BARFBHENRE HeREARE
FRRESNMBRFELERRABMARCIZF
—ZFRA=+—HZzA)HE-

R - EEREREBFERER

HE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE  £&
ErTEMEBEECREL Y BEREESNE
RABBEREZENR - BEAEBERBEARAEBEL
EERERRRREFAVENEHEZE
RIRETAIEE - AR METHRBER AR

BERERE  HEREARSE °
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business operation of the
Group, and principal risks and uncertainties that the Group faces and
key mitigations that the Group adopts are summarized as follows:

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties
FTERBRTEERR

Description
it

TERBRRIEERE

SEEENEERR M T EERREAEE
REREY T BERERAGINT

Key Mitigations
T EEFIETE

Risks related to natural
disasters, health epidemics
and other outbreaks

HEAKE BEEREER
HAb A m R AR AR

Annual Report 2021 | BabyTree Group

Our operations may be adversely affected
by natural disasters, health epidemics
and other outbreaks including COVID-19,
which may lead to more intense
competition and a decrease in business
opportunities with our major clients as a
result of the worsening macroeconomic
environment in China. Any of the foregoing
events may also give rise to severe
health threats to our employees’ health,
operation interruptions or suspensions,
which may materially and adversely affect
our business, financial conditions and
results of operations.
HPWEEReEBRANE - BEAR
RIERE MR R (RIEREMA) X
THFE  PREBKBERREESHF
B MEFEEFHNEERS A
R o At ERIE 4SS EESMNIER
WRBRENRERE  CEEXDTEX
Hiz  AlRe @B RMINER - MBI K
EEEBENERTATE -

We further expanded our customer and
partner base, and explored new business
model that can mitigate the overall losses
of the Company caused by part of our
business. We also continued our proactive
measures to control the epidemic, with
an aim to protect the health and safety of
our employees and to maintain the normal
operation of our business, so that we can
mitigate the impact of the potential risks
stated above on our financial position and
operating results.

BABE-—SBRREZNEFPREHER
B AREREFEOEEEN - BB RE
DEBRIFEMS RO QR BEIRL
R B EERRARRIEHEERE - RIE
BEREEZE  #REBLEHE - A
B D DA AT B R B S T AP 0 B A AR e AR
BERENTE -
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FEERKEKIEERE@E)

(Continued)

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties
FERBRRTERERE

Description

i

Key Mitigations
T EEFIET

Uncertainty to maintain and
enhance our brand

43 IR R0 @b TR B
i3

We receive media coverage. Any
unfavorable publicity could adversely affect
our reputation. Such negative publicity
also could have an adverse effect on the
size, engagement and loyalty of our user
base and result in decreased revenue,
which could adversely affect our business
and financial results.

If we are not able to maintain and enhance
our brand, or if events that occur damage
our reputation and brand, our ability to
expand our user base may be impaired,
and our business and financial results may

be harmed.

BMEXHERE - ET‘JT?’FU H19 g
HEFINHBEERTATE - WEEBEE
Bl A %ﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬁ)ﬁﬁﬂ’ﬁﬁﬁ S E M
BHEESETAZE  WBBERETRE -

e Al §E
-7

ES R EH RS REEXT

ERFEEEE N RMNOME - HE
EEREFRMNBERMENSEMF - RAF
EARPEHBE N AT REEWHISS - ZAFIR
EBLVBREAEEXINES -

The Company has set up a professional
public relations department and team. At
the same time, we have hired a renowned
public relations firm to assist our public
relations department. They pay timely
attention to and collect public opinion,
analyze the relevant information and provide
corresponding solutions to the management
team, and the management team will take
appropriate actions in accordance with the
Company’s policies and procedures.

ARBIERIBRN AR REEK - [
H% ' ﬁTFﬁmE%?*T%D%E’J"Eﬁ"T 1580

NEAEFT - REFRI I W EEIE -
ﬁfﬁﬁﬁ ETT DAL R B IR B TR AR FEAY
R - AEEEREQRBRMRE
TNBEE Y -
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FEERKEKIEERE@E)

(Continued)

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties
FTERBRRTERERE

Description
i

Key Mitigations
T EEFIET

Risks related to the high
competitiveness of our
business

A TS R SRR T 04
PR
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We face significant competition from
M&C product and service providers. We
also face competition from traditional
and online media outlets for advertising
budgets. As we introduce new products,
as our existing products evolve, or as
other companies introduce new products
and services, we may become subject to
additional competition.

If we are unable to compete effectively,
our business, financial conditions and
results of operations may be materially
and adversely affected.

AT B 2R B B B2 AR E MR P B A R
AT - RPIEESEE DT @I EERE
MR R MBS - BEE R
HEm RAERBERENHM AR
HFERMARTS - BT EE SR

HEMEEIRFABEREF - A BMNE
% MBHAR R EEREREXINEAT
T E -

The Company pays close attention to the
changing trend of the industry, following
up the development of new technology
and the change of user experience through
timely technical innovation. By recruiting
more outstanding talents, optimizing
the organizational structure, improving
staff quality and training young staff,
the Company continuously improves its
innovation ability, concentrates resources
to strengthen the technical capability of
products and improve the environment
of technical innovation, and continuously
develops market-oriented products to meet
users’ expectation. Externally, we respond
to the market needs in a timely manner
through the co-construction of ecosystem,
combining platform advantages, finding
better partners and expanding into more
innovative areas.

RRRFEEBITERCBE  RNBA
AT RIFTIR R B R - BT AP BR
WEL  BAREEZEFAT  BcAE
BAERE RAANTEERESEFFATN
FEIRITRIFGE ) - KR ERIBEMNAE
o T 88 ) R B E BT B ¥ B0 IR IR - DB
MEFamSRAFRENER - IMELERB
HBERERG B TAEY  SHEH
BWaERHENEREZ RS - MEE
JETIZHFENK °
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FEERKEKIEERE@E)

(Continued)

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties
FERBRRTERERE

Description
i

Key Mitigations
T EEFIET

Dependence on a limited
number of key advertising
customers

KELBIERETP

A significant portion of our revenue
is attributable to a limited number of
advertising customers. We expect that
such largest customers will continue to
account for a significant portion of our
revenue in the foreseeable future. This
may lead to heightened customer or credit
concentration risks.

We derive a substantial portion of our
revenue from a limited number of key
advertising customers, which may make
our cash flow and earnings volatile. Our
long-term plan to reduce such volatility
may not be successful.
HPBAREZ —FHKE DEE
F o BFIFEBMER BARK - ZFAE
BELBRANREZ D - B3k
BEFSEESETRRINE -

BPBARZBBARBEIBTIERSE
F - @aERMNRRMENEE TR
FEME o BAPIEREREY RIARRR X TR E 1Y
REET &AL AT -

While maintaining efficient service for major
advertising customers, the Company
made more efforts to explore advertising
customers in fields not directly relating
to M&C, such as automanufacturing,
cosmetics and other fields. We also actively
introduced new types of advertising
methods, such as short videos and live
streaming, and sought strategic cooperation
with other reputable brands.

ARAERF AT ERSEPRES MR
BRRES - WK T S50 82 & B2 <A 3k
ERABNESEFPMNEENE  mAE
BUE - bk mERE - HAIEEE L
BEENA  WERERERE  AZRE
HEER IO REETERAE
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FEERKEKIEERE@E)

(Continued)

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties
FTERBRRTERERE

Description
i

Key Mitigations
T EEFIET

Risks related to confidential
information of our online users
and our network

AR P VR AR R A
HY A% AE RE Y LR

For risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements, please see
section headed “Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements” in this

Directors’ Report.
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Our platforms collect, store and process
personal and other sensitive data from our
users. Users are required to provide bio
data for registration on our platforms.

Our security measures may be breached
due to employee error, malfeasance,
system errors or vulnerabilities, or
otherwise. Failure to protect confidential
information of our online users and our
network against security breaches, any
actual or perceived failure by us or third
parties to comply with applicable data
protection laws and regulations or privacy
policies could substantially harm our
business, financial condition and results of
operations.

BT erAPRELEER REME
REUIB A RIF RERIE - P RIRHAEYE
BAB AR F & L

BN L 2ERAIEEE THHR &
B R R SRR SR BRI -
REEREERAP AT ER RPN
HME2RARBEMAXE=TEEIKRR
REEETERABEBEREERERUBLEK
RAIBEERARRE LRERFNES - B

AN
(=)
AN
(=)

The Company has the responsibility
to protect users’ sensitive information,
and has always listed users’ private
information as the highest level of sensitive
information of the Company. The Company
has established relevant systems and
control measures for sensitive information
management, including the establishment of
an effective management system to ensure
the security of sensitive information through
encryption technology, data access rights
control and procedure control. Meanwhile,
the Company’s independent professional
team will regularly check the protection of
sensitive information, as well as conducting
training and promotion for the awareness of
information security to enhance employees’
awareness of protecting sensitive
information.

RARIAREAFPFREANEME  —H
VAR A P REALDI R AN A Rl & = AR B BV 8L
REM  WEBRUBREANETIEHEEST
ErAEGERE BREVERNERR
Fe o BBINE RN - PEHIE R R AR &
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SUBSEQUENT EVENT

There was no occurrence of any important events which affected the
Group since the year ended December 31, 2021 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2021 and the
state of the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 142 to 143 of this annual report.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2021 (for the year ended December 31,
2020: Nil).

Distributable Reserves

As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s distributable reserves
calculated under the Companies Law comprise the share premium
and retained profits totalling approximately RMB10,395.6 million
(RMB10,501.2 million as of December 31, 2020).

Reserves

Changes to the reserves of the Group during the year ended December
31, 2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
in this annual report.

HEREIR

BEE_Z_—F+A=+—HILLFEUXK

MEEREBEBEREATEE  RELTMPFEARN
EEMEREM -

g S
AEEBE-_TE-_—F+_A=+—HULFE

MEENAEEBHZZBHNT SR RITEH
RARFEREF142E Z143B N IEHRERA ©
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended December 31, 2021 are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2021 are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Bank Borrowings and other Loans
There are no bank borrowings and other loans of the Group as at
December 31, 2021.

Charge on Assets
There was no charge on the Group’s assets as at December 31, 2021.

Donation
There was no donations made by the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2021.

Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 2 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended December 31, 2021, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any other listed
securities of the Company.

Annual Report 2021 | BabyTree Group

g EC )

M- BERRE
REBHE_Z-_—F+_HA=+—HILFE
BmE  BMERIEZHFBINAFERE
B OISR -

&N
RARBEZS-_—F+-A=T—RHIEFE
R AN ZEFIBHNAFERE S HIBHRE
BizEos o

RITERREMER
AEER T —F+_-_A=+—BLEEW
RITERBREAME R -

EEER

RZZE-—F+-A=+—H  AEBIEIK
HEAEE -

B
AEEREE-_E-_—F+-_A=+—HLF
EWEIBIK -

MBME
AEERBEREMBRFENSNERERE
EERBERIHENANFERES2E - IHEL
TEREEZE HUBHRERNO—FD

BE HEFEEALQF LHES

BE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—BLFE £&A
RAIRENBARTEES  HENXERIAQF
EfEM EMFES -



Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

DIRECTORS =
The Directors of the Company during the year ended December 31, ARARRHE_E-_—F+_A=+—HBItHF
2021 and up to the Latest Practicable Date were: ErREESEERATRNESR !

Name Position/Title

] 7%, SR

GAO Min Executive Director, co-chairman of the Board (appointed as non-executive Director on

at
&

XU Chong
(e

PAN Zhiyong
BEB

WANG Huainan

E g7

QIAN Shunjiang

=BT

CHEN Bing
BeR 7k

CHEN Weijun
BRIETE

WU Ying
REE

January 20, 2021, appointed as vice chairman of the Board on March 30, 2021, appointed
as co-chairman of the Board on June 18, 2021 and re-designated from a non-executive
Director to an executive Director on July 28, 2021)
BITESRESFEMREIR(N_T_—F—A= + REZERFATEE IR _-F
Z—FZA=ZTREZERESEGRITRE RE_—FR AT/ \BEZETREFSHT
TR RR B —FHtAZ T+ \BHEATESFRHEANTES)

Executive Director

WITES

Executive Director (appointed on January 20, 2021 and resigned on July 28, 2021)
WIEE(RZE—F—AZTHEZE  URZZE=—FtA=Z+N\BHEHE)

Non-executive Director, co-chairman of the Board (resigned as Chief Executive Officer and
re-designated from an executive Director to a non-executive Director on January 20, 2021)
FRTEFREFEME IR (N T —F - AT HEETRAERL HATESRE
RIFRITES

Non-executive Director (appointed on January 20, 2021)

FRTEEFMN T —F—F - THEZE)

Non-executive Director (appointed on July 28, 2021)
FTEEF(RN 2 —FtAZT/\BEEE)

Non-executive Director (appointed on June 18, 2021)

FRTEEFM T —F A +/\REZE)

Non-executive Director

FHITES

Christian Franz REITERMANN  Non-executive Director
Christian Franz REITERMANN  ZEi{TE %
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Name

]

EEm)

Position/Title
BSR4

WANG Changying

ERA

CAl Yumin

BEEH

YAN Jia

BRE

CHEN Guanglei
BREE

De-chao Michael YU
Bl

SHIAH Hung-Yu
Bal&

ZHANG Hongjiang
ZHANG Hongjiang

Non-executive Director (resigned as vice chairman of the Board on March 30, 2021 and
resigned as non-executive Director on June 18, 2021)

FATEE(R B —F=A=THBEEEFSFFE IR _ZE_—FA+/\BH
ERIENTESR)

Non-executive Director (resigned on January 20, 2021)
TR R (R =B = —%— A= RHE)

Non-executive Director (resigned on January 20, 2021)
EHITEE(R S -—F— B -+HEH/T)

Independent non-executive Director

BIFRITES

Independent non-executive Director

BIUFRITES

Independent non-executive Director

BIUFRITES

Independent non-executive Director

BIUFBITES

Pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association, Mr. CHEN Weijun  1RIB/ASIZMEIEFE16.215  HRIR T = —
and Mr. CHEN Bing who were appointed as non-executive Directors on & XA+ \BE - ZE-—F+ A -+ \BEE
June 18, 2021 and July 28, 2021 respectively by the Board will retre ~ E& (T AIEHTTE FERIBRAE 54 MEUKE
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AR EREMRBFAE LRI BELEHE

AGM.

WREERBRBERNSG LE&E(E -

In addition, pursuant to Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Mr.  Itt4h - 1R IEEL S EMEIE16.191F - RE %
WU Ying, Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN, Mr. De-chao Michael YU 4 - Christian Franz REITERMANN7E 4 + g7 f&
and Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang shall retire by rotation and, being eligible, i % 4 & ZHANG Hongjiang 4t 4 #5 7 & & IR 2R

offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

BEAE LWERT  REEEBLBAERK
RBFREG LERE(E-

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the ZARRIREZEARBRAIITHHNEZERSHE R
Company as at the Latest Practicable Date are set out in the section EHEFEFBEHANFEERE(EELSRER
headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report. [& ] —&f -
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of Appointment
Following the appointment of Mr. WANG Changying as the vice chairman
of the Company on March 30, 2020, no new appointment letter has
been executed. His appointment letter as a non-executive Director
entered into with the Company on November 1, 2018 continued. He has
signed a letter of resignation with the Company on June 18, 2021.

Mr. PAN Zhiyong has signed a service contract with the Company for
a term of three years commencing from January 20, 2021. Mr. PAN
has signed a letter of resignation with the Company on July 28, 2022.
Mr. WANG Huainan has signed a letter of resignation as an executive
Director and a letter of appointment as a non-executive Director with
the Company for a term of three years commecing from January 20,
2021. Mr. QIAN Shunjiang has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from January 20, 2021.
Mr. GAO Min has signed a letter of appointment with the Company for
a term of three years commencing from January 20, 2021. Following
the appointment of Mr. GAO Min as the Vice Chairman of the Board
on March 30, 2021, no new appointment letter has been executed and
his appointment letter as a non-executive Director entered into with the
Company on January 20, 2021 continued. Following his re-designation
from a non-executive Director to an executive Director with effect from
July 28, 2021, the Company has entered into a service contract with
Mr. GAO Min for a term of three years commencing from July 28, 2021.
Mr. CHEN Weijun has signed a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from June 18, 2021. Mr. CHEN
Bing has signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from July 28, 2021. Mr. WU Ying has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from January 20, 2020. Each of Ms. CAl Yumin and Ms.
YAN Jia has signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from June 30, 2020 and each has
signed a letter of resignation with the Company on January 20, 2021.
Each of Mr. XU Chong, Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN, Mr. CHEN
Guanglei and Mr. De-chao Michael YU has signed a service contract
or an appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from November 26, 2021. Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from June 30, 2020. Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang has signed
a service contract with the Company for a term of period from April 1,
2022 to June 30, 2022.

EEm)

EERBEOREER
RERBAEE-_TS-_TF=-A=-1THEZT
RARFBIERER  WAEFTSLHRTE -
ERFNTEFTEARANR T /\F+—A
—HAZMEZEREHE - RER-_T_—F
NATNBBEARRBZRREHER

BEBAELACEARAFEITREEY B -F
——F—A-t+HEBRAEH=F - BELEERZ
T FE AT N\BEARQFFE BT -
TIEEAAECBARRERBHINTES KM
MERTESZTRY BT Z—F— A
T+HBAH=F BIE LA RKNTE]
ZEH B -_—F—A=-t+HRAH=
FoGHELCERARRFILZIN B -F
Z—F—AZ+HREHR=F - REBIELERL
TE - F=-A=+HEEAAEECRTR
% WEFINHEEER  BR-_E=—F—A
Z+HBEARBIAERITERR (T REE
AN EE - E-—F+A -+ /\BEhIE
HOTESATARPTESE KRR EHSH
SR RBAY B2 —F+tA-+N
HRAH=F - MEERILECEHARRFIZ
Tk B2 _—F A+ \BEAH=F -
PRIKSGCAEEBARNBREZTR BT Z—
FEA-ZTN\HEAH=F - RELECHER
RAFTEITH BT -_TF—F-1+H#E
ABH=F  BEHLETRBEELTCHRIER
NAIBFTETH B -_ZTFA=1+H#
ABH=F WR-_E-_—F—A-+AHRHE
KRBT BHEIK o RBP4 ~ Christian Franz
REITERMANNYC A « FRIEZ S5 A RafEiiB k£
EORIEAQNRRIREENRETER B
T-—F+—A -+ BRAH=F - E,B
SHEENNRRETLZERK BT -TF XA
=+ HRBRABH=F - ZHANG Hongjiang %t £ E
WEARNREIREEY  AHE T -_—FH
A—HRE-_E-_—F,A=+HIF-
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of Appointment
(Continued)

The service contracts and appointment letters may be renewed in
accordance with the Articles of Association and the applicable rules.
None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with members of the Group that is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

Confirmation of Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors (being Mr. CHEN Guanglei, Mr. De-chao
Michael YU, Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu and Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang), and
the Company considers such Directors to be independent for the year
ended December 31, 2021.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions as disclosed in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements and the connected transactions as
disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”
in this Directors’ Report, there was no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director and/or any of its connected entity
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly subsisted at the
end of, or at any time during the year ended December 31, 2021. The
Company did not have any controlling shareholder at any time during the
year ended December 31, 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2021, the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company had the following interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which have been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests and short positions
which the Directors and the chief executives of the Company are taken
and deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or which are
required to be and are recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing
Rules:

Interest in Shares of the Company

EERBSTHRAERRAD - 186
ROOREEENEDRNXR

RZZFZ—F+ZA=+t—0 EFHARFA
BRITHRABRNAR A SKE AR AE(EE &
%&Hﬁﬁﬂﬂ PISEXVER) MRsAn - FRRARR 1) K (B
& A IR IR o R R IR B BXVEE BT R B

8D RPAME NN LB RS IA R (B
REFIARAZRSTBRABREBEESLRE

{EPIE A BRSO E R AT E M s gk
B) - HREE S M HE D 35216 A% IF

Il Ffr 3t 5 5 H%Zfaa : _52/,\$ETJ%J:FH%EH'JW¢$
#H'J/,ﬁﬂ@zli 56 22 P B #E 25 SO B 0
B

RAEQ T RD KRS

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued

Name of Director Nature of interest/Capacity ordinary Shares share capital®
HEBITRAE

EEpA EEMNE 55 EREREE BHED ke
Mr. WANG Huainan® Interest in controlled corporations 370,096,250@ 22.29%
EEmEED RS EE R 370,096,2502 22.29%
Interest under voting agreements 39,687,846 2.39%

KRE R TR 39,687,846® 2.39%

Mr. XU Chong Beneficial owner 63,082,076@ 3.80%
R EnEEA 63,082,076 3.80%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Interest in Shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1)

As at December 31, 2021, 370,096,250 Shares are held by Wang Family
Limited Partnership, which is owned by Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings Limited
(general partner of Wang Family Limited Partnership) as to 0.01%, Golden Leaf
Holdings Limited (sole shareholder of Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings Limited)
as to 30%, and Mr. WANG Huainan in the capacity of trustee of Allen Wang
Grantor Retained Annuity Trust (a limited partner of Wang Family Limited
Partnership) as to 39.99%. Mr. WANG Huainan is the sole shareholder of
Golden Leaf Holdings Limited and founder of Allen Wang Grantor Retained
Annuity Trust. Accordingly, he is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Wang Family Limited Partnership under the SFO.

As at December 31, 2021, pursuant to the voting agreements dated September
10, 2018 entered into by Tenzing Holdings 2011, Ltd. (“Tenzing”) with Mr.
WANG Huainan, Mr. WANG Huainan as an attorney has the right to vote over all
the 39,687,846 Shares held by Tenzing.

All the Shares are held in long position.

As at December 31, 2021, the total number of issued Shares of the Company
was 1,660,711,609.
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BEERBESTHRAERRKY - HEE
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RAER TR 8RS ()
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U

WZEZ—F+=H=+—H 370,096,250 %
fi% 15 % %% B Wang Family Limited Partnership #
A - ifMWang Family Limited Partnership F Golden
Leaf Cayman Holdings Limited (Wang Family Limited
Partnership ) & i@ & % A ) £ 0.01% ~ Golden
Leaf Holdings Limited (Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings
Limited #9 M — FRUER ) 45 5 30% M T 1 3 55 4 A
Allen Wang Grantor Retained Annuity Trust (Wang
Family Limited Partnership 81 B[R & % A ) X 7t
A S 15 $5539.99% © L %7 5t 4 & Golden Leaf
Holdings Limited) M — P& 2 Allen Wang Grantor
Retained Annuity Trust® 8137 A © it - RIEZE
F R HEE GG - % A8 B K Wang Family Limited
PartnershipFTH 8 B B #E S o

R—ZZT=—_—F+=-A=+—8  BETenzing
Holdings 2011, Ltd. ([ Tenzing J) 22 T 12 FF & A 7]
VHBRAZZ—/\FLATANEERE T
EEEEERRIEABEMTenzingHF B ) 2
39,687,846 AR 1A 1R R -

ERMIGAFEHEE -
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D HAEE A1,660,711,6090% °
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Equity Interest in Zhongming (an associated corporation of
the Company)

Name of Director

Nature of interest/Capacity

BEERBETHAERKD - HE
R R EREENER AR @)
REBIE (A D TAEEEE) 1R

Approximate percentage
of equity interest

EERA ERMtE 54 HRESINE DL
Mr. WANG Huainan® Beneficial owner 79.66%
FTIEmR LD EmEA A 79.66%

Interest in controlled corporations 0.47%

REESEE SR 0.47%
Mr. XU Chong® Interest in controlled corporations 2.53%
TRBA SR REESEE SR 2.53%

Notes: BSE

(1) As at December 31, 2021, Mr. WANG Huainan directly held approximately
79.66% equity interest in Zhongming. As he also is the general partner of
Ningbo Baoshu, he is therefore deemed to be interested in the equity interest
held by Ningbo Baoshu in Zhongming under the SFO.

2 As at December 31, 2021, Mr. XU Chong was the general partner of Ningbo
Zhishan, Ningbo Honghu and Ningbo Yimengweima, which held equity interest
in Zhongming as to approximately 1.76%, 0.47% and 0.30%, respectively. Mr.
XU Chong is therefore deemed to be interested in such equity interest held by
Ningbo Zhishan, Ningbo Honghu and Ningbo Yimengweima respectively under
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2021, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO
or which had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules. Save as
disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below, at no
time was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and chief executives
of the Company (including their spouse and children under 18 years of
age) to hold any interest or short positions in the Shares or underlying
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

) RIZE-_—F+-A=+—0 FEBEtLtER
A RISH79.66%AHE - NI IFAE R BRI
EBABA  FUIREESRBEED - KR
RNER B PR S ok A M -

@ WZE-—F+-_F=+—0 HHELEAER
2E BEBRBERERNEZASNEBEBEAEA
MZERADBRBRERFEL1.76% * 0.47% &
0.30% %1 - FULRIEEH REBAEGA - wWxE
WEARNEREE  FRBERERUNZEEH
AR EPHEE R -

BEXBEEEN R_T-_—F+_-H
=t—R BFERARAKRSTHRAERRER
AR REBEEE (EERER LG GRS
XVER) OB  AERIR) S E S A AR AR 1E
BN AR BMREE LB G55 352(%
FEMNBRMOERZEIORE  HEREL
AR B P8 RO ARE <P B R & AN X B) BB R P Y
TR SORR © BN X[ BT &) | — & PT
WEEIN  MEMAERE - ARF] - RERAF
SEEMMERRBMET L ERLH - REE
EMARARZRSTHRAB(BREENLB LA
mt A\BEEFLORARR A EE(EE
R M EERBISEXVED) 89 i 17 S AR R A 173X
BHFEPHEEAERIOXE
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at December 31, 2021, so far as is known to the Director or chief
executives of the Company, the persons or corporations (other than
Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interest or short
positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporation(s) which were required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under section

336 of the SFO were as follows:

FTERFREEMALTRERMD KA
BRAD AR RO R

REFHLARARSTRABMRM  R-F
T—F+ZA=1t—H  RAQFHHEB
B AR P B REES KRR K
FIFEXVER 2} 370 BE R IR A EE T AR R
R R RARARERE 7 L PEERDIE
361K ERTFENELCMANEREIAB A
THEBE(EERARARHTHABRIN A0
I

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary Shares share capital®
HEBITRAE

BRREE BB B, REmtE EREREE RN Eagray
Fosun International Limited® Interest in controlled corporations 819,462,553 49.34%
BEBRERAERARO REZEEE 819,462,553© 49.34%
Beneficial owner 12,838,000 0.77%

EnEEA 12,838,0000 0.77%

Fosun Holdings Limited® Interest in controlled corporations 832,300,553 50.12%
EEERBRARO R EE R RS 832,300,55360 50.12%
Fosun International Holdings Ltd.( Interest in controlled corporations 832,300,553 50.12%
18 2 BRI A BR A R0 REEELEE RS 832,300,553© 50.12%
Mr. GUO Guangchang™ Interest in controlled corporations 832,300,553 50.12%
BEEFE REEENEE RS 832,300,553© 50.12%
Startree (BVI) Limited® Beneficial owner 469,390,0216© 28.26%
Startree (BVI) Limited™ BEREAA 469,390,0216 28.26%
Fosun Health Holdings Limited® Interest in controlled corporations 469,390,0216© 28.26%
Fosun Health Holdings Limited® RS2 #AE AR 469,390,0216! 28.26%
Ms. TANG Yu®® Interest of spouse 409,784,096© 24.68%
TANG YuZz1-@® A (@i 409,784,096 24.68%
Wang Family Limited Partnership® Beneficial owner 370,096,250© 22.29%
Wang Family Limited Partnership® Ez5#HE A 370,096,2500) 22.29%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Name of Shareholder

Capacity/Nature of interest

FTERFREHMATRARKRG RIERE
ROMERRAE @)

Number of
ordinary Shares

Approximate
percentage of
the issued
share capital®

HEBITRAE
BRMEHB B REENE EEREE BORD O
Golden Leaf Holdings Limited® Interest in a controlled corporation 370,096,2500 22.29%
Golden Leaf Holdings Limited® REIEHEE R R 370,096,2500! 22.29%
Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings Interest in a controlled corporation 370,096,2500 22.29%
Limited®
Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings RZIEHEE R S 370,096,2506! 22.29%
Limited®
Shanghai Fosun High Technology Having a security interest in share 347,805,0320 20.94%
(Group) Co., Ltd.™
PEEESHR(EE)BERARTO HAERNMREES 347,805,0320 20.94%
Taobao China Holding Limited® Beneficial owner 165,212,4576© 9.95%
BB EEAER AR BEHEAA 165,212,457 9.95%
Taobao Holding Limited Interest in controlled corporations 165,212,4570 9.95%
AEERAER AR REEHLEE RS 165,212,4576) 9.95%
Alibaba Group Holding Limited4 Interest in controlled corporations 165,212,4570 9.95%
Alibaba Group Holding Limited® A S3EHAEREZ 165,212,457 9.95%
TAL Education Group® Beneficial owner 144,466,006© 8.70%
IFREHE REO BEHEAA 144,466,0060! 8.70%
Bright Unison Limited® Interest in controlled corporations 144,466,006© 8.70%
Bright Unison Limited® REIEHEE R R 144,466,006© 8.70%
Mr. ZHANG Bangxin® Interest in controlled corporations 144,466,006© 8.70%
RIELLES REEHLEE RS 144,466,0060! 8.70%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes:

(1)

As at December 31, 2021, Startree (BVI) Limited beneficially owns 469,390,021
Shares. Startree (BVI) Limited is wholly owned by Fosun Health Holdings
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fosun International Limited. Accordingly,
Fosun Health Holdings Limited and Fosun International Limited are deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Startree (BVI) Limited. As at December 31,
2021, Fosun International Limited beneficially owns 12,838,000 Shares and
is also deemed to be interested in 2,267,500 Shares held by its subsidiary,
Fidelidade — Companhia de Seguros, S.A. and 347,805,032 Shares held
by its wholly-owned subsidiary, Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group)
Co., Ltd. The controlling shareholder of Fosun International Limited is Fosun
Holdings Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fosun International
Holdings Ltd. Mr. GUO Guangchang (2f& &) is the controlling shareholder of
Fosun International Holdings Ltd. Accordingly, Mr. GUO Guangchang, Fosun
International Holdings Ltd. and Fosun Holdings Limited are deemed to be
interested in a total of 832,300,553 Shares, in which Fosun International Limited
is interested or deemed to be interested.

Ms. TANG Yu is the spouse of Mr. WANG Huainan. By virtue of the SFO, Ms.
TANG Yu is deemed to be interested in the Shares of the Company in which Mr.
WANG Huainan is deemed to be interested.

Wang Family Limited Partnership was set up by Mr. WANG Huainan and
his wife (Ms. TANG Yu). As at December 31, 2021, Wang Family Limited
Partnership is owned by Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings Limited (general partner
of Wang Family Limited Partnership) as to 0.01%, Golden Leaf Holdings Limited
(sole shareholder of Golden Leaf Cayman Holdings Limited) as to 30%, and
Mr. WANG Huainan in the capacity of trustee of Allen Wang Grantor Retained
Annuity Trust (a limited partner of Wang Family Limited Partnership) as to
39.99%. Mr. WANG Huainan is the sole shareholder of Golden Leaf Holdings
Limited and founder of Allen Wang Grantor Retained Annuity Trust. Accordingly,
each of Mr. WANG Huainan, Golden Leaf Holdings Limited and Golden Leaf
Cayman Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Wang Family Limited Partnership under the SFO.

As at December 31, 2021, each of Taobao Holding Limited (the sole shareholder
of Taobao China Holding Limited) and Alibaba Group Holding Limited (the
sole shareholder of Taobao Holding Limited) is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Taobao China Holding Limited under the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

5) As at December 31, 2021, each of Bright Unison Limited and its related parties
(largest shareholder of TAL Education Group as to 26.4% with in aggregate
voting power as to 71.9% as at December 31, 2021) and Mr. ZHANG Bangxin
(3R #82%) (sole shareholder of Bright Unison Limited) is deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by TAL Education Group under the SFO.

6) All the Shares are held in long position.

(7) As at December 31, 2021, the total number of issued Shares of the Company
was 1,660,711,609.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2021, the Directors
have not been notified by any person (not being the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended December 31, 2021.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on June 13, 2019 and was amended at the
extraordinary general meeting held on October 26, 2021. For details of
the amendments, see the circular issued by the Company on October 7,
2021. The purpose of the share option scheme is to attract, retain and
motivate talented employees to strive towards long-term performance
targets set by the Group and to provide them with an incentive to work
better for the interest of the Group. The share option scheme will link
the value of the Company with the interests of the participants, enabling
the participants and the Company to develop together and promote the
Company’s corporate culture.

Eligible participants of the share option scheme include any directors,
employees, officers or consultant(s) of the Company and/or its
subsidiaries who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have
contributed or will contribute to the Group. The total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each
eligible participant (including both exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) under the share option scheme or any other share option
schemes adopted by the Company (and to which the provisions of
chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. Any further grant of
options which would result in the number of Shares issued as aforesaid
exceeding the said 1% limit must be subject to prior Shareholders’
approval with the relevant eligible participant and his close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) (or his associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) if the eligible participant is a connected person) abstaining
from voting.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Each grant of options to any Director, chief executive or Substantial
Shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective associates)
shall be subject to the prior approval of the independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director who is
a proposed grantee of the option). Where any grant of options to a
Substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or
any of their respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules),
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such grant: (a) representing in aggregate
over 0.1% (or such other higher percentage as may from time to time be
specified by the Stock Exchange) of the Shares in issue; and (b) having
an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date
of such grant, in excess of HK$5 million (or such other higher amount
as may from time to time be specified by the Stock Exchange), such
grant of options shall be subject to prior approval by the Shareholders
(voting by way of poll) in general meeting. The grantee, his associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) and all core connected persons (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company shall abstain from voting in favour at
such general meeting.

The offer of a grant of options may be accepted within 28 days from
the date of offer, upon payment of HK$1.00 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the options granted is determined by the Board, save
that such a period shall not be more than 10 years commencing from
the date of offer of the options, subject to any restrictions imposed at the
Board’s discretion. Subject to such terms and conditions as the Board
may determine, there is no minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised.

Subject to any adjustments made pursuant to the terms of the Scheme,
the exercise price shall be at a price determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion and notified to the participant and shall be at least
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of offer; (ii)
the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and (jii) the nominal value of a
Share on the date of offer.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The share option scheme remains valid for a period of ten years
commencing on June 13, 2019. As of December 31, 2021, no option
had been granted or agreed to be granted, and thus no options had
been exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the share option scheme. As
a result, the total number of Shares available for grant under the share
option scheme was 166,071,160, representing 10% of the total shares
in issue of the Company as of October 26, 2021, the date of approval of
the increased share option scheme mandate.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws in the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders of the
Company.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Directors believe that the ability to attract, motivate and retain skilled
and experienced personnel is of significant importance to the long-term
successful development of the Group. The remuneration package for
our employees generally includes salary and bonuses. We determine
employee remuneration based on factors such as qualifications and
years of experience. Employees also receive welfare benefits, including
medical care, retirement benefits, occupational injury insurance and
other miscellaneous items. We make contributions to mandatory social
security funds for our employees to provide for retirement, medical,
work-related injury, maternity and unemployment benefits. The Group
has established a Remuneration Committee to review the policy and
structure of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management
and make recommendations on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. In general,
the Group determines the emolument payable to its Directors based
on each Director’s qualifications, experience, time commitment and
responsibilities, salaries paid by comparable companies as well as the
performance of the Group.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Particulars of the employee benefits of the Group are set out in note 6(b)
to the consolidated financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the Latest Practicable Date and based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors,
the Company has maintained minimum public float of 25% as required
under the Listing Rules.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY’S
SECURITIES AND EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

At no time during the year ended December 31, 2021 was the Company,
or any of its holding companies or subsidiaries, or any of its fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief
executive of the Company or their respective associates to subscribe
for securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations as
defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate,
nor did the Company enter into any equity-linked agreement.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had engaged in or had any interest in any business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group in 2021.

In order to eliminate any future competition with us, Mr. WANG Huainan
undertook to us on November 6, 2018 that, so long as he remains as
the largest Shareholder of the Company, he will not, and will procure
all companies he controls not to engage in or develop any business
competing or potentially competing with our main business or key
products, including investment in, mergers and acquisitions of any
companies, entities or economic organizations engaged in the same
or similar core business or primarily manufacturing the same or similar
products. In addition, he acknowledged that the Group shall have
priority to develop any new business in the future, and he will not, and
will procure any companies controlled by him not to develop such new
business. Mr. WANG Huainan has ceased to be the largest Shareholder
of the Company with effect from October 10, 2019.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that every Director, auditor or other
officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him as a Director, auditor or other officer of the Company in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in
his favour, or in which he is acquitted. Subject to the Companies Act,
if any Director or other person shall become personally liable for the
payment of any sum primarily due from the Company, the Board may
execute or cause to be executed any mortgage, charge, or security
over or affecting the whole or any part of the assets of the Company by
way of indemnity to secure the Director or person so becoming liable
as aforesaid from any loss in respect of such liability. Such provisions
were in force throughout the year ended December 31, 2021 and are
currently in force. The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
cover for Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal actions that may be
brought against the Directors.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

We set out below a summary of the continuing connected transactions
conducted/carried out by the Group for the year ended December 31,
2021, which are subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Contractual Arrangements

The Company has entered into a series of contractual arrangements
(the “Contractual Arrangements”) with BabyTree Information,
Zhongming and the Registered Shareholders of Zhongming, under
which the Company gained effective control over, and received all the
economic benefits generated by the business currently operated by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entity. The Contractual Arrangements allow the
financial results of the Consolidated Affiliated Entity to be consolidated
and accounted for as if they were subsidiaries of our Company.

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements

We are engaged in the provision of Internet content services (the
“Relevant Businesses”) in the PRC, which is considered value-added
telecommunication services, a sector where foreign investment is subject
to restrictions under the PRC laws and regulations.

Our Consolidated Affiliated Entity is Zhongming, a company established
under the laws of the PRC, which holds the requisite license, permit and
approval required for the provision of Internet content services through
our mobile apps and websites in the PRC, including the ICP license,
which are essential to the operation of our business. For further details
of the limitations on foreign ownership in PRC companies conducting
value-added telecommunications services and the licensing and
approval requirement applicable to our business under the PRC laws
and regulations, please see section headed “Regulatory Overview —
Laws and Regulations in Relation to Foreign Investments in the Value-
added Telecommunications Industry” in the Prospectus.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Since the Relevant Businesses are classified as foreign investment
restricted businesses under applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules and
there is no clear guidance or interpretation of any applicable qualification
requirements, in order to comply with PRC laws and regulations and
maintain effective control over our Internet content service operations,
our Group entered into the Contractual Arrangements with Zhongming
and the Registered Shareholders. Under the Contractual Arrangements,
BabyTree Information has acquired effective control over the financial
and operational management and results of Zhongming and is entitled
to all the economic benefits derived from the operations of Zhongming.
The Contractual Arrangements enable us to (i) receive substantially all of
the economic benefits from Zhongming in consideration for the services
provided by BabyTree Information to Zhongming under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement; (ii) exercise effective control over
Zhongming to conduct the relevant business; and (jii) hold an exclusive
option to purchase all or any part of equity interests in Zhongming and/
or assets or interests in any of the assets of Zhongming.

Our Directors, including our independent non-executive Directors, are
of the view that (i) the Contractual Arrangements are fundamental to our
Group’s legal structure and business operations; and (i) the Contractual
Arrangements are on normal commercial terms or on terms more
favorable to our Group in the ordinary and usual course of our Group’s
business and are fair and reasonable or to the advantage of our Group
and are in the interests of our Shareholders as a whole.

Accordingly, notwithstanding that the transactions contemplated
under the Contractual Arrangements technically constitute continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, our
Directors consider that, given that our Group is placed in a special
situation in relation to the connected transactions rules under the
Contractual Arrangements, it would be unduly burdensome and
impracticable, and would add unnecessary administrative costs to our
Company, for all the transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements to be subject to strict compliance with the requirements
set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, including, among other
things, the announcement and approval of independent Shareholders.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of these risks are set out on pages 84 to
90 of the Prospectus.

° If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our business in China do not comply
with PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, we could be subject to severe
consequences and the relinquishment of our interests in the
Consolidated Affiliated Entity.

° Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership and our Consolidated
Affiliated Entity or its shareholders may fail to perform their
obligations under our Contractual Arrangements.

° We may lose the ability to use the permits and licenses held by
Zhongming that are important to the operation of our business
if Zhongming declares bankruptcy or become subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

° Shareholders of Zhongming may potentially have a conflict of
interest with us, and they may breach their contracts with us or
cause such contracts to be amended in a manner contrary to our
interests.

o We conduct relevant business operation in the PRC through
our Consolidated Affiliated Entity by way of the Contractual
Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements may not be enforceable under PRC laws.

° If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership of our
Consolidated Affiliated Entity, the ownership transfer may subject us
to certain limitations and substantial costs.

° Our Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by
the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be imposed. A
finding that we owe additional taxes could substantially reduce
our consolidated net income and the value of Shareholders’
investment.

We face uncertainties with respect to the implementation of the FIL
and how it may impact the viability of our current corporate structure,
corporate governance and business operations.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Since January 1, 2020, the FIL, which was approved by the National
People’s Congress of People’s Republic of China (% A RIALFE A
RAREXA=) on March 15, 2019 has taken effect, replaced the Sino-
Foreign Equity Joint Venture Enterprise Law ({FINE EELEDEEL)),
the Sino-Foreign Cooperative Joint Venture Enterprise Law ({#4h&
TE&LZ{b35%) ) and the Wholly Foreign-Owned Enterprise Law ({4
BZEJL)), together with their implementation rules and ancillary
regulations, and become the legal foundation for foreign investment
in the PRC. The FIL embodies an expected PRC regulatory trend to
rationalize its foreign investment regulatory regime in line with prevailing
international practice and the legislative efforts to unify the corporate
legal requirements for both foreign and domestic investments. Under
the FIL, “foreign investment” refers to the investment activities directly
or indirectly conducted by foreign individuals, enterprises or other
entities in China. The FIL stipulates three forms of foreign investment,
and does not explicitly stipulate contractual arrangements as a form
of foreign investment. However, it has a catch-all provision under
definition of “foreign investment” to include investments made by
foreign investors in China through means stipulated by laws or
administrative regulations or other methods prescribed by the State
Council. Therefore, there are possibilities that future laws, administrative
regulations or provisions prescribed by the State Council may regard
contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment, at which
time it would be uncertain as to whether foreign investment via
contractual arrangements would be deemed to be in violation of the
foreign investment access requirements and how the abovementioned
contractual arrangements would be regulated. On December 26, 2019,
the State Council issued the Implementation Regulations for the Foreign
Investment Law of the PRC ({F#E A R £ FMBEIMNE IR EEE 5
f51)) (the “Implementation Regulations”) which became effective on
January 1, 2020. The Implementation Regulations also does not specify
contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment. There is no
guarantee that the contractual arrangements and our business will not
be materially and adversely affected in the future due to changes in
PRC laws and regulations. If future laws, administrative regulations or
provisions prescribed by the State Council mandate further actions to
be completed by companies with existing contractual arrangements,
we may face substantial uncertainties as to whether such actions can
be timely completed, or at all. Failure to take timely and appropriate
measures to cope with any of these or similar regulatory compliance
challenges could materially and adversely affect our current corporate
structure and business operations.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements

The Contractual Arrangements which were in place during the year
ended December 31, 2019 and a brief description of the major terms
of the structured contracts under the Contractual Arrangements are as
follows:

° Exclusive Option and Equity Entrustment Agreement

Zhongming and the Registered Shareholders entered into the
Exclusive Option and Equity Entrustment Agreement with BabyTree
Information on May 23, 2018, pursuant to which (i) BabyTree
Information, or any third party designated by BabyTree Information
(the “designee”), was granted an irrevocable and exclusive right
to purchase from each of the Registered Shareholders all or any
part of their equity interests in Zhongming at a fixed exercise price
(the “Exercise Price”) and/or from Zhongming all or any part of
its assets or interests in any of its assets, for a consideration with
reference to the total or relevant portion of the Exercise Price, and (i)
the Registered Shareholders irrevocably and exclusively entrusted
their equity interest in Zhongming to BabyTree Information or the
designee. Pursuant to the Exclusive Option and Equity Entrustment
Agreement, the Registered Shareholders shall return any amount
of purchase price exceeding the Exercise Price they have received
to BabyTree Information. At BabyTree Information’s request, the
Registered Shareholders and/or Zhongming will promptly and
unconditionally transfer their respective equity interest in and/or
assets of Zhongming to BabyTree Information (or its designee)
after BabyTree Information exercises its purchase right. The
Exclusive Option and Equity Entrustment Agreement will remain
effective until the purchase right thereunder is exercised.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued)
Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements

(Continued)

° Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Zhongming and the Registered Shareholders entered into the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement with BabyTree
Information on May 23, 2018, pursuant to which Zhongming
agreed to engage BabyTree Information as its exclusive provider
of management, consultancy, technical support, business
support and equipment services. Under these arrangements, the
service fees, subject to BabyTree Information’s adjustment, shall
consist of all of the profit before taxes of Zhongming. BabyTree
Information may adjust the service fees at its sole discretion, taking
into consideration of certain factors, including but not limited to
the deduction of operating costs, expenses and other statutory
contribution in relation to the respective fiscal year. The service
fees shall be paid annually by Zhongming upon receipt of invoice
issued by BabyTree Information.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
BabyTree Information has the exclusive and proprietary rights to
all intellectual properties developed by Zhongming and enjoys all
the economic benefits generated from such intellectual properties,
which will not be affected by the amendment, rescission or
termination of the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement shall remain
effective until (i) BabyTree Information exercises its exclusive
option to purchase the entire equity interests of the Registered
Shareholders in Zhongming and/or the entire assets of Zhongming
pursuant to the terms of the Exclusive Option and Equity
Entrustment Agreement; or (i) termination unilaterally made by
BabyTree Information upon presentation of written notice 30 days
in advance.
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Contractual Arrangements (Continued)
Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements

(Continued)

Share Pledge Agreement

Zhongming, the Registered Shareholders and BabyTree
Information entered into the Share Pledge Agreement on May 23,
2018, pursuant to which, the Registered Shareholders pledged
all of their respective equity interests in Zhongming to BabyTree
Information as collateral security to guarantee performance of their
contractual obligations under the Exclusive Option and Equity
Entrustment Agreement, the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement and the Powers of Attorney (as defined below).

The pledge in respect of shares of Zhongming takes effect
upon completion of registration with the relevant administrative
authorities, and shall be recorded on the register of shareholders
and capital contribution certificate of the Registered Shareholders.
If any of the items filed with the authorities under the Share Pledge
Agreement shall be amended or updated, Zhongming shall amend
such items within 10 days upon the relevant events occur. Should
an event of default (as provided in the Share Pledge Agreement)
occurs, unless it is successfully resolved to BabyTree Information’s
satisfaction within 10 days upon being notified by BabyTree
Information, BabyTree Information by issuing written notification
may exercise its right of pledge immediately or any time thereafter
pursuant to the Share Pledge Agreement. The Registered
Shareholders have agreed to irrevocably waive their pre-emptive
right as existing shareholders when BabyTree Information
exercises such right of pledge.

The Share Pledge Agreement will not terminate until (i) all
obligations of Zhongming and the Registered Shareholders are
satisfied in full; or (i) BabyTree Information exercises its exclusive
option to purchase the entire equity interests of the Registered
Shareholders in Zhongming and/or the entire assets of Zhongming
pursuant to the terms of the Exclusive Option and Equity
Entrustment Agreement.

The pledges under the Share Pledge Agreement have been duly
registered with the relevant PRC legal authority pursuant to PRC
laws and regulations.
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Contractual Arrangements (Continued)
Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements

(Continued)

° Powers of Attorney

The Powers of Attorney was entered into between each of the
Registered Shareholders and BabyTree Information on May 23,
2018, pursuant to which each of the Registered Shareholders
appointed BabyTree Information and/or its designated persons as
his/its exclusive agent and attorney to act on his/its behalf on all
matters concerning Zhongming and to exercise all of his/its rights
as shareholder of Zhongming.

As a result of the Powers of Attorney, the Company, through
BabyTree Information, is able to exercise management control
over the activities that most significantly impact the economic
performance of Zhongming. The Powers of Attorney will be
automatically terminated on the earlier of (i) the date the Registered
Shareholder ceases to be the shareholder of Zhongming and (i)
the expiry date of operating period of Zhongming. In addition, the
Registered Shareholders and BabyTree Information undertake to
terminate the Powers of Attorney once BabyTree Information is
allowed to directly hold equity interests in Zhongming and operate
the relevant business once permitted under the then PRC laws.

Spousal Undertakings

The spouse of each of Mr. WANG Huainan, Mr. WANG Changying,
Mr. WANG Yawei and Mr. SHAO Zhenping executed an
irrevocable undertaking on May 23, 2018, pursuant to which each
of them expressly, unconditionally and irrevocably acknowledged
and has undertaken that (i) any equity interests held by their
respective spouse as a Registered Shareholder in Zhongming do
not fall within the scope of their communal properties; (i) each
of them will not take any measures that are in conflict with the
Contractual Arrangements, including any claims on the interests
through legal proceedings; and (i) each of them will take any
necessary measures to procure the execution of the Contractual
Arrangements.
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Contractual Arrangements (Continued) BHRZHGRE)
Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements A ZHFTERILE(E)

(Continued)
o Loan Agreement

BabyTree Information and Mr. WANG Huainan entered into a
loan agreement on May 23, 2018 (the “Loan Agreement”),
pursuant to which BabyTree Information provided Mr. WANG
Huainan a loan in principal amount of RMB2,718,538,767.2 (the
“Principal Amount”) to acquire the equity interests in Zhongming
held by its then shareholders other than Ningbo Zhishan, Ningbo
Baoshu, Ningbo Honghu, Ningbo Yimengweima and himself for
the purpose of further stabilizing the corporate structure under
the Contractual Arrangements. As of the Latest Practicable Date,
Mr. WANG Huainan has fully utilized the amount of the loan,
among which an aggregate of RMB63,393,845.6 was paid to
Mr. WANG Yawei, Mr. WANG Changying, Mr. SHAO Zhenping
and Beijing Lujin as advanced payment for their respective equity
interests in Zhongming, and the remaining RMB2,655,144,921.6
was paid to other existing shareholders to purchase their
respective equity interests in Zhongming. Please see section
headed “History, Reorganization and Corporate Structure — Pre-
IPO Reorganization” in the Prospectus. The loan to Mr. WANG
Huainan is treated as deemed investment to Zhongming, and
was used to purchase its shares from the other shareholders for
the purpose of stabilizing the Group’s corporate structure under
the Contractual Arrangements, and was eliminated with the total
equity of Zhongming when the consolidated financial statements
of the Group was prepared. All the equity interests in Zhongming
held and to be acquired by Mr. WANG Huainan (the “Acquired
Interests”) will be pledged to BabyTree Information. Mr. WANG
Huainan will not need to repay the loan, unless BabyTree
Information (or its assignee) acquires all the Acquired Interests
under the condition that such acquisition is allowed under the then
PRC laws and regulations. The consideration for the Acquired
Interests payable by BabyTree Information equals the Principal
Amount and will be offset by the repayment by Mr. WANG Huainan
under the Loan Agreement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
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Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits
from Zhongming and its subsidiaries to our Group stipulated under the
Contractual Arrangements:

BabyTree Information

BERER

A

BFEBREXRS @)
BHRHE)
BHRHTEHRIEE(H)

AT EEMRAREANLTHRE RENERQ
BB AREE LB DR

Registered Shareholders
BRRR

T
Business | | (1) Powers of attorney to exercise all shareholder’s rights in Zhongming
support, | TERE R ARRENNETE
technical | (2) Exclusive option to acquire and equity entrustment on all or part
and | | Services of the equity interest in and/or assets of Zhongming 100%
consuing | | fees® . StRBREMABHMMERHEENRERRESEHBR DR i
services | BRH%E (3) First priority security interest over the entire equity interest in
s | | Zhongming
23] | RIS 2 HREN B BRES
Kot o A #5 | | (4) Loan to Mr. Wang
| mEEEBERNER
\ & v
Zhongming
b
Notes: PIEE
(1) Please refer to “Powers of Attorney” for details. (1) FER2EEEE] -

2 Please refer to “Exclusive Option and Equity Entrustment Agreement” for details.
) Please refer to “Share Pledge Agreement” for details.

4) Please refer to “Loan Agreement” for details.

5) Please refer to “Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement” for details.

“—p” denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest and “- §”
denotes contractual relationship.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

Apart from the above, there are no other new contractual arrangements
entered into, renewed or reproduced between the Group and
the Consolidated Affiliated Entity during the financial year ended
December 31, 2021. There was no material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted
for the year ended December 31, 2021.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, none of the Contractual
Arrangements has been unwound as none of the restrictions that
led to the adoption of structured contracts under the Contractual
Arrangements has been removed.

We have been advised by our PRC Legal Advisors that the Contractual
Arrangements do not violate the relevant PRC regulations.

The revenue of Zhongming and its subsidiaries but excluding operations
held by BabyTree Information and Meitun Mama for the year ended
December 31, 2021 was RMB258.9 million, representing approximately
91.9% of the revenue for the year of the Group.

As of December 31, 2021, total assets held by Zhongming but excluding
the intragroup loan (the “Intragroup Loan”) from Zhongming to
BabyTree Information was RMB473.7 million, representing approximately
23.1% of the total assets of the Group. Please see page 133 of the
Prospectus for details of the Intragroup Loan.

Mitigation Actions taken by the Company

Our management works closely with our executive Directors and
our external legal counsels and advisors to monitor the regulatory
environment and developments in PRC laws and regulations to mitigate
the risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements.

The Extent to which the Contractual Arrangements relate to
Requirements other than the Foreign Ownership Restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements are subject to the restrictions as set
out on pages 252 to 268 of the Prospectus.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Listing Rules Implications

The highest applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio)
under the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions associated with
the Contractual Arrangements are expected to be more than 5%. As
such, the transactions will be subject to the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The Stock Exchange has granted the Company a waiver pursuant to
Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules from (i) strict compliance with the
announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
under the Contractual Arrangements; (i) setting a maximum aggregate
annual value, i.e. an annual cap for the fees payable to BabyTree
Information from Zhongming under the Contractual Arrangements; and
(iii) fixing the term of the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less,
for so long as the Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange subject to
the following conditions:

a) no change without independent non-executive Directors’ approval;
b)  no change without independent Shareholders’ approval;

c)  the Contractual Arrangements shall continue to enable our Group
to receive the economic benefits derived by the Consolidated
Affiliated Entity;

d)  the Contractual Arrangements may be renewed and/or reproduced
upon expiry of the existing arrangements or in relation to any
existing or new wholly foreign-owned enterprise or operating
company (including branch company) engaging in the same
business as that of the Group which the Group might wish to
establish when justified by business expediency, without obtaining
Shareholders’ approval, on substantially the same terms and
conditions as the Contractual Arrangements; and

e) our Group will disclose details relating to the Contractual
Arrangements on an ongoing basis.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Confirmation from the Independent Non-executive Directors
Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that (i) the transactions carried out during
the year ended December 31, 2021 had been entered into in accordance
with the relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements, (i) no
dividends or other distributions have been made by the Consolidated
Affiliated Entity to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group during the
year ended December 31, 2021, (i) no new contracts had been entered
into, renewed or reproduced between the Group and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entity during the year ended December 31, 2021, and (iv) the
Contractual Arrangements were entered into in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, on normal commercial terms or better,
and according to the relevant agreement governing the Contractual
Arrangements on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Our independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the
aforesaid continuing connected transactions other than the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that they have been entered into (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (jii) according to the relevant agreement
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Confirmations from the Company’s Independent Auditor

The Auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that,
with respect to the aforesaid continuing connected transactions entered
into in the year ended December 31, 2021:

a)  nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have
not been approved by the Board;

b)  nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions; and

c)  nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to
believe that any dividends or other distributions have been made
by Zhongming to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, no related party transactions
disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements constituted a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements prescribed in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules with respect to the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions entered into by the Group during the year under
review.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors of the Company since the Company’s last
published interim report and up to the Latest Practicable Date are set
out below:

(1)  Since July 7, 2021, Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang has been an
independent non-executive director of XPeng Inc. (/NES/SEAB R
A A" (@ company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
since July 7, 2021, stock code: 9868).

(2) Mr. CHEN Bing ceased to serve as a senior assistant to the
president of Fosun International Limited ({8 EEE AR A T) (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0656), and he
currently serves as the general manager of the audit department,
Co-Chief Risk Officer and vice president.

Save as disclosed above and in the sections headed “Directors and
Senior Management” and “Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of
Appointment”, there are no other information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Friday, June 10, 2022. A
notice convening the AGM and all other relevant documents will be
published and dispatched to the Shareholders of the Company in the
manner required by the Listing Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
Company’s register of members will be closed from Monday, June 6,
2022 to Friday, June 10, 2022, both dates inclusive, during which period
no transfer of share will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM, unregistered holders of shares of the Company shall
ensure that all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, June 2, 2021.

For identification purpose only
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 49 to 82 of this
annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the accounting
principles and policies adopted by the Group and discussed the Group’s
risk management, internal controls and financial reporting matters
with the management. The audit committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2021.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 have
been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, who shall retire at
the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as the auditor of the
Company.

With effect from December 18, 2020, KPMG resigned as the auditor
of the Company and Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited was appointed
as the auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of KPMG. Save as disclosed, there has been no other
change of auditors in the past three years.

Save as otherwise stated, all references above to other sections, reports

or notes in this annual report form part of this Directors’ Report.

On behalf of the Board

GAO Min
WANG Huainan
Co-chairmen

March 29, 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% AR

@ pakertilly
R B [ B

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
BabyTree Group
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of BabyTree
Group (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 140 to 261, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A B R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Recognition of revenue from advertising
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Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(t)

FERHE I FHEXN FARMF2N B TR
The Key audit matter
AREXSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN EX A EEERAEE

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s
revenue from advertising amounted to RMB255.6 million,
representing approximately 91% of the Group’s total
revenue.

The Group offers different formats of on-line advertisements,
such as banners, rectangles, picture-in-picture, text links,
images and topics, throughout the Group’s Apps or
websites. The Group generates revenue when it displays the
advertisement (“display-based revenue”) in the contracted
period or when a user carries out a specified action
(“performance-based revenue”) as stipulated the contract.
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
from advertising included the following:

° understanding the design and implementation of key
internal controls over revenue recognition;

° with the assistance of our internal information
technology (“IT”) specialists, evaluating the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key
internal IT controls over the accuracy of revenue
recognition of performance-based advertisements
and the scheduling information of display-based
advertisements exported from the scheduling system;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Recognition of revenue from advertising (Continued)

EERARER ()

B EZETE (@)

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(t)

FERFA U RN FA RN HF 208 S5 R
The Key audit matter

BREZER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN EXH A EEERASEE

Display-based revenue is recognised on a pro-rata basis
as the advertisement is displayed in accordance with the
terms of the advertising contracts. Performance-based
revenue is recognised at the time when a user clicks on the
advertisement or when the user views the advertisement for
a specific period of time based on the specific terms of the
contract.

The Group uses its IT system to track the display or specified
actions as specified in related customer contracts.

We identified the recognition of revenue from advertising
as a key audit matter because revenue is one of the key
performance indicators of the Group which gives rise to an
inherent risk that revenue could be recorded in the incorrect
period or could be subject to manipulation to meet targets or
expectations.
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
from advertising included the following: (Continued)

o comparing the scheduling information exported from
the scheduling system with the underlying advertising
contracts and performing the reconciliation controls
from the extracted scheduling information to the
accounting system;

o comparing revenue transactions recorded during
the year, on a sample basis, with the underlying
advertising contracts and scheduling and the
progress of the service or the basis of the recognition
of the performance-based revenue to assess if
revenue was properly recognised in the appropriate
accounting period;

o confirming with customers, on a sample basis,
about the contract items related to the service, the
scheduling, and the implementation status of the
contracts;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Recognition of revenue from advertising (Continued)

EERARER ()
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Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(t)
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The Key audit matter
BREEXSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN EXH A EEERASEE
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
from advertising included the following: (Continued)

o selecting advertising contracts entered into during the
year, on a sample basis, and inspecting payments
from the contracting parties and underlying payment
details to determine if the payer and the contracting
party were the same entity; and

o inspecting any significant manual adjustments
to revenue raised during the reporting period,
enquiring of management about the reasons for
such adjustments and comparing the details of the
adjustments with relevant underlying documentation.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables

EZRUFRZERRE
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Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(k)(i)
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The Key audit matter
HREZSH

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN EXH A EEERASEE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s gross trade
receivables amounted to RMB249.0 million, against which
a loss allowance of RMB149.3 million was recorded. The
Group’s trade receivables mainly arose from advertising
business.

Management measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss based on
estimated loss rates for each category of receivables. The
estimated loss rates take into account the ageing of trade
receivable balances, the repayment history of the Group’s
customers of different risk characteristics, current market
conditions, customer-specific conditions, and forward-
looking information. Such assessment involves significant
management judgement and estimation.

We identified the loss allowance for trade receivables as a
key audit matter because determining the level of the loss
allowance requires the exercise of significant management
judgement which is inherently subjective.
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Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for trade
receivables included the following:

o obtaining an understanding of and evaluating the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls relating to credit control, debt
collection and estimating the credit loss allowance;

° evaluating the Group’s policy for estimating the credit
loss allowance with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

o assessing whether items were correctly categorised
in the trade receivables ageing report by comparing
individual items therein with sales contracts and other
relevant underlying documentation, on a sample
basis;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) B EXETE (@)

Loss allowances for trade receivables (Continued)
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Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(k)(i)
FERFA UI RN 19 R I 320 ()2 5T R

The Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BREZER BN ELHIAEEERAER

Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for trade
receivables included the following: (Continued)

o obtaining an understanding of the key data and
assumptions of the expected credit loss model
adopted by the management, including the basis of
segmentation of the trade receivable based on credit
risk characteristics of customers and the historical
default data in management’s estimated loss rates;

° assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates by examining the information
used by management to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy of the historical default
data and evaluating whether the historical loss
rates are appropriately adjusted based on current
economic conditions and forward-looking information;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) B EXETE (@)

Loss allowances for trade receivables (Continued)
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Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(k)(i)
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The Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for trade
receivables included the following: (Continued)

o re-performing the calculation of the loss allowance as
at 31 December 2021 based on the Group’s credit
loss allowance policies; and

o inspecting, on a sample basis, cash receipts from

debtors subsequent to the reporting date relating to
trade receivable balances as at 31 December 2021.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BERTH & S B RRBENEE

BANBERRRAHFY B RREBES T HFHE
EXRKRERR (T mEARFREREBORGE
BRE  THASSHRMERNZBESRE -
ABEEAMETRE  TRAREMAR - &
PR LA S 5 09 A (R B A ] A BB Sk
EEFREE-

BERBFE—ERKINRE - EXLTMRER
REBBTENETHNERERERAFEDN
BEAKRERRM - KERAAT 58 B RFF R T
EA - AR BEAERMAIETERRE
RZFEEHPBRRIELNEERE - B
RKR BRI AT AR SENX ©

ERRBE AR EANETERZN —#D - &
PIEREEZFZBRETIFLERAB L RITER
1REE - APITN

o  BRILFHEEHMBBRPEFEERKRE
PRt (i B BRRF S 8B SR B B0 W LB -
Rt RBITRAZFRRNEBZEZRF - I
RERNEENEZEE  SEMANER
REHERN - RERRAUFMEREAKRE
Ratr AR SR EHERMEREANKRER
ARk - REZRFFEAIRES RO - 7
& MEER - ERERE S S RE S
Z e e

o THRERZMEMMAEES  ARHEE
MBEZZRF - BRNLIFHERERLE
HEBRMEERER -

o FHEEFMRASTBUREEERME
h&FHEE RARRREN SR -

FERE 2021 | EEEHEKE 137



Independent Auditor’s Report
B A B AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence
and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B A RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Gao Yajun.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Gao Yajun
Practising certificate number PO6391
Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
EHtERE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 =2 —ZE - —F+-_HA=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R#%I7R)

2021 2020
—EC-—F —E-TF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BT ARETR ARET T
Revenue WA 4 281,823 212,260
Cost of revenue EERAR (111,103) (115,781)
Gross profit EF 170,720 96,479
Other revenue HAbug A 5(a) 40,910 35,137
Other net gain/(loss) Hithlzs, /(B518)F 58 5(b) 4,298 (36,302)
Selling and marketing expenses HE R EHMAY (285,225) (285,568)
General and administrative expenses —MRITE A (218,463) (258,336)
Research and development expenses e (48,824) (51,643)
Loss from operations KEEE (336,584) (500,233)
Net finance income BT U A 5B 6(a) 2,842 5,049
Fair value change on financial instruments LA A4 E{Est2 B # &)
measured at fair value through ST AE BB
profit or loss EMIAENDREEED (60,216) 26,327
Share of losses of associates FE(GEsE & R A& R (3,439) (3,051)
Loss before taxation G ] 6 (397,397) (471,908)
Income tax credit Frisiif e 7 10,283 1,002
Loss for the year FEBR (387,114) (470,906)
Attributable to: SRR
Equity shareholders of the Company RNA TR (387,099) (470,262)
Non-controlling interests FEPE S A A (15) (644)
Loss for the year FEBR (387,114) (470,906)
Loss per share BREE 10
Basic and diluted (RMB) EXRR#E(ARET) (0.23) (0.28)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

B EREREMEEIAR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HiZ —ZE - —F+ - HA=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFIR)

2021 2020
—EC-—F —E-TF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

F & AR®T T ARETTT

Loss for the year FEEE (387,114) (470,906)

Other comprehensive expense for FREMEZAEMAX
the year (after tax and reclassification (Z&EH1BRFIERIEHEH

adjustments) DHEFAE)
ltems that may be reclassified EguEHHBEEERN

subsequently to profit or loss: BE -
Exchange differences on translation of BRERR T RGINAB R A

financial statements of the Company B TSR MO IE X =58

and overseas subsidiaries (38,092) (130,527)
Share of an associate’s other (S YNCIEE )

comprehensive expense 2HEMAYZ (245) (146)
Other comprehensive expense FREMEEBEX

for the year (38,337) (130,673)
Total comprehensive expense FRAEXEMAXARE

for the year (425,451) (601,579
Attributable to: BER :
Equity shareholders of the Company RNA TR AR R (425,430) (600,897)
Non-controlling interests FEPE S A A (21) (682)
Total comprehensive expense FRE2MAEE

for the year (425,451) (601,579)

The notes on pages 147 to 261 form part of these consolidated financial 28
statements. ZE e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
SO EAR R R

As at 31 December 2021 R =E——F+_-_A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

2021 2020
—EC-—F —E-TF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AR¥T T AREFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB KRR 11 38,662 26,189
Intangible assets EmRAE 12 4,609 5,711
Prepayments for non-current assets IERENE EETE N R IE 14 - -
Interests in associates EA *ﬁ%’& Gl El’ﬂ&fm 15 38,922 42,733
Financial assets measured at fair value A BEFERZEETA 16
through profit or loss = ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ’x}i REE 232,416 326,889
Deferred tax assets R IBEE 27(b) 38,428 28,061
353,037 429,583
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 17 2,511 186
Contract assets EREE 18(a) 18,991 8,128
Trade receivables B 5 GRIA 19 99,737 84,175
Prepayments and other receivables TR AR IE e Efth e U kIR 20 152,095 174,577
Other current assets HEMmeh&EE 21 9,292 15,309
Financial assets measured at fair value AR BET=ZEBE8)A 16
through profit or loss EHESNSREE 175,757 650,360
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHES 22 1,240,856 1,079,716
1,699,239 2,012,451
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables B G EN B 23 23,433 20,282
Accruals and other payables f ST K H A e~ 5RIE 24 100,688 85,857
Contract liabilities SRAE 18() 7,592 6,390
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 14,398 12,102
Derivative financial instruments PTESRTE 26 114 =
Current taxation BEAFR 1A 27(a) 63 6
146,288 124,637
Net current assets REBEEFHE 1,552,951 1,887,814
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBAE 1,905,988 2,317,397

Annual Report 2021 | BabyTree Group




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BOFF BRI R

As at 31 December 2021 R —E=-_—F+_F=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAA R#%I7R)

2021 2020
—EC-—F —E-TF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR¥T T AREFIT
Non-current liabilities kARBAE
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 16,570 2,528
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIEAE 27(b) 115 115
16,685 2,643
Net assets EEFE 1,889,303 2,314,754
Equity E=
Share capital i 28 1,152 1,153
Reserves i 1,885,282 2,310,711
Total equity attributable to equity RA AR RENG
shareholders of the Company AR 1,886,434 2,311,864
Non-controlling interests FEPR 4| M RE S 2,869 2,890
Total equity FERAARE 1,889,303 2,314,754

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 RZ-Z-_—F=A -+ NAEESgiELE

March 2022. RETIE -
GAO Min XU Chong
=18 e
Director Director
BE BE
The notes on pages 147 to 261 form part of these consolidated financial 55147222618 7 MizX Jh4BK 2 &4 OF At ik
statements. 2T o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EOtRESEEH R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R#%I7R)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

AARRERREL
Non-
Share Share  Treasury Capital ~ Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium shares reserve reserve losses Total interests Total equity
Fan

Bx  BfEE  ERRE  RRBR  ERGR  TER it LR, 7
RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOO  RMBOO  RMBOO  RMBOO  RMBOOO  RMBOX  RMBOX
ARBTn ARBTn ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTn  ARMTR  ARMTL ARMTR

Balance at 1 January 2020 R-B-EE-F-ANBE 1168 7892474 (10,145) (2241304 (612002 (2115580 2914631 3572 2918208
Changes in equity for 2020: W-EZSENERSEE.

Lossfor the year EnEE = - - = - ({40260 @026 B4 (70906
Other comprehensive expense Afp2ERY - - - - (13063 - (13063 (B8 (130673
Total comprehensive expense FERRER = - - - (1%063%) (70260 (600,897) (©8) (601579
Repurchase of ordinary shares LERED - - (1.870) - - - (1,870) - (1.870)
Cancellation of treasury shares HEERRD B (10847) 10852 - - - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2020 and RZEZEETZB=1-A

1 January 2021 k-E--E-A-ANBE 1155 788167 (1163 2241304 (742637 (2585812 2,311,864 2000 2314754
Changes in equity for 2021: R-B--EHEREE:
Loss for the year Engk - - - - - (38T99)  (387,099) (15 (eri1)
Other comprehensive expense EHAERL - - - - (383 - (383 6 (383
Total comprehensive expense *ERRAE - - - - (3B31) (367,099  (4254%0) (@) (42541
Cancelafion of reasury shares HHERRR (1) (1,162) 1,163 - - - - - -
Balance at 31 December 2021 W-BZ-f
tZR=t-RlBHE 1,152 7,880,465 - 2241304 (180,068  (2972911) 1,886,434 2869 1,889,308

The notes on pages 147 to 261 form part of these consolidated financial

1472261 B 2 MIsE ThEK RS A SRk
statements. =

5 -

N
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHEESRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HiZ —ZE - —F+ - HA=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R¥EFIR)

2021 2020
—EC-—F —E-TF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

F & AR®T T ARETTT

Cash flows from operating activities K& FTEHNESHRE

Net cash used in operations LREFTAIRE ) FRE 22(b) (85,260) (105,575)
Income taxes paid EATFTEE 27(a) (27) @)
Net cash used in operating activities K& EZEIFTAESFHE (85,287) (105,577)

Cash flows from investing activites REZEHNERESHE
Interest received from deposits in banks — FRTT K HAth B BB E 2 A

and other financial institutions B A B 4,087 7,814
Investment income received from financial AR R BEFE B & A

assets measured at fair value through B HE RS R E EWEE

profit or loss FERWA 34,606 29,724
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and &Y% « BE K& ER

equipment FriS 508 74 309
Payments for the purchase of property,  EEYZ% - WE L& ERL

plant and equipment and intangible B EEMNNR

assets (1,453) (4,435)
Payment for the purchase of: BBEUTIEB NN

— Unlisted equity securities —JE bR (10,450) (1,330)

— Bonds portfolios —fExdEs (157,446) (657,704)

— Wealth management products —IBEAE (1,002,867) (193,501)
Proceeds from sale of: HENLTIEE MATSREIA -

— Bonds portfolios —fExdEs 563,654 104,851

— Wealth management products — BB EM 1,101,920 539,337
Advance to related parties T RAES 5 HOFROB (144,497) (71,628)

Net cash generated from/(used in) REFEESE,(FTHK
investing activities b2k ek 387,628 (246,563)

FEERE 2021 | EEBEKE 145



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EBOtRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & &

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R#%I7R)

—=—

—=

—F+= A=+ —ALER
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2021 2020
—EC-—F —E-TF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Lz ARET ARETTT
Cash flows from financing activites BEIBMELENEESRE
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEHSHEART D 22(c) (19,043) (21,529
Interest element of lease rentals paid BN HEERESNFEHD 22(c) (1,134) (1,185)
Payments for repurchase of shares 8 B AR 19 BT 3R 28(d) - (1,870)
Proceeds from new bank loans FERITE M TS IR 22(c) 130,210 761,681
Repayments of bank loans BERRITENK 22(c) (130,210) (761,681)
Interest paid for bank loans EATIRITE BT E (111) (1,580)
Repayments to related parties A BB 5 3 K 22(c) 1) (4,220)
Net cash used in financing activities RIEFEIFTAMNREFE (20,289) (30,384)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and B &R EBTHEERE M, CED)
bank balances R 282,052 (382,524)
Cash and bank balances at FANRSRBITER
the beginning of the year 980,016 1,422,855
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes &K &) v 522 (23,929) (60,315)
Cash and cash equivalents atthe end FARNEERELZEEY 22(a)
of the year 1,238,139 980,016
The notes on pages 147 to 261 form part of these consolidated financial 51472618 2 M7 4K Z E 4 B E Rk
statements. ZEBS o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

GENERAL INFORMATION

BabyTree Group (the “Company”) was incorporated in Cayman
Islands on 9 February 2018 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The
Company’s registered office address is P.O. BOX 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman Islands, and the
principal place of business of the Company is located at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the advertising, e-commerce and other service business (the
“Business”) in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 27 November 2018 (the
“Listing”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Reminbi
(“RMB”), which is different from the Company’s functional currency
of United States dollars (“US$”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB as the business of the Group is
mainly carried out in the PRC.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies adopted by
the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current accounting
period reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)
(Continued)

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 comprise the Group and the Group’s
interests in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost basis
except that certain financial assets and derivative financial
instruments are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out in note 2(f) and 2(g).

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
IFRSs that have significant effect on these consolidated
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)
(Continued)

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRSs issued by the IASB to these consolidated financial
statements for the current accounting period:

- Amendment to IFRS 16, Covid-19-related rent
CONCEeSSsIioNs

- Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform-phase 2

None of these developments have had a material effect on
how the Group’s results and financial position for the current
or prior periods have been prepared or presented. The
Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)
(Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to
the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation
in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or
expense as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income or expense for the year between
non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses (see
note 2(k)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale
(or included in disposal group that is classified is held for
sale).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Arrangements
The Company and the companies comprising the Group
entered into several batches of contractual agreements.

The Business included certain business operated by Beijing
Zhongming Century Science and Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Zhongming”), say provision of internet content services
where foreign investment is subject to restrictions under PRC
laws and regulations (“Restricted Business”), and the rest of
the Business are unrestricted to foreign investment under
PRC laws and regulations.

BabyTree (Beijing) Information and Technology Co., Ltd.
(“BabyTree Information”) entered into a series of contractual
arrangements (collectively, “Contractual Arrangements”
effective since May 2018) with Zhongming and its registered
owners to control the Restricted Business.

Zhongming in these Contractual Arrangements is a variable
interest entity (“VIE”) and BabyTree Information is an wholly
foreign-owned enterprise (“WFOE”).

The equity interests of VIE are legally held by individuals who
act as nominee equity holders of the VIE on behalf of WFOE.
The contractual agreements include powers of attorney,
exclusive business cooperation agreement, share pledge
agreement and loan agreement. Pursuant to the contractual
agreements, WFOE has the power to direct activities that
most significantly impact the VIE, including appointing key
management, setting up operating policies, exerting financial
controls and transferring profit or assets out of the VIE at its
discretion. WFOE considers that they also have the right to
substantially all of the economic benefits of VIE and has an
exclusive option to purchase all or part of the equity interests
in VIE when and to the extent permitted by PRC law at the
minimum price possible.

2 FEETTHE@)

BBERILPHE 118 2 A
ARBREARAEENZERRF
NETEAWE -

=

ZEBERILRRGELHERAR
RAE)([RIG ) EENE T XS - Bl
- REINEREX RBUARIEAR
PR il 1) BBt 8 PO 2 Al 55 ([ 2R 1) 3
%1) - MAREBHBUAEER - HER
EBAZINEREHR S -

BEEH(ER)EERRMERAR
(TEE/EE]) BRG R E Mk
BAFL-RINEGHLH(BE=F
—N\FHEHARERIGRIAHLR
BED AR HIZR IR

REEZER ?’7;1?#43?%7%7“*&

nER([AZ2ERER]) MES

fﬂé B ﬁ'J?ﬁﬂ%ﬁ\\Fﬁ?%éi%(Wl\?ﬁ
BEME]) -

DRSERENREBRERINEGE
ﬁLt%%E—J%TEEEEfE’JW%%
DR BAGERE c 60HhEERE
ZE  BREBSEWZ
BE R ELERDGE - BRESL
Tz?%%%z ONEBEREREEE YA

RS ERELEREATENE
g BREINBEAECREETEER
AB - HIELEHER - MM E
?? Hwﬁﬁﬂié%%ﬂj—f ERE
CHNEBELERR - BENA
%?’é‘t mT&ﬁuEﬁ‘E‘?ﬂE’]Z@K*BAi‘“
ERE - WHEE —BEREER
AIFE AR BA R 70 AR 0 B MRS A
ERENERBANEERER
Pk E D AR HE -

D\E

FEERE 2021 | EEBEEKE 151



152

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

The Group has determined that the Contractual
Arrangements are in compliance with PRC laws and are
legally enforceable. However, uncertainties in the PRC
legal system could limit the Group’s ability to enforce the
Contractual Arrangements.

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale). Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted
for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date
fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment losses relating to
the investment (see note 2(k)). Any acquisition-date excess
over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-
tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)
(Continued)

When the Group’s share of loss exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method, together with any
other long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate (after applying the
expected credit losses (“ECL”) model to such other long-
term interests where applicable (see note 2(k(i).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former investee at the date when significant influence is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note

2(f)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associates, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investments. The investments are initially stated at fair
value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those financial assets measured at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group
determines fair value of financial instruments, see note
29(f). These investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.

(i) Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

= amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method (see
note 2(t)(iv)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Investments other than equity investments
(Continued)

fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) —
flows of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective

recycling, if the contractual cash

is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition in profit or loss of ECL,
interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains and
losses. When the investment is derecognised,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

FVPL, if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)

(Continued)

(i) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such
an election is made, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income remains in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed
of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
accumulated losses. It is not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI,
are recognised in profit or loss as other income in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(t)(iii).

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value is
remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, except where
the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting or
hedges of net investment in a foreign operation, in which
case recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the
nature of the item being hedged.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labor, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located, and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads and borrowing costs.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

- Electronic equipment 3-5 years
- Office equipment 3-5 years
- Leasehold improvements 3-5 years

- Right-of-use assets the shorter of the assets’

useful life or the lease term

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)
(Continued)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product or
process is technically and commercially feasible and the
Group has sufficient resources and the intention to complete
development. Other development expenditure is recognised
as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. No
expenditure on development activities is capitalised in the
current or comparative accounting periods.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful lives are finite) and impairment losses (see
note 2(k(ii)). Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and
brands is recognised as an expense in the period in which it
is incurred. Software held by the Group is mainly consisted
of warehouse management system, office administrative
software such as Email system and OA system, ERP System
and others.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The Group estimates useful
lives based on the shorter of licensing period and the period
over which the software is expected to generate net cash
inflows for the Group. The following intangible assets with
finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are
available for use and their estimated useful lives are as
follows:

- Software 3-10 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)
(Continued)

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

AEBENE M6 £ EF %
BHRTBHEXBEEMEE - HWe
HRBRERREmNSE TE-REERA
22 5 A R RN B E (R AR ROAE R - RIIZ
AHNEMNELBEEE - WEFPA
BEEA BRI EERER LR Z
158 A PR B T P B B AR Wk
AIFRRIEHIEE R o

NI

=

o

SHBEEHERY RIFEES
'K%I EETEDIFHER
b & HE R M AT AR RE 3F
DRIERMBEENE—H

r@

a:—

2

EH

= 5P

m%tﬁ$
%

$

\
!

REERIGAH  AEBRERER
BREEMHEERE  EHEHR12
BEAXEEMEREEMKEESR
ENHEERI - EXAKEKEE
BEIVHEER  AKERSEM
ERNMAREREREEERNL - &
ZETMEERCHERBNEEN
REREHARRRGEERR R
%o

EREEERLE  HEAGYVS
RHEHARNEENRHREE
7 W ABEE RS R (K
%ﬂ%$TE%FEWﬁW%WL
BIEFRFRRER - ML HEREK - B
ERBEREBEKATE - M B
XARAERFEETHE - THUR
RE—IEHHL RN ZERENR
TEREHEAES  FAUREE
e RN BRI -

FEHRE 2021 | KEBKE 159



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)
(Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 2(h) and 2(k)

(i)).

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is accounted
for separately from the right-of-use assets in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to investments in debt
securities carried at amortised cost (see notes 2(f)(i) and
2(K)(i)). Any difference between the initial fair value and the
nominal value of the deposits is accounted for as additional
lease payments made and is included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced
to zero.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)
(Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease.
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are any rent concessions which arose as a
direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic and which
satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16
Leases.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as
the present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting
period.

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on
financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables
and contract assets).

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including
units in bonds portfolios, unlisted equity securities and
wealth management products measured at FVPL, are
not subject to the ECL assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date;
and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade and other receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs
unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
(i) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

= an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as
past due status and credit risk ratings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
securities that are measured at FVOCI (recycling),
for which the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair
value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note
2(t)(iv) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)

(Continued)

() Credit losses from financial instruments and (i)
contract assets (Continued)
Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
OCcCurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets;

- intangible assets;

- prepayments for assets; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).

= Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
loss recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2 FEETTHE@)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets

(Continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in
the year in which the reversals are recognised.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises costs of purchase after deducting rebates
and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as a cost of revenue in the period
in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as a cost
of revenue in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories
is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as a cost of revenue in the period in which the
reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 FEEBEXR@)
(Continued)

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see note 2(t)) before being unconditionally entitled
to the consideration under the payment terms set out in
the contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(k)(i) and are
reclassified to receivables when the right to the consideration
has become unconditional (see note 2(n)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see note 2(t). A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see
note 2(n)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see note 2(1)(iv)).

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time
is required before payment of that consideration is due.
If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset (see note 2(m)).

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction
price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured at fair
value plus transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost, using the effective interest method
and including an allowance for credit losses (see note 2(k)(i)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in accordance
with the policy set out in note 2(k(i).

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 FEEBEXR@)
(Continued)

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future
taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax loss and credit,
that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which
the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)
(Continued)

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised.
Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions
are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)
(Continued)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods or the provision of services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)
(Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted using
the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction with the customer, and interest income
is accrued separately under the effective interest method.
Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. The Group takes advantage of the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a significant financing
component if the period of financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Advertising

The Group offers different formats of on-line
advertisements, such as banners, rectangles, picture-
in-picture, text links, images and topics, throughout
the Group’s Apps or websites. The Group generates
revenue when the Group displays the advertisement
(“display-based revenue”) in the contracted period
or when a user carries out a specified action
(“performance-based revenue”) as stipulated in the
contract.

Display-based advertisements services are provided
in subscribed impressions for cost per thousand
impressions advertising arrangements. Revenue is
recognised on a pro-rata basis as the advertisement
is displayed in accordance with the terms of the
advertising contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Advertising (Continued)

Performance-based advertisements services are
provided based on performance criteria such as
number of click of links directly to the advertiser’s
website or number of applications for advertising
products. Revenue is recognised at the time when
a user clicks on the advertisement or when the user
views the advertisement for a specific period of time
based on the specific terms of the contract.

(i) E-commerce
The Group conducts e-commerce operations on the
Group’s Apps or websites in two models: direct sales
and marketplace.

Under the direct sales model, the Group purchases
products from suppliers and sells to customers as
principal. Under such model, the Group controls over
the products as by sourcing, pricing, taking inventory,
arranging for delivery, providing customer service and
responding to return requests directly. Revenue from
direct sales is recognised at a point in time when the
customer takes possession of and accepts the goods.
Revenue is determined based on the gross amount of
sales excluding value added tax, and after deduction
of any trade discounts and sales return. Sales returns
are estimated based on the Group’s best estimation
on historical experiences.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

E-commerce (Continued)

Under the marketplace model, third-party vendors
offer merchandise to customers on the Group’s
e-commerce platform, and the Group provides
display, transaction and billing services for all orders
in their online marketplace. The Group as the owner
and operator of the platform charges commissions
on the sales to these third-party vendors. Revenue of
commissions is recognised at a point in time when the
customer takes possession of and accepts the goods.

Dividends

— Dividend income from unlisted investments
is recognised when the shareholder’s right to
receive payment is established.

- Dividend income from listed investments
is recognised when the share price of the
investment goes ex-dividend.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling) that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 FEEBEXR@)
(Continued)

(v) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognised as income in
profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
recognised as deferred income and consequently are
effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful
life of the asset as other income.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
Company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair
value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items are translated into RMB at the closing
foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity
in the exchange reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) bhas significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(

) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or a joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a Group of which the other entity is a
member);

(i)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

W)

(V)

(vii)

(viil)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ITEEHHE@)
(Continued)

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3 ZEEeityER{&st

AND ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following accounting judgement:

Principal versus agent consideration

Revenue from e-commerce via the Group’s platform

The Group conducts e-commerce operations on the
Group’s platform in two models: marketplace and
direct sales.

Determining whether the Group is acting as a principal
or as an agent in the sales of goods on the Group’s
platform requires judgement and consideration of all
relevant facts and circumstances. In evaluation of the
Group acting as a principal or an agent, the Group
considers, individually or in combination whether the
Group is primarily responsible for fulfilment of the
contract, is subject to the inventory risk, has discretion
to establish prices. Having considered the relevant
facts and circumstances, management considers that
the Group obtains control of those goods sold through
direct sales while the Group does not obtain control
of those goods sold through marketplace before the
goods are transferred to the customers. Accordingly,
the Group is acting as a principal for the direct sales
and the related revenue is presented on a gross
basis, while the Group is acting as an agent for the
marketplace and the related revenue is presented on a
net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i)

(i)

Impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets

Trade receivables and contract assets with significant
balances and credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables and contract
assets which are not assessed individually using a
provision matrix. The provision rates are based on
aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors taking
into consideration the Group’s historical default rates
and forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised. In assessing
whether such temporary differences can be utilised
in the future, the Group needs to make judgements
and estimates on the ability of each of its subsidiaries
to generate taxable income in the future years. The
Group believes it has recorded adequate deferred
taxes based on the prevailing tax rules and regulations
and its current best estimates and assumptions. In the
event that future tax rules and regulations or related
circumstances change, adjustments to deferred
taxation may be necessary which would impact the
Group’s results or financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(iii)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s
financial assets are measured at fair value with
fair value being determined based on significant
unobservable inputs using valuation techniques.

Judgement and estimation are required in establishing
the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant
inputs thereof. Whilst the Group considers these
valuations are the best estimates, the ongoing
Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in greater market
volatility and may cause further disruptions to the
investees’ businesses, which have led to higher degree
of uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the
current year.

Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could
result in material adjustments to the fair value of these
financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARDEBHE
The principal activities of the Group are providing advertising, AREFBHNETEETHARTLIREE
e-commerce and other services to customers. LR - Eim R EAMART o
(i) Disaggregation of revenue (i) WASD
Revenue of the Group are all from contracts with REB I AR G BER B 7
customers within the scope of IFRS 15. The amount of HEER|FE155ESE RN ER P
each significant category of revenue is as follows: BERBA - FEZWR AR
HEFEMT ¢
2021 2020
—E-—& ZETF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARETTT

Advertising & 255,578 188,295
E-commerce ESE] 23,885 19,895
Others Hih 2,360 4,070
281,823 212,260
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REEE RS R ARIZA
customers by the timing of revenue recognition and by T SR RE ] S [ T 35 VB HH A &
geographic markets is disclosed in note 4(b). DK 4D E ©
In 2021, the Group’s customer base is diversified R-ZTE=—F  RREHR
and includes one customer (2020: one customer) AEBENEFEZ T B
with whom transactions has exceeded 10% of E—R2BP(ZZE_ZF : —
the Group’s revenues during the reporting period. BREP )X GEAREEBR A%
Revenues from advertising to this customer amounted 10% - REZBEFPHES K
to approximately RMB33.0 million (2020: RMB28.8 A BAREIBOAESEL(Z
million). Details of concentrations of credit risk arising T-FF: AR¥288EH
from this customer are set out in note 29(b). T0) c REBRPEENESE

B R\ = B ERHTEE29(0) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from contracts with customers in
existence at the reporting date
Contracts with advertising customers always have an
original expected duration of less than one year. And
contracts with individual customers for e-commerce
and other services are always satisfied within one
month.

The Group has applied the practical expedient
in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 and therefore the
information about revenue that the Group will be
entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations is not disclosed for contracts that have an
original expected duration of one year or less.

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which
are organised by business lines (products and services).
In a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the
following three reportable segments:

- Advertising;

- E-commerce, which includes direct sales and
marketplace; and

- Others, which includes content monetisation, insurance
agent service and other services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A REEFII7R)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4
(Continued)

WAR D EHRE @)

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the revenue and gross
profit attributable to each reportable segment. Depreciation
and amortisation, recognition of loss allowance on trade and
other receivables and contract assets, net finance income
and other revenue are allocated to each reportable segment.
Other items in profit or loss are not allocated to reportable
segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation”, where “interest” is regarded
as including investment income and “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses on
non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA the Group’s
earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments, such as share of profits or
losses of associates, directors’ and auditors’ remuneration
and other head office or corporate administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
adjusted EBITDA, management is provided with segment
information concerning inter-segment sales, the Group’s
interest income from cash balances, depreciation and
amortisation and loss allowance. Inter-segment sales are
priced with reference to prices charged to external parties for
similar orders.
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EBoEbEA ] - BRI EIRAEE
BREWA - MFTEREHEIRSE
RIERDEEREEE - BELE
ABERAE - HIE - TEREHER
ZE.L?J\ET mA - ANEREAENE
430 R 5 7E AR (R 0 B Y IR B
(WEEBERARENNEE EF
Rizgmie kA maRERRD
RITBAAR)ELFHEE

PRIEEE B ﬁé[ﬁf}\ﬂ% A
FEREHEA 2 ZED A EMND

MERI  BEERERIRHARDH
BIHENDRER - ARERER
TRERH YA - FTEREHE R
EEEE - DHRANHEERS2E
SRR E RSN ED A LU ERE B
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARZDI®E @)
(Continued)
Other information, together with the segment information, MAEESRITHEIREEBRHEME
provided to the Group’s senior executive management, is HERCGERSIER) MEFEH
measured in a manner consistent with that applied in these HZEE R ERRAERN A
consolidated financial statements. There were no separate —H o WEMAEESRITHER
segment assets and segment liabilities information provided EBiRtEE o MEERDEAEE
to the Group’s senior executive management, as they do not B BRERREWAREMRZERT
use this information to allocate resources to or evaluate the REF LD E R EEED S
performance of the operating segments. HIFRIA o
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers BE - FN_T_FTF+=
by the timing of revenue recognition, as well as information A=+T—HIEFEREEEFHNA
regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided B W A 3= U A T 3R B 2 I A&
to the Group’s most senior executive management for D UAEAEERSRITHRERE
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of RIEREE RN E D BRIB
segment performance for the years ended 31 December HANEE R 2RH BEREHFLOT ¢
2021 and 2020 is set out below:
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-E--F+-A=t-HLFE
Advertising  E-commerce Others  Elimination Total
B £ At iz i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTn AR%Tn ARTn  ARET:n
Disaggregated by timing of BRUABRREEDL
revenue recognition 287
Over time RRERHER 255,578 - - - 255,578
Paint in time X -BRARR - 23,885 2,360 - 26,245
Revenue from extemal customers REINFREZ A 255,578 23,885 2,360 - 281,823
Inter-segment revenue DEERA - 1,890 - (1,890) -
Reportable segment revenue MHRED A 255,578 25,775 2,360 (1,890) 281,823
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FREEFI7R)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARDIHRE &)
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-B--F+-A=t-HLEFE
Advertising E-commerce Others Total

& BH Hite st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR AR¥ETR AR¥TR

Segment revenue AEA 255,578 23,885 2,360 281,823
Segment cost D ERAR (106,532) (4,448) (123) (111,103)
Gross profit EF 149,046 19,437 2,237 170,720
Reportable segment ARED W (EE),BA
(loss)/profit (adjusted EBITDA) (RERFS - BE
WERBHN
EENDER) (145,738) (8,403) 1,186 (152,955)
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH (18,275) (1,618) (150) (20,043)
Recognition of loss allowance ontrade and 318 5 KA fE I ZIE &
other receivables and contract assets AREERR 2 EEEE (93,591) ) (665) (94,265)
Net finance income BTSN F 5B 2,610 272 23 2,905
Unallocated other revenue RATEZ EMUA 36,009
Unallocated share of losses of associates R AEEZ FEIG RS A REE (3,439)
Unallocated fair value change on financial kA B2 AR A BEE
instruments measured at FVPL BEFT AR HERN
SRTANALEEZD (60,216)
Unallocated depreciation and amortisation R B2 376 K# i (3,494)
Unallocated recognition of loss allowance ~ ADE 5B 5 R EM,
on trade and other receivables and EUWHERARBE
contract assets R EERE (200)
Unallocated net finance cost AT TS AFER (63)
Unallocated other costs RO 2 EfbA A (101,636)
Loss before taxation BRI AIEE (397,397)
Income tax credit FrigfEe 10,283
Loss for the year FEEE (387,114)
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4

(Continued)

WAR D EHRE @)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TFE+_A=1+-HLEE

Advertising  E-commerce Others  Elimination Total
EE E] Ht i st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Disaggregated by timing of B AR RS

revenue recognition ki)

Over time RS TER 188,295 - - - 188,295
Point in time EX SRR - 19,895 4,070 - 23,965
Revenue from external customers REINPE P ZHA 188,295 19,895 4,070 = 212,260
Inter-segment revenue DEFERA - 567 = (657) -
Reportable segment revenue ARE D EUBA 188,295 20,452 4,070 (557) 212,260
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4
(Continued)

WAR D EHRE @)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-_ZF+_A=1+-HULFE

Advertising  E-commerce Others Total

BE B Hih 85t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETE ARETT ARETR

Segment revenue DEUWA 188,295 19,895 4,070 212,260

Segment cost DA (98,126) (16,646) (1,009) (115,781)

Gross profit e 90,169 3,249 3,061 96,479

Reportable segment loss R D HEE (KHE

(adjusted EBITDA) BRAS - BE - TER

B2 EELDER) (256,634) (61,354) (2,121) (320,109)

Depreciation and amortisation W& R (28,553) (2,444) (594) (31,591)
Recognition of loss allowance on trade and B S REMEYZIER

other receivables and contract assets AREERAZEERE (137,876) 541 (3,557) (140,892)

Net finance income BN FE 1,178 414 42 1,634

Unallocated other revenue AAOB 2 EfA 31,082

Unallocated share of losses of associates Koz BB & A BIER (3,051)
Unallocated fair value change on RO ZURLBEFE
financial instruments measured at FVPL BEH AL HIBRN

SBMIANAREEEE 26,327

Unallocated depreciation and amortisation AOBRZIE R # (3,820)

Unallocated net finance income RABE 2 BN TR 3,415

Unallocated other costs ROBL 2z EAf AN (34,903)

Loss before taxation KR ER (471,908)

Income tax credit Frisiige 1,002

Loss for the year EEER (470,908)
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

The Group’s revenue from external customers, based on the

locations of customers is as follows:

WAR D EHRE @)

AEBKRAIES 2WARER
FrEM B ESI DT

Revenue from
external customers

REMBEF ZBWA
2021 2020
—E—F —E-TE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETTT

PRC
Canada

United States of America

E
mEX
ESE

As at 31 December 2021, substantially all of the non-current
assets of the Group other than certain interests in associates,
bonds portfolios, unlisted equity securities and wealth

management products were located in PRC.
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

5 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET GAIN/ 5

(LOSS)

HER

HitWARE Mz (EE)

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZT-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT

Investment income on financial assets RARBEGFTEEEHFA

measured at FVPL EHERNEREEN

BREWA 34,606 29,724
Government grants (Note (i) B e B (B REG) 1,079 3,435
Value added tax concession (Note (ii)) EETE R (FIFE) 749 1,140
Penalty income iU A - 584
Sundry income HMIFIA 4,476 254
40,910 &1, 1k8)

Notes:

(i)

Government grants are awarded to the Group by the local
government as incentives primarily to encourage the brand
building of the Group and cultural development and the refund of
unemployment insurance premiums paid by employers.

It mainly represents the tax concession revenue generated by
the policy of additional deduction of input Value-added tax. From
1 April 2019 to 31 December 2021, taxpayers in the production
and living service industries are allowed to add 10% of the current
deductible input Value-added tax to offset the Value-added tax
payable. As the Group’s businesses meet the requirements of the
policy, those businesses are eligible for the tax benefit.

Wi

0] RS #78 BE A 3t 5 BT () AN &R E 1R 4
MNECHE  ET2RATEBASE
B r) s R B RIARRE
HREFINHEAERRS -

(ii) FERFEHRIEEREBREM
HREKOFEREIRA - BT
—NWFOA—HE-_Z-_—F+=
R=+—8  hA#FEE  £&EHR
TEENTANIRRE B N IR
BEMNEH10% @ R ERFIEE - AR
AEEFHDCEEBTERBRE
Ko BB o ER A Z X% BW
B -
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FREEFI7R)

5 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET GAIN/ 5 H#iWwAERHE#MUkz (&E)
(LOSS) (continued) R ()

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZT-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETTT
Net foreign exchange gain SN U R F KR 6,832 7,975
Net loss on deemed disposal HAELER —EBER R Z
on interests in an associate Wens v BI85 (127) -
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEME  MENREEFER
plant and equipment (E518) Wz 558 (64) 165
Recognition of impairment loss on IERENE ETR RIEREEE
prepayments for non-current assets TR - (42,670)
Reversal of impairment loss TES L IERS 2 I RE
on prepayments to suppliers gt E) - 810
Recognition of impairment loss FEE—fEEE R Al 2 s 2
on interests in an associate BEEERER - (2,441)
Write-off of property, MEEE - BE K&
plant and equipment (1,788) -
Others HAftb (555) (147)
4,208 (36,302)
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 6 MREAIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after (crediting)/charging: BB (T A), /B Ty &84 E
B
2021 2020
—E-—& ZETF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARETTT

Interest income from deposits in banks SR1T Ko Ho b B TS M Y

and other financial institutions 7 *ﬂ’\ﬂ SIA (4,087) (7,814)
Interest expense on interest-bearing loans 5+ B EZHIF] S5 52 111 1,580
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBENFE 1,134 1,185

(2,842) (5,049)
2021 2020
:_vﬁ: - qﬁ — 7 —% £E
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENEMBET 165,129 157,680
Contributions to defined contribution R ERFCRIRET IR
retirement plan (Note) (Bf3E) 33,885 24,938
Termination benefits BB A=A 9,714 15,465
208,728 198,083
Note: BIEE
Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to AEFEEFRNHBARINESBLHEE
participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme administered and T B B IR R E ) R E R IR
operated by the local municipal government. The Group’s subsidiaries in gl o AREFET T BHKE R AR E IR
the PRC contribute funds which are calculated on certain percentages NREEZENFEAHEEFHFE 2 —ELOITEE
of the average employee salary as agreed by the local municipal TarEIE R - AAREEMNRKENREER
government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the & e
employees.
No forfeited contributions (2020: Nil) were utilised during the year. There FRLESHDRKRNER(ZZ_TF :
is no forfeited contribution available at 31 December 2021 and 2020 to M) RZBE-_—FR-ZFT-TF+=A
reduce future contributions. = ‘l’ A W& ARRKOETRD R
RELF o
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6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

6 PFRTATEE @)

The following expenses are included in cost of revenue,

selling and marketing expenses, general and administrative

A THSXFAZRAAR - HERE
X - — MR R ITH S PA R B %

expenses and research and development expenses: Bz -
2021 2020
—B-—F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETTT
Recognition of loss allowance on ME S EYHIBERER
trade receivables and contract assets BERRBERE 35,279 49,086
Recognition of loss allowance MEAMERFIBERZ
on other receivables EER
— due from related parties — FE Uk A 58,978 36,760
— due from third parties —EWE=7 208 55,046
Consultancy fee to related parties YT FAE R 27,022 -
Cost of inventories (Note 17(b)) FERAKE170) 4,193 11,767
Expense relating to short-term leases ERRHAEN S 301 1,937
Depreciation charge (Note 11) FrEZ W (MEE11)
— owned property, plant and equipment —BAYE - BENKRE 2,981 9,313
— right-of-use assets —FRAEEE 18,902 24,154
Amortisation cost of intangible B E SR AN
assets (Note 12) (fizE12) 1,654 1,944
Write-off of other receivables i EL A PR W R IE - 391
Auditors’ remuneration Z RN B &
— audit services —FTR7% 4,730 4,600
— non-audit services —IEE R 800 844
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FREEFI7R)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 &#tEBERANFEH
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARETTT

Current tax - PRC BOHABLIE —
Enterprise Income Tax ERBH
Provision for the year FERE 63 6
Under/(over)-provision in respect of BEFERETR

prior years (FBRERE) 21 (1,008)
Deferred tax EEHIE
Origination and reversal of TR ERNES KED

temporary differences (Note 27(b)) (ftsE27(0)) (10,367) -

(10,283) (1,002)
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 A#HEZXRANFEH @
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

2021 2020
—E-—& ZETF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B AR%T AREFTT
Loss before taxation FR#% A &R (397,397) (471,908)
Tax calculated at statutory tax rates RERNS e AR
applicable to profits or losses BEAEER R
in the respective jurisdictions TERFIE (i) (67,878) (114,920)
Tax effect of: NI IR MBHE
Non-deductible expenses and AR A S &
losses [E518 (ii) 8,477 2,085
Preferential tax rate applicable to BAR—RH B A ()
a subsidiary FEER X 14,604 19,764
Additional deductible T 25 B 2 BN
allowance for research and A HIBR B
development expenses (6,938) (5,903)
Tax loss and temporary RERVERERE
differences not recognised BEMNHBEEER
as deferred tax assets TR ER 53,346 102,364
Utilisation of previously S AT ARRERR A I 14
unrecognised temporary =R 2EH
differences (11,915) (3,364)
Under/(over)-provision in respect BAEFERETE
of prior years (EBEERHE) 21 (1,008)
Actual tax credit BEREMIEER (10,283) (1,002)
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

7

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes:

(i)

Income tax rate applies to the Company and subsidiaries

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to any income tax
in the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands.

The Group has no assessable profit in Hong Kong during the
reporting period and is not subject to any Hong Kong Profits Tax.
The Hong Kong Profits Tax rate during the reporting period is
16.5%.

In accordance with the Enterprise Income Tax Law (“lncome Tax
Law”) of the PRC, enterprise income tax rate for the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries during the reporting period is 25%.

According to the relevant PRC Income Tax Law, the Company’s
subsidiary, BabyTree Information was certified as a New and
High Technology Enterprise in Beijing since 2016, and is entitled
to a preferential income tax rate of 15%. The current certification
of New and High Technology Enterprise held by BabyTree
Information will expire on 1 December 2022,

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate
current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

Non-deductible expenses and losses mainly represent non-
deductible other expenses or losses that exceed the deductible
limitation such as entertainment, donation and others.

BHERRANAER @

G

(i

BRRAR B REKE R PE
eSS

REFREHERRBHBARESE
BREER  AEERBSHEME
B 4 B R B S B R E R PR S A

RBERA - AEEREBLEE

MRBDER] - i BEBNEFEE
FEH - RIEHR - FEFGEH

R 516.5% ©

R B EMETORICAEH
END) AR BRI E A R IR
R DR ER25% ©

RIEAR AT B ATSHE - ¢’§.E’J
WE ABEBEEREZE—RF

ERBRIEREHEMEE &
T‘E?—ﬁ15%ﬁ'ﬂ§§ﬁﬁ SHE -EE
iz BBRRE AN SRR
REBERR T _—_F+-_A—HE
" e

BN B AR M BRZAEERE
AT R R

AR5 2 K 5 48 = 2 5 A0
Bk PR A AN BT R EL At O B S SRS
BHINEBERTE - BRREM) ©
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8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 8 ESHM
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the RIEEE D AUEFI 53831 KA R AT
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies BlEo(HBEE SR ERHENES
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation HEI R -
are as follows:
Year ended 31 December 2021
BE-B--£+-A=t-HLEE
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
I% 2R
Ezhe BUEN BT RIGHEMR ait
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTn AR%Tn ARETn  ARET:n
Executive directors (Note (i)) HATEE (HEE()
GAO Min (Note (V) SElGR) - - - - -
PAN Zhiyong (Note (vi) EEE (M) - 1,520 624 75 2,219
WANG Huainan (Note (vi) T g () - 333 60 33 426
XU Chong & - 2,035 15 125 2,175
Non-executive directors FYTES
CAl Yumin (Note (i) =S8R - 1,168 - 102 1,270
CHEN Bing (Note () R - - - - -
CHEN Wejjun (Note (i) REE (K6 - - - - -
Christian Franz REITERMANN Christian Franz REITERMANN 300 - - - 300
GAO Min (Note {v)) ElE) - - - - -
QIAN Shunjiang (Note (iv)) SIBT (FEEw) - - - - -
WANG Changying (Note (vi) TRA (M) - - - - -
WANG Huainan (Note (vi) T (Fitew) - 3,048 - - 3,048
WU Ying R - - - - -
YAN Jia (Note (i) Bt (P (i) - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors B FH{TES
CHEN Guanglei RES 300 - - - 300
SHIAH Hung-Yu Eil& 300 - - - 300
YU De-chao Michael Az 300 - - - 300
ZHANG Hongjiang ZHANG Hongjiang 300 - - - 300
1,500 8,104 699 335 10,638
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed

in Renminbi) (LA A R#%1)7R)

8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

0

(i)

(vii

(ix)

All the executive directors are key management personnel of the Group
during the reporting period and their remuneration disclosed above
include those for services rendered by them as key management
personnel.

Ms. Cai Yumin resigned as a non-executive director of the Company on
20 January 2021.

Ms. Yan Jia resigned as a non-executive director of the Company on 20
January 2021.

Mr. Qian Shunjiang has been appointed as a non-executive director of
the Company on 20 January 2021.

Mr. Gao Min has been appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 20 January 2021 and has been re-designated from a non-
executive director to an executive director on 28 July 2021.

Mr. Wang Huainan has been re-designated from an executive director to
a non-executive director on 20 January 2021.

Mr. Pan Zhiyong has been appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 20 January 2021 and resigned as an executive director of
the Company on 28 July 2021.

Mr. Wang Changying resigned as a non-executive director of the
Company on 18 June 2021.

Mr. Chen Weijun has been appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 18 June 2021.

Mr. Chen Bing has been appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 28 July 2021.

EEHN @)

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

(vil)

(viil)

()

ERATESHR/ARENFEHANNE
ZEEEAR  LRBEZHFHEREEE
REREEABRHEIRB A -

BEEPLITN—_E-_—F— A=+ HEE
AATZEITES -

BEZTIN T -—F—A-+HBER
DNRBERITES -

BIEIAER_T-_—F—A=-+HEZ
ERARREITES -

BHEEN T —F-—A-+HEZE
RERAIFATES AN _FT_—F+t
A=t N\BEFNTEERERNTES -

FEEEER S —F—A-+HEH
TEEHTAIENTES -

BEBLER-_T-_—F—A=-1+HEZ
ERRRBMITES YN T - —F+
A+ N\BBHEARRIMITES -

FRALER-ZZE-_—FNAT/\BEHHE
AARIFHITES -

REEBEER_ZE_—FA+N\BEZ
ERTRREHITES -

BRKEER-_ZT-_—FtA=-+/\AEZ
FEARRBIERITES -
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8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

8 EEFM@m

Year ended 31 December 2020
BE-F_EEt-_A=t-HIFE

Salaries,

allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees inkind bonuses  contributions Total
I% BER
£ 20k BN B RIRGHEIER At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Executive directors HITES
WANG Huainan T - 3,310 - - 3,310
XU Chong G - 1,917 - 75 1,092
Non-executive directors FHTES
CHEN Qiyu REF = = = = =
WANG Changying IRAE = = = = =
CAl'Yumin BTH - - - - -
YAN Jia B = = = - -
MA Jiangwei EIE - - - - -
WU Ying RE = = = = =
Christian Franz REITERMANN Christian Franz REITERMANN 300 = - - 300
HU Weixiong R - - - _ _
Independent non-executive directors BUFGTES
CHEN Guanglei BRES 300 - - - 300
CHEN Danxia BRAE 148 - - - 148
YU De-chao Michagl aifE 300 - - - 300
SHIAH Hung-Yu o 153 - - - 153
ZHANG Hongjiang ZHANG Hongjiang 300 = = = 300
1,501 5,227 - 75 6,803

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief

executive officer waived or agreed to waive any remuneration

during the year.
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2020:
two) are directors whose emolument is disclosed in note 8. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other two (2020:
three) individuals are as follows:

REFHMAL

REERSHFMALED  F=2(=F
—TE MB)R/EF  WEZHMHE
RHTEES - BB (—F-FF : =4R)
AL 2 #FBEEEmT

2021 2020
—EC-—F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Salaries and other emoluments T & RHE AT
Discretionary bonuses BYIBIEAT
Retirement scheme contributions RIRFTEIEE R

The emoluments of the above individuals with the highest
emoluments are within the following bands:

4,763 5,420
288 8
129 173

5,180 5,601

P smHEMATHOHMERIAT
#E -

2021 2020

—E-—%F =T

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE AL

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ T2 1,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 2,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001#7C22,500,0007 7T 1 -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001#%7L. 23,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 472 4,000,000/ 7T 1 -
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

10 LOSS PER SHARE 10 BREE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the
loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
of RMB387.1 million (2020: RMB470.3 million) and the
weighted average of 1,660,712,000 ordinary shares (2020:

BIREAREIE IR A R R ES KRR
FEREIBARKI87T1HEL(=Z
—TF ARB4703HETT) KT
1/ % N # - 359 21,660,712,000 A%

1,661,340,000 ordinary shares), calculated as follows: (ZZ—F4F : 1,661,340,000 %
MRETE - FTEWT ¢

() Loss attributable to equity shareholders of the (i) AOFERBRRELERER
Company
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETTF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Loss attributable to equity R AR IR
shareholders of the Company FEfhE1E (387,099) (470,262)
(i) Weighted average number of ordinary shares (i) EHBERAMETLTE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTE
’000 ‘000
T8 T
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January RA—A—HBREITHE LHQ 1,662,002 1,668,910
Effect of repurchase and Tk Bl B B S A 52
cancellation of ordinary shares (1,290) (7,570)
Weighted average number of RtTZA=+—H#
ordinary shares at 31 December T3 AR B INAE 1T 2K 1,660,712 1,661,340

BREEEEEBAREHTE
LijJDTEﬁi’J%(TED RATEBEHE
BB ) MatHE

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

There was no difference between the basic and diluted loss HRZZE-_—FR-F=F ¢I[ﬂﬁ
E%ﬁigﬁ?ﬁfﬁtﬂxfﬁ - Qe
dilutive potential shares outstanding for the years 2021 and FRN_E_TENEREAEER
2020. BREEERZRTEER -

per share during the years 2021 and 2020 as there were no
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 Y% BERRKE

Electronic Office Leasehold  Right-of-use
equipment equipment  improvements assets Total
BT WAZRE HERE CREEE =
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
Cost: B
At 1 January 2020 R-Z-FF—F—H 21,046 2,989 21,007 68,239 113,281
Additions NE 196 47 776 827 1,806
Disposals/write-off HE /M (1,102) (1) (108) (12,565) (13,846)
At 31 December 2020 and i Sk 2
1 January 2021 =t-Bk
“Z-—%—-HR—H 20,100 2,965 21,675 56,501 101,241
Additions NE 877 24 - 35,381 36,282
Disposals/write-off HE /s (1473) (29) (3,193) (44,924) (49,619)
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-—%+_AH
== 19,604 2,960 18,482 46,958 87,904
Accumulated depreciation: 2EHE
At 1 January 2020 R-Z-Z4-F—H (12,609) (2,025) (9,680) (28916) (53,224)
Charge for the year ERR (2,638) (633) (6,042) (24,154) (33,467)
Disposals/write-off HE s 1,046 48 43 10,502 11,639
At 31 December 2020 and —ZE-TF4A
1 January 2021 =t-Ak
—E-—%—f—H (14,195) (2,610) (15,679) (42,568) (75,052)
Charge for the year ERRR (1,381) (267) (1,333) (18,902) (21,883)
Disposals/write-off HE /s 1,338 26 1,405 44,924 47,693
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—%+=H
=+-H (14,239) (2,851) (15,607) (16,546) (49,242)
Net book value: BREFE
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—%+=H
=t—H 5,266 109 2,875 30,412 38,662
At 31 December 2020 RZZZZE+ZA
=t+—-H 5,905 355 5,996 13,933 26,189
For both years, the Group leases various offices and office RREFE  ~AEEHEAZESTE R
equipment for its operations. The Group as a lessee is required to RERBIELEE R - AEEEAEEA

recognise right-of-use assets. Details of right-of-use assets are set

out below.

FREREPREE - EFREBENFS
I T
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 ¥%¥ - BERZE @
(Continued)

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by FHEEERABAEERRNZDH
class of underlying asset is as follows: BREVFESITT :

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETTF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Properties leased for own use, carried fEE AMHEEYE
at depreciated cost BT EXANGHE 30,324 13,803
Office equipment, carried at depreciated cost #F/AZ= 254 -
RITERARFHE 88 130
30,412 13,933
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in ElEETEAREERBENRYZIE
profit or loss is as follows: BoMTunT
2021 2020
—E—F —E-TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETTT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets A& EILAMEELER

by class of underlying assets: EoITEER :
Properties leased for own use fEE AmHEEYZE 18,860 24,112
Office equipment MAERME 42 42
18,902 24,154
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6(a)) HEABEH A (H:E6E) 1,134 1,185
Expense relating to short-term leases (Note 6(c)) 7 52 HATE &I H
(Kt5x6(c)) 301 1,937
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 Y% - BERRZE @)
(Continued)

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were FA - {EFHTEEEE’J/,J\EZW%/\E

approximately RMB35,381,000 (2020: RMB827,000). This
amount included capitalised lease payments payable under
new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 22(d) and 25

respectively.

No leases include an option to renew the lease for an
additional period after the end of the contract term.

The Group leases office and office equipment under leases

expiring from 2 to 5 years. None of the leases includes

variable lease payments.

#35,381,000L( —ZE-FF : AR
#827,0007T) ° A R BIERIE
FHEEREOENHEEREERL

HERSRHABENFELEER
BEREIB DT 2 Bl B FE22(d) K
252

WEBQBEAINESRERELRE
EERREE

AEERBER _E0FERNEE
%E)ﬂﬁ#"*&ﬁ#ﬁz?&ﬁ ° %EM
EM A BRAIEEETE

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 12 BEEE
2021 2020
—_—g—_—_ qﬁ — ? —= éﬁ
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Cost: A :
At 1 January R—A—H 16,262 12,093
Additions NE 552 4,169
Write-off 8 (109) =
At 31 December R+=—RA=+—8H 16,705 16,262
Accumulated amortisation: 2ty
At 1 January W—A—H (10,551) (8,607)
Charge for the year FAHRR (1,654) (1,944)
Write-off i EH 109 =
At 31 December R+—A=+—H (12,096) (10,551)
Net book value: BREEE
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 4,609 5,711
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(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Intangible assets represent computer software during the reporting
period.

The amortisation charge for the year is included in “cost of
revenue”, “selling and marketing expenses”, “general and
administrative expenses” and “research and development
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries as at
31 December 2021 which principally affected the results, assets or
liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless
otherwise stated.

12

13

BELEE @)

RIBEHA - B BEREREN -

FEEHBERAFAAHBRERIEENX
K] THEREHEAX ] - [ —REITHRFA
S RIHERS] -

R BARNIRE

TREFIN_ZE_—F+=-H=+—8
TEHAEENEE BEXABEBMY
ZHMEBARFE - RBHIEAIN - AT
BHRGOER AT B -

Proportion of ownership interest

PR
Place and date of Particulars of  Group’s Held Held
incorporation/ issuedand effective by the bythe  Type of
Name of company establishment paid-up capital  interest Company subsidiary  business Principal activities
i/ BREARAR A%EN AFLT AKELR
IR RUHRAH WA EBRER i) BE EHER TEEH
BabyTree Holdings Limited BVI, 1 ordinary share 100% 100% - Limited liability Investment holding
9 February 2018 company (‘LLC") company
BabyTree Holdings Limted ~ EBABREE 1RERR BREFAH RAERAR
—F-N\F
—RhA
BabyTree Group Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares 100% - 100% LLC Investment holding
Hong Kong Limited 5March 2018 HK$1 and company
("BabyTree Hong Kong”) RMB2,674,980,000
EEHEERAARAR &R ARE B BREFAH RERRA
[EEHEE]) “B)\E TBTR
=AnA AEB
2,674,980,0007
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13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

13 RAME A RINERE &)

Proportion of ownership interest

FRRRR L
Place and date of Particulars of ~ Group’s Held Held
incorporation/ issuedand  effective by the bythe  Type of
Name of company establishment paid-up capital  interest Company subsidiary  business Principal activities
it/ BRARMR AREN BALNE HREAR
IR AR A H WA ERER i) B5 EHER TEEH
BabyTree (Beijing) Information ~ Beijing, PRC RMB366,574,300 100% - 100%  WOFE Technology information
and Technology Co., Ltd. 8 August 2007 service
BEROIR)ERRMARAR $ELR NRH366,574,80070 INEBERE EERRE
—TRE
NANE
BabyTree (Tianjin) Technology  Tianjin, PRC RMB3,000,000 100% - 100% LLC Advertising
Co., Ltd. 2 July 2019
BER(RR)BMBERLRA  HERE ARH3,000,0007 AREERH BS
“TNE
tA-H
Meitun Mama (Shanghai) Shanghai, PRC RMB5,000,000 100% = 100%  LLC E-commerce
E-Commerce Co., Ltd. 11 October 2014
FEEE( L) hE L AK5,000,0007T BREFAA B
ETHEBBRAH —E-ME
tA+-A
Ningbo Meitun Mama Ningbo, PRC RMB1,000,000 100% = 100%  LLC E-commerce
E-Commerce Co., Ltd. 23 September 2015
EREEEE hEER AR#1,000,0007C AREERH E
ETHEBBRAH ZE-1ENA
—t=H
Meitun Meiwu (Shanghai) Shanghai, PRC RMB64,801,000 100% - 100% LLC Technology information
Information Technology 5 November 2014 service
Co., Ltd.
ZEEM(B)E i b ARH64,801,0007 BREFAH {ERRHRE
ERMARAR —3-NF
+-A%A

FERE 2021 | AHBEE 209



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FREEFI7R)

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

13 RAME A RINERE &)

Proportion of ownership interest

PR
Place and date of Particulars of ~ Group’s Held Held
incorporation/ issuedand effective by the bythe  Type of
Name of company establishment paid-up capital  interest Company subsidiary  business Principal activities
it/ BRARAE AKEN BALT HNELR
IR HIBHRESH B ERER i) B5 EHER IEEH
Shanghai Xiaojia Finance Shanghai, PRC RMB30,000,000 86% = 86% LLC Finance service
Technology Service Co., Ltd. 3 September 2018
b EeRMRRFERAT TELE AR %30,000,0007C AREEAH Rk
—F-N\F
A=A
Beiing Zhongming Century Beiing, PRC RMB59,991,413 100% - 100%" VI Advertising and content
Science and Technology 1 March 2006 monetisation
Co., Ltd.
IRRRHENEARAT  REER ARH59,991 4137 RERER BERAENE
ZEERE
=R-H

* The company is held by BabyTree (Beijing) Information and Technology
Co., Ltd. through contractual agreements.

There is no individually material non-controlling interest of the

Group during the reporting period.
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

14 PREPAYMENTS FOR NON-CURRENT 14 ¥REBEEFESFIE

ASSETS

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Prepayments for non-current assets ERBEEANFTE
At 1 January Rn—HA—H 42,670 43,500
Currency realignment R (976) (830)
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 41,694 42,670
Less: Impairment loss B OREEE
At 1 January R—H—H (42,670) -
Recognition of impairment loss (Note) TERREE R (P E) - (42,670)
Currency realignment B 976 =
At 31 December RNt+=—A=+—8H (41,694) (42,670)
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December Rt+—A=+—8 - =

Note:

On 15 July 2019, BabyTree Hong Kong entered into a share transfer agreement
with Dragon Cloud Investment LLC (“Dragon Cloud”), pursuant to which
BabyTree Hong Kong shall acquire 100% equity interest in Future Chaser Inc
(“Future Chaser”) from Dragon Cloud at a consideration of the USD equivalent
of RMB43.5 million. Dragon Cloud is a company incorporated in Delaware and
wholly-owned by the spouse of the Vice Chairman of the Group, Mr. Wang
Huainan. Future Chaser is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Dragon Cloud. Future Chaser established a
subsidiary Taiwan Yilai Technology Limited in Taiwan. The consideration paid
to Dragon Cloud was included in prepayments for non-current assets as at
31 December 2019. In 2020, the Group was notified the acquisition was not
approved by the Taiwan Government due to local policies. The Group estimated
the consideration paid was no longer recoverable and fully impaired during the
year ended 31 December 2020.

PRE -

R-ZE—NF+tA+HE  EEHEHEEDragon
Cloud Investment LLC ([ Dragon Cloud ) &7 37 &
NEREHR Bt BEHEBEAREARSE
43.5 5 & LK) E{EZXt[ADragon Cloudi & Future
Chaser Inc ( [ Future Chaser ] ) # 100% f% & -
Dragon Cloud 2 — SR 1E {2 i 2 M ok fft 5 32 A9 122 A%
AR AAKBEREFE T EEEENEBEER
A ° Future Chaserse — RN S8 S M8
AR] + W ADragon Cloud&) 2 & HIEB2AF] ° Future
Chaserid & ik xz — K B 2Q 7 & /& B R EHE
EMRA7F o BftDragon CloudtRER=Z— AN
FHZA=+—H AERBEERMNKIE - B
—ETF - AKEREREBFBEAN - EUKE
SR BOR AR ESEIE - KRB EN
REEATKE - IERBE-_T_TF+_A
=+—BILFEEZERE °
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15

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

The following list contains only the particulars of material associate,
which is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market price is
not available:

15

REFE N R VRER

TRIESIERBERRIWFR - ZRF
RRAFFETEXRER  WEMGHRE :

Proportion of ownership interest

FrinE R bl
Place and date of Particulars of Group’s
incorporation/ issued and effective Held by the Held by the
Name of company establishment paid-up capital interest Company subsidiary  Type of business  Principal activity
it/ ERRER AREW HALR HHEAE
NRER RUBERAS Rz LGy i BE  XEgE TEXR
Vivoiz Healthtech Private Delhi, India, 17,784 shares 8.54% - 854% LLC Social network operation
Limited (*Vivoiz) 5 January 2016 (2020: 13,117 shares) ~ (2020: 10.81%) (2020:4)  (2020:10.81%)
Vivoiz Healthtech Private IS+ (B2 17,7848k 13 8.54% - 854%  RREMAR e
Limited![Vivoiz ) ZENF (CB2%F:  (CBC%F:  (CRFfF: (CE3oEF:
-A%A 13,117H%4) 10.81%) -) 10.81%)

The above associate is accounted for using the equity method in
the consolidated financial statements.

Vivoiz is regarded as an associate of the Group as the Group
has ability to exercise significant influence through participation in
policy-making processes, including decisions about dividends, of
Vivoiz.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group owned 10.81% equity
interests in Vivoiz. On 14 November 2021, upon additional capital
contribution being made by certain new shareholders of Vivoiz, the
registered capital of Vivoiz was enlarged and the Group’s equity
interests in Vivoiz was diluted from 10.81% to 8.54%, resulting
in a net loss on deemed disposal of interests in an associate of
approximately RMB127,000.
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Bt NBBR2ERKERE(BERENE
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RZZEZEF+=—A=+—H ' ~5H
BB Vivoizh)10.81% A% - RZZT=—%F
+—A+mMAB - EVivoiz T &A% E 8 hn
& - VivozH M EAREKX - ZAEER
Vivoiz i 7 F110.81% #58 £8.54% + &
B ALHER —MBE AR 2 Em 2 ER
FEEH AR 127,0007T ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 15 PABEE A B RS ()

Summarised financial information of the material associate, Vivoiz, NI ER & OAHE S N B Vivoiz ) B 75 & )
HE(EREFTBRNEAZEFELAER)
N ERE Gt SRR AR E £ BREVHIER ¢

adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled
to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements,

are disclosed below:

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETTF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Current assets mENEE 24,847 7,556

Non-current assets IEMBEE 3,234 7,413

Current liabilities mENEE (5,663) (3,815)

Non-current liabilities EmEEE (8,733) (4,206)

Revenue WA 3,836 264

Loss for the year FEEBE (23,543) (12,686)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FEEMEERBA(FIX)

for the year 206 (1,349)

Total comprehensive expense for the year FEXHEASERE (23,337) (14,035)

Dividends received from the associate
during the year

FABEERFRRHRE
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15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 REEE N TR (@)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in Vivoiz recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

BT E B E A OB TS TR N FERR
RVivoizigEzm M ERE L BRI BRI T ¢

2021 2020
—E-—f ZETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Net assets of the associate B NRIMEEFE 13,685 6,948
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBE A Vivoiz )k B RS (1 5E
interest in Vivoiz 8.54% 10.81%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate  Z~%2 B fE{5 B L A T & &) FE 1,169 751
Goodwill EES 11,984 14,985
Effect of foreign currency exchange difference SNEFE H, 2 58 1) 57 28 (694) (359)
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Vivoiz 72 B AVivoiziE s2 B BRE £ 58 12,459 15,377
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually I IEERIE AEE 2 A T EEER -
material:
2021 2020
—EB-—% —E T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Aggregate carrying amounts of individually AP RER R R JEE AR &
immaterial associates in the consolidated NaElZ REERRE
financial statements 26,463 27,356
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of ~ AREBE(LZEH L A TIKL
those associates’ losses from operations X EE
Loss for the year FEBAE (894) (1,680)
Other comprehensive income for the year FEEMEEBA - =
Total comprehensive expense for the year FELEMY A5 (894) (1,680)
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16 EQUITY AND DEBT INVESTMENTS 16 REREERE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZT-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Financial assets measured at FVPL DA REEFEESSTA
EHESNESREE
Non-current portion e D
- Unlisted equity securities —JEEThERE S 167,052 190,000
- Bonds portfolios —EHEE 65,364 136,889
232,416 326,889
Current portion BN D
— Bonds portfolios —f&HEE 83,894 457,311
— Wealth management products — BN E G 91,863 193,049
175,757 650,360
Total 1A 408,173 977,249
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17 INVENTORIES

(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise:

17

i

(a) EHPBRRERANFERSE

2021 2020

—B-—F —ZT-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREF T

Finished goods ERK 2,866 701
Less: Provision for inventories W TEEEE (355) (515)
Inventories, net FEFE 2,511 186

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories

(b) BREMZALTABZENEFES

recognised as an expense and included in profit or BEowmE :
loss is as follows:

2021 2020
—E—F —E-TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFIT
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFEREE 4,353 17,932
Write-down of inventories FEMORK 355 515
Reversal of write-down of inventories FEMUEE[E (515) (6,680)
4,193 11,767
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18 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 18 ARS8 ERAFAE
LIABILITIES

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Contract assets EREE
— Arising from performance under —BIIESERMES
advertising contracts 20,966 8,835
Less: Loss allowance B SRR (1,975) (707)
18,991 8,128
The Group has the right to consideration upon the INES BB RETE B S AR 7% SE AR B JE R
completion of the advertising service, of which the HE R —ER T -ZTF
obligations of those contracts are in progress as at 31 TZA=t+—BZEEREHEES
December 2021 and 2020. The Group’s contract assets as REWEEDNERITH - A&
at the end of reporting periods would be realised within the REmERARNEREERZERRK
next twelve months as the contract terms with advertising TZEARER  BREESERF
customers always have an original expected duration of less B RIAE RIHABRIGER A —F A o
than one year.
2021 2020
—B-—-F —TTF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETTT

Contract liabilities EEAEE
Advertising L 4,645 3,781
E-commerce EE 2,947 2,609

7,592 6,390
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18 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 18 &
LIABILITIES (continued)

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

The Group keeps deposits before the satisfaction of online
self-ordered advertisement. These deposits are recognised
as contract liabilities until the Group satisfied the display of
the advertisement.

The Group receives total consideration of the goods
from customers before the Group delivers the goods to
customers. Contract liabilities are recognised until the
customer takes possession of and accept the goods.

Movements in contract liabilities

BERGEAEE@m

FEMERERABESEMNMART
Mﬁf«ﬂﬂ :

AEBRERBIESR ARG
RET  ZRECHIREEEAE
& BEEAKERERTZES/LE -

AEBREPRNENZAER
FEEREMHRERE - ARAE
TR BEERFPHALERE
YMRLE -

‘ﬂﬂﬁvﬁﬂ)@

ERAENEE
2021 2020
_—_g_—_—ﬁ —? —= g
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Balance at 1 January R—A—BM&s

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of ERFAFERT AH VA F
recognising revenue during the year that ~ BE AW AMER NS R
was included in the contract liabilities at BERD
the beginning of the period

Increase in contract liabilities as a result of 4 AU EUR 5 & M E A

receiving deposits during the year A RIEEEN
Balance at 31 December R+ A=+—BN%&EH
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19 TRADE RECEIVABLES 19 ESZREWRRIE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZT-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Amounts due from third parties U EE =5 I8 220,734 171,161

Amounts due from related parties (Note 30(b)(i) & U BB 5 7138 (BT 5E30(b)(i)) 28,282 28,282

Less: Loss allowance W EE S (149,279) (115,268)

99,737 84,175

As of the end of each of the reporting period, the ageing analysis HESREHR  EFHEBGBEENREE
of trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss A BN FNRR S E B E R BRER D AT T

allowance, is as follows:

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARB T ARET T

Within 6 months NEAAA 82,989 82,796
6 months to 1 year NMEAE—F 16,470 1,289
110 2 years —EWE 278 90

99,737 84,175

The credit terms agreed with customers are normally 30-90 HESHTENEEHE R AN L ER I

days from the date of billing or 60-120 days after the date the FT30ZE 0Kk # A E S B Hi1%60E120

advertisement posted. No interests are charged on the trade Ko WENE ZHEKFIBIEFE - BH
receivables. Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit REBNEEBRRE S EIBGIEREL
risk arising from trade receivables are set out in note 29(b). B (= BB A — P S B RAMT EE29(b) ©
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20 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

20 FAMNRERHEAMEWRRIER

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Amounts due from third parties U EE =5 I8 85,536 200,206
Amounts due from related parties (Note 30(b)(i) & U B Es 77 7178 (B 5E30(b)(i)) 219,530 75,033
Prepayments to suppliers At FER R TE N R IE 27,939 20,939
Receivables due from third party payment channels EUL S = 5 & (22 B A 1,403 1,526
334,408 297,704

Less: Loss allowance and B R KR EEE (M)
impairment loss (Note) (182,313) (123,127)
152,095 174,577

Note:

The Group co-operates with certain business partners including third parties
and entities controlled by the Group’s key management personnel, to explore
the business development, cooperation and investment opportunities in the
area of certain new businesses such as sales of elderly products business. The
Group provided funding to these business partners to support the projects. The
funding was included in the balance of other receivables. In 2021, the Group
assessed the progress and outcome of those projects. Certain projects did not
obtained satisfactory result and was terminated during the year. The Group
estimated the related funding was not recoverable and impaired during the year
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

21 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

AREEETEEBHAE(BEFE =T RBALXE
BXEEREABZHNER) RREEREER
EBESETHEBNER  SERREKE - K
SEEMZEXEBRHRRESHZFAAB -
ZEEARMBURKRALS - R=-F——
F o AREFEZEFRENEZRKRR - B0 HE
BRERSHERR  YERFAKLL - AEE
EFHERESEARD  YERBE_T_—%F
M—ZB-TFE+-A=+—RILFEEHRE -

21 HtRBEE

2021 2020

—EBC--fF —ETF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%F T ARET T

Deductible input Value added tax FIRFEIEIGER 9,292 15,272
Others HAth - 37
9,292 15,309
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22

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER 22
CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(@) Cash and bank balances comprise:

BeERRITEKUARHEMBRE

(a) RERBITHERERE

2021 2020
—B-—F —ZT-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Cash at banks and other financial institutions 17 R 1T K& E fth & &l

HIERIR S
Deposits with banks HRITIFR
Cash and bank balances HE RIRTTEER
Less: Restricted cash (Note) B ZREIRE (M)
Cash and cash equivalents per RefRERERN
consolidated statement of cash flows WERRESEZEY

Note:

Restricted cash mainly represents pledged bank balances which are used
to secure investments.

1,161,593 872,842
79,263 206,874
1,240,856 1,079,716
(2,717) (99,700)
1,238,139 980,016

i

EXRHBSEEHERKRERBORITE
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22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22 B4 RESEZEEYUREMIE
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) SREBER @)

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —E_TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Loss before taxation BRELATIE1E (397,397) (471,908)
Adjustments for: AT S IBEL A
Amortisation of intangible assets A 1,654 1,944
Depreciation e 21,883 33,467
Fair value changes on financial NAREBEFERES)
instruments measured at FVPL STABHIERNERT A
AR BEEE 60,216 (26,327)
Gain on lease termination THER ke - (45)
Investment income on financial assets AR EERT= BE8EA
measured at FVPL EHESNTREEN
AW E (34,606) (29,724)
Net loss on deemed disposal on interests 8 AHER —RBL AT 2
in an associate s 7 BERFEE 127 =
Net finance income g A PN (2,842) (5,049)
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEDE BB KEER
plant and equipment B8, (e ) F58 64 (165)
Recognition of impairment loss on MIE N RIBERRERERE
prepayments, net F R - 41,860
Recognition of impairment loss on N ) /N Wl 3y
interest in an associate R EEE - 2,441
Recognition of loss allowance on trade B BEUGHRIE R
receivables and contract assets BREEEREERE 35,279 49,086
Recognition of loss allowance on other FLE A FE U TR
receivables REERE 59,186 91,806
Reversal of write-down of inventories FEME[E (515) (6,680)
Share of losses of associates JE(hE & R R ES 1R 3,439 3,051
Write-off of property, plant and equipment W - BB MR E 1,788 -
Write-off of other receivables i £ L Ath FE LK R IR - 391
Write-down of inventories FEMOR 355 515
Changes in working capital: LIBEERNEE)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE0Em), SR (2,165) 9,196
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables B HRUGRIARARIEE
and contract assets (&), E (61,704) 61,909
Decrease in prepayments and other T FRIA SR B FE U
receivables KR 107,793 222,922
Decrease/(increase) in other current assets ~ EfbimEn &&= k2 (381n) 6,017 (3,897)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash SBREIFREm A, (3 hm) 96,983 (99,700)
Increase in trade payables B 5 FE IR N 3,151 6,622
Increase in accruals and other payables JFE ST K E b B A~ FRIEHE AN 14,832 8,497
Increase in contract liabilities &aRAEEM 1,202 4,213
Net cash used in operations KEFTRIR & F 5 (85,260) (105,575)
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22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) &

29

&=

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flow as cash flows from financing activities.

22 iﬁﬁgi HEEEBYURE
=

23
1L

L H 38
—e=10 )

TREVNAKEREBETHNE
ENEEHFE  REREEIIERS
B METHRELNABAR
%//lhjzik;'zfﬁ%//lbﬁ EAZL‘%./\
HREREXRTHOEAREEH
REmWEE -

Amounts due
to related Lease  Short-term
parties liabilities  borrowings Total
JER B
SR HEEE REER @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2020 R-ZB-ZE%-H-H 23,683 37,440 - 61,123
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSREH
Repayments to related parties A RARE iR (4,220) - - (4,220)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EREEREMNASHD = (1,185) - (1,185)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BAHERENEREHH = (21,529) = (21,529)
Proceeds from new bank loans ERITE N PTE5R = = 761,681 761,681
Repayment of bank loans BERTER - - (761,681)  (761,681)
Other changes: Hit# 5 :
Increase in lease liabilties from entering into FRIHEEERN
new leases during the year HEBEEM = 827 = 827
Decrease in lease liabilities from early FRRER HHEEHA
termination of lease during the year HEARRD = (2,108) = (2,108)
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) M EFZ (fE6() = 1,185 = 1,185
At 31 December 2020 and R-B=2F
1 January 2021 +=A=t-AK
—E-_-5-H-H 19,463 14,630 - 34,093
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSREH
Repayments to related parties R EEE TR (1) = = (1)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENEEREMHFEES = (1,134) = (1,134)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERNHERENE ﬁ*ﬁ 2 - (19,043) - (19,043)
Proceeds from new bank loans MERITERE A - - 130,210 130,210
Repayment of bank loans BRRTER = = (130,210)  (130,210)
Other changes: Hith#g
Increase in lease liabilities from entering FRUHMEEERN
into new leases during the year HAEEEEN = 35,381 = 35,381
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) F 2 E % (f7E6() = 1,134 = 1,134
At 31 December 2021 R=B=-%
+=A=+—H 19,462 30,968 - 50,430
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22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22 BeRRESEEBEYWUREME

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flow

EREER @)

(d HERSRHARE
SEEF AR KRS RERAMNK

for leases comprise the following: HBEATEAE :
2021 2020
—EB-—% —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETTT
Within operating cash flows FIAKER N 301 1,937
Within financing cash flows SFARIERE R 20,177 22,714
20,478 24,651
These amounts relate to the following: BT FIER BN
2021 2020
—E-—f& ZETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Lease rentals paid BHEERS 20,478 24,651
23 TRADE PAYABLES 23 BZENRIE
2021 2020
—E—F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETTT
Amounts due to third parties B E=5kIE 23,107 19,946
Amounts due to related parties (Note 30(b)(i)) &1~ BaEsE 75 7/ 38 (B 5E30 (o)) 326 336
23,433 20,282
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23 TRADE PAYABLES (Continued) 23 BEZEMAFTEm®m)
As of the end of each of the reporting period, the ageing analysis HESREHK  BIHENFEBENEZE
of trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BERRBRER DATLA T
2021 2020
—EB-—F —ECTEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Within 6 months 7~ E A A 13,850 10,682
6 months to 1 year NMEAE—%F 2,543 1,639
1 to 2 years —EMFE 624 7,662
Over 2 years FREFELA 6,416 299
23,433 20,282
24 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 24 FEGTR HAPEFIE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETTT

Amounts due to merchants JES PR R IE 12,404 17,053
Amounts due to related parties (Note 30(b)(i)) & f<f B 75 578 (FFE30(0)()) 19,462 19,463
Payroll payables ERTTE 22,893 3,472
Taxes and levies payables ENHIEREE 4,186 4,143
Deposit from merchants [GERi:wa 8,475 9,909
Other payables H b S RIR
- Audit fee —ZEEH 4,800 4,600
— Internet and technical service fee payables — — &< B B 48 & H T ARTS & 4,076 3,656
— Promotion and advertising service —ENHEERESREE
fee payables 11,550 8,628
— Others —HAh 12,842 15,033
100,688 85,857
All of the accruals and other payables are expected to be settled P FEAT R B BT T R —F A
or recognised as profit or loss within one year or are repayable on HEINBERPRERIIRERER -
demand.
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25 LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of
the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous

reporting periods:

25 HEEE

TRETRERMBERSHAAEEE
SRBENRREOHR

At 31 December 2021
R-—ZE-_—-%+=-A=+—H

At 31 December 2020
RZEZTF+A=+—H

Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHE REHE ®EHEE EHEE
HRBE (RE7EE 3 E B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥T T AREBFT AREFT
Within 1 year —FR 14,398 15,482 12,102 12,375
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMER 11,420 11,898 2,482 2,624
After 2 years but within 5 years ~ REEEREER 5,150 5,205 46 47
16,570 17,103 2,528 2,571
30,968 32,585 14,630 14,946
Less: Total future interest expenses )i : 7K 3 .85 = 4248 (1,617) (316)
Present value of lease liabilities ~ FEEERE 30,968 14,630
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26 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 26 fTEEmIA
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARET T

Current derivative financial liabilities MENTE SR A E

— Other derivatives (Note 29(f)(i)) —H 574 T A (FisE29(0()) 114 =
Derivative financial liabilities represent foreign exchange MESBARRBER —FRIHM
options that will be expired within one year. These derivative SNEEARE - ZETES BB ETR
financial liabilities do not qualify for hedge accounting and their BEHETNER  HAREBEED
corresponding changes in fair values have been recognised in the HEZEEHENEGHERRPER -

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

27 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 27 &#3tBBRREPHNETERH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2021 2020
—EB-—% —E T
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

At 1 January R—H—H 6 1,010
Provision for income tax for the year ANE S FTIS R B AR 63 6
Under/(over)-provision in respect BEFERETR

of prior years (FREERE) 21 (1,008)
Income tax paid during the year FREFTER (27) @
At 31 December Rt+t-—A=+—H 63 6
Representing: K& :
Current taxation BNEATR IR 63 6
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27 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

27 SOFFBIRR R PSR @

() Movement of each component of deferred tax () EZEHEEERESZARID
assets and liabilities DZBE
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) REFI BN R N FEZRIE
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial EREEE(BE)EXIH
position and the movements during the year are as FEREHERDOT
follows:
Other
Deductible deductible
accumulative  Impairment temporary
loss loss differences Total
At
TENZTEE AEFE  ERMEER ot
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARMTR ARETn ARETRn
Deferred tax arising from: T RBEEZEEHE
At 1 January 2020 WZ_ZE-Z%—HA-H 11,491 15,845 610 27,946
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss (Note 7(@)) ~ 5f A/ (M%) B % (FizE7(a) = - - -
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RZZZZFE+-A=1-H
R=ZE-—%-HF—H 11,491 15,845 610 27,946
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (Note 7(@) ~ (¥18) /zF AB& (MzE7(0) (10,059) 20973 (553) 10,367
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+-R=1+-H 1,438 36,818 57 38,313
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27 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 27 &#tBiEiREBPHFER &)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of (i) HEEHHMBRRRZEE

financial position

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARETTT

Net deferred tax asset recognised I

financial position
Net deferred tax liability recognised 7%

financial position

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(r),
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect
of cumulative tax loss of RMB941.3 million (2020: RMB819.4
million) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against
which the losses can be utilised will be available in the
relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses arising
from PRC will expire in one to ten years for offsetting against
future taxable profits.

At 31 December 2021, no temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries (2020: RMB1.0
million). Deferred tax liabilities of nil (2020: RMB0.3 million)
have not been recognised in respect of the tax that would
be payable on the distribution of these retained profits as the
Company controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries
and it has been determined that it is probable that these
profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

A PHIIISAR R R P R A
in the consolidated statement of BEERIBEEFE

A BHIIISARC R R P R A
in the consolidated statement of EERIE & EFE

38,428 28,061
(115) (115)
38,313 27,946

BB EE2( T B TR - AN&E
B R REHIEEEAR41.3
BEL(ZE_2F : AR%819.4
BEL)BRELEHIELE - ART
AP REEHEM S R AR R B
BN A5 2% 20 8 AR A5 e ) LA (L $R H A TE
B8 o IR B B AT A VR SE R R B
Apa MR HIEEEER -2+ F
ENE

RZFE=——F+=—A=+—H ' ¥
mERE AR RSB RFEENE
BEZE(ZTE_ZF : AR¥10
BET) WEMSEZERE R
FIFE T AR IB RE R IR TR IE B &
RE(ZEZZF : ARK0IESE
70) - RRAARARNEHIZENBEA
AR B - WERELEATER

R DB F A ©
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances

of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is

set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

28 BX - RERKE

AEEA S S AR D B &

HIR ok 2 SERE N & OF 1

*#BT)

xR o FYIRFRAREEEER A

Details of changes in the Company’s individual components AER D 2 BB RIS EI T
of equity between the beginning and the end of the year are
set out below:
Share Share Treasury Capital  Translation Retained
capital premium shares reserve reserve profits Total
k& Rty&% ) EXGE EiffE REAE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTn  AR¥Tn  ARETn  AR¥Tn  ARETn  AR¥Tn  ARETx
Balance at 1 January 2020 R-5-8£-F-A
M 1,158 7,892,474 (10,145 (7,336,927 (606,012 2,595,491 2,536,039
Changes in equity for 2020: R-S-ZENERED.
Proft for the year Efg = = - - - 24,050 24,060
Other comprenensive expense EH2ERR - - - - (164,347) - (164,347)
Total comprehensive expenselincome 2 (B )/ RAEE = - - - (164,347) 24,050 (140,297)
Repurchase of ordnary shres LRRED - - (1.870) - - - (1870)
Cancelation of reasury shares HEERRD § (10847) 10,852 - - - -
Balance at 31 December 2020and ~ R-E-F&+-A
1 January 2021 St-AR=%=-f
-A-BHEs 1,153 7,881,627 (1,163 (7,336,927) (770359) 2,619,541 2,303,872
Changes in equity for 2021: RoF--EHEREE.
Loss for the year EnER - - - - - (104438)  (104439)
Qther comprenensive expense Eh2ERS - - - - (53,892) - (53,892)
Total comprefensive expense AR S - - - - (63892)  (104438)  (158,330)
Cancellaton oftreastry shares HHERRR (1) (1,162 1,163 - - - -
Balance at 31 December 2021 RIB-£
tZAZt-BivER 1152 7880465 - (13690 (@41 2515108 2285542
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 28 &7 - #{ERKRE (&
(Continued)

During the year, no dividends were declared or paid by the RERA - AR AN E R EERRR
Company to its equity shareholders (2020: Nil). TR MRE(ZZE_TF : &) o
Number of Share Share
ordinary shares capital premium
EEREA R IR E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARMET T
As at 1 January 2020 N-B-EF—-HF—H 1,668,910,609 1,158 7,892,474
Cancellation of repurchased D R AR
ordinary shares (6,909,000) (5) (10,847)
As at 31 December 2020 and R-ZB-EF+=H
1 January 2021 =t+t—HE
—E-_—-%—H-—H 1,662,001,609 1,153 7,881,627
Cancellation of repurchased HHE R
ordinary shares (1,290,000) (1) (1,162)
As at 31 December 2021 R=B=—-%+=A
=qr=/g 1,660,711,609 1,152 7,880,465
On 3 June 2020, the Company cancelled 6,909,000 ordinary MNR_ZE_ZTFA=H ' &AQ
shares, of which 6,039,000 shares were repurchased during =+ $4 6,909,000 A% & @ i& - ':F'
the year ended 31 December 2019 and 870,000 shares 6,039,000k AN EZE =-ZF — N
were repurchased during the year ended 31 December F#+—HA=+—H ﬂ:fﬁr&_ =
2020. 870,000 RREIE T _TF+ =

A=t—RHLFEEMD -

On 22 March 2021, the Company cancelled 1,290,000 RZE-_—F=A=+=-H ' KX
ordinary shares, which were repurchased during the year 7] 5T $8 1,290, OOOHX Bk ZF
ended 31 December 2020. Hﬁﬁﬁ’jb"\@i_ E-_TE+ A
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 28 &% - FE&ERKE @)
(Continued)

Number of
shares RMB’000
R EE AR¥T T

As at 1 January 2020 R-BE=-ZTH—H—H 6,039,000 10,145
Shares repurchased to be cancelled 1 FrEfER E D Ik, 2,160,000 1,870
Cancellation of treasury shares FESHEFRR G (6,909,000) (10,852)
As at 31 December 2020 and R-B-ZBHF+-A=+—H

1 January 2021 E=—ZE=-——%—H—H 1,290,000 1,163
Cancellation of treasury shares ESHEERR D (1,290,000) (1,163)
As at 31 December 2021 RN-—EB-_—4%5+-HA=+—H - -
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 28 &7 - #{ERKRE (&
(Continued)

The repurchase of shares was governed by Chapter 10 of
the Listing Rules. There was no repurchase of shares during
the year ended 31 December 2021. During the year ended
31 December 2020, the Company repurchased its own
ordinary shares through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited as follows:

EIERNHE EMBAAUETERE -
REBEZZT=—F+=A=+—H
IEFEAMERRERG - REEZ
EEF+-A=+—HIEFE
AN ARRBREBHERZNE
RARIEIEER ST @RIAT

Number of Highest Lowest Aggregate

shares price paid price paid  consideration

Month/year repurchased per share per share paid
gReR gRER

/R EEEROHE BeER REER ENEREHE

HK$ HK$ HK$’000

BT BT THET

April 2020 —Z-TFNHA 2,160,000 1.03 0.83 2,047

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 1,290,000
(2020: 6,909,000) repurchased shares were cancelled and
accordingly the issued share capital of the Company was
reduced by US$129 (2020: US$691) (equivalent to RMB833
(2020: equivalent to RMB4,799)).

The capital reserve mainly represents the cash considerations
for acquisitions of interest in subsidiaries arising from the
Group’s reorganisation in 2017.

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations as well as the effective
portion of any foreign exchange differences arising from
hedges of the net investment in these foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in notes 2(u).

BHE_ZE-_—4F+=-A=+—HL
FER - 1,290,0008 (= F =Z4F :
6,909,000 /4% ) 2 & [B i 17 4% 7 35 &
AR E TR B EH R 1293
TL(ZEZZF 691 ) (HER
ARMBBIT(ZT_ZF : lER
AR¥4,79970)) »

BEAFRIZEERASER -F
—tEETEAENKENE QR
mHIREHE -

X REeER BRI RS
BERMEENAAINEEZRE - UK
R EBIEBREFEMEL
MEN ZENERED - AEFHR
MU B B S BUR R EE -
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of an
adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose, adjusted
net debt is defined as total debt (which includes lease
liabilities) less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity.

During 2021, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged
from 2020, was to maintain the adjusted net debt-to-capital
ratio. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue
new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt
financing or sell assets to reduce debt.
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 28 &4 - f#ERRKRE &)

(Continued)
The Group's adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 R-E-_—FR T _FTF+_H
December 2021 and 2020 was as follows: =1+—B  AEENKARERY
BARLEMT ¢
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZT-TF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AR®T AREF T
Current liabilities: mEEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 14,398 12,102
Non-current liabilities: EMBNEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 25 16,570 2,628
Total debt B 4REE 30,968 14,630
Less: Cash and cash equivalents, B RERIBEEEY - 22
net of restricted cash BSR4 (1,238,139) (980,016)
Adjusted net debt RARBEKEE (1,207,171) (965,386)
Total equity T4 R 1,889,303 2,314,754
Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio KRG HEY
B E N/A N/A
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29 £@iEAREERSMITANA

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at FVPL AR BENEEZHA
EHERNeREE 408,173 977,249
Financial assets at amortised cost HEHEK AT ENESRIEE 1,507,019 1,354,953
1,915,192 2,332,202
Financial liabilities ==K
Financial liabilities at FVPL KAnEBEAEAZESTAE
HEsNTRaE 114 -
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RESER AT ENSRBE 155,089 120,769
155,203 120,769
Exposure to credit, liquidity, currency and interest rate risks ANEBRBSEKBRETEREE
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. B rn#is - 8RR
O o
The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk T Xt AN B P Fe % R R
management policies and practices used by the Group to DERNREBRINEEZZREHNS
manage these risks are described below. bR B IR R B o
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade and other receivables and contract assets. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and bank
balances is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with a minimum credit rating of
BBB, for which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 44.5%
(2020: 31.2%) and 69.9% (2020: 55.7%) of the total trade
receivables and contract assets was due from the Group’s
five largest customers. These customers were mainly
4A advertisement agent companies with diversified end-
customers.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due within 30-90 days from the date of
billing or within 60-120 days after the date the advertisement
posted. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and
contract assets as at 31 December 2021 and 2020:

20 sRERBEEREMIANA

REEE

EZRWREBEREREE (&)
RZBEZ—FR=ZZF_FTF+=-HA
=+—H AEBEFEWRIER
EREEMREFEERRMAO REHE
SEEEREENTRAR

2021
—E——F
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEEE MR {E R
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR¥ET T ARBT T
Current (not past due) BE(KEH) 9% 94,883 8,635
1-90 days past due AHI1ZE90K 32% 23,075 7,343
91-180 days past due BHEI01 180K 41% 20,577 8,492
181-270 days past due #H181 270K 65% 12,662 8,277
271-365 days past due BEA271E365K 83% 1,661 1,383
More than 365 days past due #61 BAR 365K 100% 117,124 117,124
269,982 151,254
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29 £ hiEMETERE4MIAND
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REEm)
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) BSEWFERERAEE(EA)
2020
—ECTHF
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEEREIE X HARHEE EiERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000

% ARETT ARETT

Current (not past due) BNER(R@HA) 7% 88,832 6,290
1-90 days past due #HR1 290K 46% 15,581 7,199
91-180 days past due #HAO1 = 180K 49% 991 487
181-270 days past due BHI181E270K 57% 1,838 1,054
271-365 days past due BHI271 2365k 91% 1,009 918
More than 365 days past due #61 B A 1B 365K 100% 100,027 100,027
208,278 115,975
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience TEHAE 1B R H A B A 365 K BB S
over the past 365 days. These rates are adjusted to reflect B EtE jﬂﬁpﬁ B Eiglhe
differences between economic conditions during the period H;qf‘ﬂ R EAR N & RIAR R R AN
over which the historic data has been collected, current B2 50 RE S Iﬁm}g\ﬁgrgﬁ;ﬁ
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions E’]£$/ﬁﬁj(/ﬂ, EUoRNERE
over the expected lives of the receivables. FEE o
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29 £@EREERSBMIAND
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS SEE@

(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
receivables and contract assets during the year is as follows:

ESRUREREREE (&)
FA - BHRBKEREGREES
BRERNZFHNT
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARETTT

Balance at 1 January R—A— B4
Recognition of loss allowance FNREREERE
during the year

Balance at 31 December AT+ A=1+—Bt4&8

Other receivables

For other receivables, the management makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29 £ hiEMETERE4MIAND
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REEm)
(Continued)

Other receivables (Continued) HbEWFRIE (E)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of other FA - H A EBGRIAE R R R A
receivables during the year is as follows: BEIO -
2021 2020
—E-—& ZETF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARETTT

Balance at 1 January R—A—Hev&EeR 109,140 17,334
Recognition of loss allowance FNREREERE
during the year 59,186 91,806
Balance at 31 December RTZA=+T—Hr&E 168,326 109,140
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible AEEETECEEBEREH
for their own cash management, including the short-term EEHEER BRERIASEHN
investments of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to RERERESE G RARE AR
cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to oK o NEBWEK AFEHER
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and adequate ERBEeFREKRE EEC R
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to BOARATESEEEE  Un e
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. HEBHERANRBESTRK - R
As at 31 December 2021, the Group has unutilised banking 2 —F+ZRA=+—H ' &K
facilities of RMB398,785,000 (2020: RMB406,245,000). ESEHEEARADAREITHREARE

398,785,000 C(ZZE-ZTF : AR
#406,245,0007T) °
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay:

20 sRERBEEREMIANA

REEE

(c)

WENE = B (A1)

TRETNHREHRA KB IEDT
AERMBERTTESRAGBHHRT
BHEHSE - L RBEA KR
RRSR(BREEBAONEFEDN
MBMNFK  HAFBNE - AIRE
REREHROBRITHER) A RAEE
AR EREERBN KT B E -

As at 31 December 2021
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
RZB--F+-B=+-RENANRRLRE

Carrying

amounts

in the

More than More than consolidated

Within 1 year but 2 years but statement of

1 year or less than less than financial

on demand 2 years 5 years Total position

—ERg BB-F BBmE AREBHRR

EEX  EORRE  EOREE @t kAR

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T ARET T ARETT ARBTR

Trade payables 2 SRR 23,433 - - 23,433 23,433
Accruals and other payables Tt REMENTIE 100,688 - - 100,688 100,688
Derivative financial instruments ~ $744@I A 114 - - 114 114
Lease liabilties HERR 15,482 11,898 5,205 32,585 30,968
139,717 11,898 5,205 156,820 155,203

242 Annual Report 2021 | BabyTree Group



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FREEFI7R)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29 s @iEMEEREMIANA

REEE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c)

REBES (8)

As at 31 December 2020

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

R-B-FF+-A=+—-RANATRR LRI

Carrying

amounts

in the

More than More than consolidated

Within 1 year but 2 years but statement of

1 year or less than less than financial

on demand 2 years 5 years Total position

—ER Bh—F HBRmE AFMBIRK

IEER  BIRWME  EIRDF @t SR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

Trade payables B AEMNTR 20,282 - = 20,282 20,282
Accruals and other payables st R EM TR 85,857 - - 85,857 85,857
Lease liabilties HERR 12,375 2,524 47 14,946 14,630
118,514 2,524 47 121,085 120,769
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables, payables
and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign
currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional currency
of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Japanese Yen
(“JPY”), United States dollars (“‘US$”), Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) and Renminbi (‘RMB”). The Group manages this risk
as follows:

(i) Recognised assets and liabilities
In respect of receivables and payables denominated
in foreign currencies, the Group ensures that the net
exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or
selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary
to address short-term imbalances.

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown in Renminbi,
translated using the spot rate at the year end date.
Differences resulting from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency are excluded.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29 s @iEMEEREMIANA

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REE@®
(Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) ErEks(E)
(i) Exposure to currency risk (Continued) (i) EXRER®HOGE)
2021 2020
Z3>-F “ZEF

Us$ RMB HKS JPY Us$ RMB HKS JPY
it AR% BT AE T ARE BT BE
RMB'000  RMB'O00 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMBIOOD  RMB'000  RMB'OO0
AEBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETH ARETT ARETR ARETR

Other receivables AR - - - - 424 - - -
Cash and bank halances Be Rt 18,960 1,721 3,657 3 %5 18094 5,884 =
Accrualsand other payables  FESTREf

R (250) - - - 294 - - -

Financial assets measured at far ~ JAARBE:ERES
value through profit or loss STABBERR

ERAE - - - - - 20 199) -
Trade payables BAEMTE (2,880) - - (252 (2890 - - (259

(Gross exposure arising from ERREERAREE

recognised assets and fiabiities  K)ER 15,830 1,721 3,657 (2,525) (6,379) 40,114 5,685 (2,528)
Notional amount of foreign SEHENLGEAS

exchange options (35,066) - - - = = = =
Net exposure el (19,236) 1,721 3,657 (2,525) 6379 40114 5,685 (2,528
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(iii) Sensitivity analysis
The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s loss before tax and accumulated losses
that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which
the Group has significant exposure at the end of the
reporting period had changed at that date, assuming

20 sRERBEEREMIANA

REEE

(iii)

BRBAMED T

PRI - WARERERE B
KA ERERASHNE FE K%
AHIRES - RRMAAEME

BEBIRETE -

AR B R

iR E IR & Rt B R AE LAY E]

all other risk variables remained constant. =528 I
2021 2020

—EC-—F —E-FF
Effect on Effect on
loss loss
Increase/ before Increase/ before
(decrease) taxation (decrease) taxation
in foreign and in foreign and
exchange accumulated exchange accumulated
rates losses rates losses
HH AR B AIEE
HNEER REBFEER SNEFEER  REFHEIE
®gm (R ZEE =i 0Rd) -7
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Us$ ETT 5% (962) 5% (269)
(5%) 962 (5%) 269
RMB AR 5% 86 5% 2,006
(5%) (86) (5%) (2,006)
HK$ BT 5% 183 5% 284
(5%) (183) (5%) (284)
JPY HI[E 5% (126) 5% (126)
(5%) 126 (5%) 126
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29 £ hiEMETERE4MIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REEE
(Continued)
(iii) Sensitivity analysis (Continued) (ii) BERMD M (E)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ loss before taxation
and equity measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into Renminbi at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including inter-
company payables and receivables within the Group
which are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the borrower. The
analysis excludes differences that would result from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations into the Group’s presentation currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2020.

RO MERBETAEER
EERZEANEEEHEL
R BB 18 R ik s AR
ZEXRBE S NRELAMEZ %
HBEERR R o

BBE AT BRIMEER 2 8
DEAREFHEARERE
BALRRE R EAREE
HERRZEBIE - 2EA
5 8 OB A8 7 LA B
BASNEMEEHEZ A FIRIE A K
THRAERFR © WIS
I B RERE AA
RE 2SI E L2 8 -
ZANE-E-TEZ AR
AT o
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29 £ hiEMETERE4MIAND
REEm)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from its cash
and bank balances with floating interest rates which expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group’s assets and liabilities as at the end of the
reporting period:

AEBEZMNERBRERRERID
MERFABWMBRS RRITHER - HL
AEEHBERSRNERR -

@

RS S
TRAVRERREAREEE
ERBEOFEHER

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Variable interest rate JF B
Financial assets SREE
— Cash and bank balances —IRe RiBITEE

(i) Sensitivity analysis
At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group’s loss before taxation
for the next 12 months by approximately RMB6.2
million (2020: RMB5.4 million).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate
non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the
end of the reporting period.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
IFRS 18, Fair value measurement. The level into which
a fair value measurement is classified is determined
with reference to the observability and significance of
the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

= Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date.

= Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

= Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

20 sRERBEEREMIANA
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair value measurements of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities including investments
in unlisted equity securities, bonds portfolios, wealth
management products and derivative financial
instruments are categorised into the following level in

the fair value hierarchy:

Fair value at
31 December

20 sRERBEEREMIANA

REEE
) UAABEHEZLSREER
L AC )
A BEBRE)

AEENEREERERAE
(BRERIFLDHREES &
HEE BVERRITESR
TEANKRE)UNAABEER
DRATER

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2021

2021 categories into
R-B=-%
+=A=+-H R-B=—-f%

ZAREER tZA=t-BzAREBEFESE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E—% BH E=
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBT T ARBT T ARETT

Assets gE

Unlisted equity securities FETERES 167,052 - - 167,052
Bonds portfolios Erla 149,258 8,257 141,001 -
Wealth management products I 81 & 91,863 - - 91,863

Liabilities =X
Derivative financial instruments  #T4£4 g T A&
— Foreign exchange options — HNEE E R

(114) - (114) -
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29 £ hiEMETERE4MIAND
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Fair value at
31 December

REEE

() URABEESAEZESHEER
BEGER)

AV

1B1EER (&)

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2020
categories into

i
T=A RZZ_TF

Z TZA=T—BZARBEFENE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F—& FM F=M
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREBTT AR&TR

Assets gE

Unlisted equity securities JE LR A - - 190,000
Bonds portfolios BEHEE 183,330 410,870 =
Wealth management products I 81 & = = 193,049
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, HE—_ T - KT -F ¢

there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, +=—HA=+—HItFE
or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy MERASE — 4 F’ﬁj[’[ﬁﬁ_r}‘zjzjf

is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occur.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurement

Investments in bonds portfolios are measured at
fair values in the consolidated statement of financial
position based on quoted price of actively traded
underlying assets.

The fair values of foreign exchange options are
determined by using the forward exchange rates at the
end of the reporting period and comparing them to the
contractual rates.

BEASBHE=H - ~A5H
MBRREARBEBRZME
HIREB O RENERERE

RaesR% o
FBRAAEEFEEFEE
EH AT REAB1F
REHPFIEMRREKF - EH5E

BREREBEIEENERE
EMHRNEBRARARBER

=
= °

SN SRR R (B ER A
B ) M % 52 FIEE S Lt
BET -
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair
value measurement

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

20 ¢REREEREMIAND
REE@®

() URABEESAEZESHEER
BEGER)
FE=RAL B BB
ﬁffﬁf&ﬁ/l%{ﬁ
R BEFENER

Significant
Valuation unobservable Weighted
techniques inputs Range average
fRE R BEATABERARE gE MEFSE
Unlisted equity securities Market comparison Discount for lack of 18% to 23% 21%

approach (2020: 15% (2020: 19%)
to0 23%)
LTSRS M5BV R M5BT R 18%£23% 21%
(Z2=2F: (ZZ2THF:
15%223%) 19%)
Wealth management Discounted cash flow  Bank quoted expected ~ 0.1% to 3.5% 1.3%
products approach (2020: 0.6% (2020: 1.8%)
to 3.6%)
BHER BB ESMEE RITETRAY TR HAEI 3R 0.1%%3.5% 1.3%
(ZZ2=2%F: (ZB-TH%:
0.6%%3.6%) 1.8%)

The fair value of unlisted equity securities is determined
by reference to the recent transaction pricing for the
entities or similar transactions in similar entities in same
industry adjusted for lack of marketability discount. The
fair value measurement is negatively correlated to the
discount for lack of marketability.

As at 31 December 2021, it is estimated that with all
other variables held constant, an increase/decrease
in discount for lack of marketability by 1% would have
increased/decreased the Group’s loss before taxation
by RMB1.7 million (2020: RMB1.9 million).
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EmEREFNAREBED
Z2EBRBRATENELERY
BURZNIHRZERE
E - EPgRRZmISREE
PBIEH AR - DA EEE
B Z M5 R BT EA R
BE =

R—E-_—F+=—HA=+—
H - A E BT
BERT - fhEHRE 5B
MITE A T HR1%E S
£ B /o bR B AT S R 1 0,
PARBITEET(ZZE=-F
F:ARB19BET) °
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair
value measurement (Continued)

The fair value of wealth management products is
determined using discounted cash flow approach. The
fair value measurement is positively correlated to the
bank quoted expected return.

As at 31 December 2021, it is estimated that with all
other variables held constant, an increase/decrease in
bank quoted expected return rate by 1% would have
decreased/increased the Group’s loss before taxation
by RMBO0.9 million (2020: RMB1.9 million).

The Group has a team headed by the finance manager
performing valuations for the financial instruments,
including unlisted equity securities and wealth
management products which are categorised into
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The team reports
directly to the chief financial officer and the audit
committee. A valuation report with analysis of changes
in fair value measurement is prepared by the team
at each interim and annual reporting date, and is
reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer.
Discussion of the valuation process and results with
the chief financial officer and the audit committee is
held twice a year, to coincide with the reporting dates.

20 sRERBEEREMIANA

REEE

U]

UARBEFEZERMEER
BEGER)

FE=RAL B BB
ERMEZBAEZ (&)
BHMEMNARBEERRS
RRSRELETE - AAEE
At EBRIRTTATIRAYTE H [ FRAK
IELL -

RZE-—F+-A=+—
B - A E MRS
BERT - RITAERETREE
BELEHA/THI%KSARE
B HBR B ATEER D E A
E¥0BE T (S -4 :
AR¥A19BET) °

AEEE - AR BRETE
MEREeRTIA(BES R
RARBEF=ZMWIFLT
BamES BN EM) E1TH
B - ZEGEZR AN FEER
BERREEWmE - BRSNS
R FERE R
MERSOMAABEED -
ZME e AN AEER R
o BEBERBERRERE
FEITMAGH (ERE A
ME)smibEeRIER -
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

value (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair

value measurement (Continued)

The movements during the reporting period in the

balance of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as

follows:

20 sRERBEEREMIANA

REEE

() URABEESAEZESHEER

BEGER)

FE=RAL B BB
ERMEZBAEZ (&)
BEREANE=R A EEFT
EREBNEBFIIMT

2021 2020
—B-—F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®EF T ARETTT
Unlisted equity securities: FLEmERES
At 1 January n—A—H 190,000 163,008
Additions NE 10,450 1,330
Changes in fair value recognised in £ RE B2 FERREY
profit or loss during the year DR EEEE) (30,163) 35,630
Effect of foreign currency exchange — SNESHE = REH) F 2
difference (3,235) (9,968)
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 167,052 190,000
2021 2020
—E—F —E-TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Wealth management products: EHER :
At 1 January n—H—H 193,049 571,398
Additions NE 1,002,867 193,501
Redemptions fEO (1,101,920) (539,337)
Changes in fair value recognised in ~ EN{EIB s fEsR M
profit or loss during the year BAEEBEES 12 (284)
Effect of foreign currency exchange — YMNESHE 3 Z AR &
difference (2,145) (82,229)
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 91,863 193,049
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(ii)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair
value measurement (Continued)

Any gain or loss arising from the remeasurement of
the Group’s unlisted equity securities and wealth
management products held for strategic purposes are
recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried
at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were
not materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2021 and 2020.

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,

including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as

disclosed in note 8 and certain of the highest paid employees

as disclosed in note 9, is as follows:

20 sRERBEEREMIANA

REEE

(i)

UAREBENEZEREER
BEGER)
FE=RAEEFEREF S
ERMEZBAEZ (&)
ENFTEASEERBE RSB
FE bR R I IR RS A dn P
ELER W ERN B i

e °

WAHRNAAARBEARNSREE
EREBENAREE
RZEZ—FR-_ZT_FTF
+=A=+—8  &AEBEZRK
RSEERA AR SR T A
FERAEEFEA L EELE
BAER -

30 EXRABAIRS

AEBTEEEABNFH 24
XN FARRBEZTHFIA (R ES
BE) RN TETHRSFHHMERN
I (P EEOWEE) AT

2021 2020

—EC-—F —E-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARET T

Short-term employee benefits 2 HAE B e 1 15,406 12,095
Post-employment benefits RORAEF 833 451
16,239 12,546

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 6(b)).

FeEEn B IRA (RN
6(b) °
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 30 EXBEEAIRS @)

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Related party balances
() Non-trade balance with related parties:

BN T BR AR

() BT AIIFEZERRE -

2021 2020
—B-—F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETTT
Amounts due from related FE LK BB R B 5RIE
companies
— Amounts due from entities —ERTEEBAERE
controlled by members of key PR B E RS A FRIE
management personnel 216,734 72,302
— Amount due from an associate — JEUR — B & A R FRIE 2,796 2,731
219,530 75,033
Amounts due to entities controlled BNEEEEAEKE
by members of key management S B BE A FUE
personnel (19,462) (19,463)
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 30 EXBEBEAIXE @
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Related party balances (Continued) RONG S eANE ()

(i) Non-trade balance with related parties: (Continued) () BRI HIEE S ()
Amounts due from entities connected with directors 1B IR E 7 A B 51 F383(1)(d)
of the Company disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) ER(AT (EEESEHXE
(d) of the Hong Kgng Qompanles Ordmance. and Part ) 48 151 ) 55 3 2 45 5 A e g £
3 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about AR e R B B
Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows: BT -

Name of related companies Beijing BabyTree Market BabyTree (Beijing)
Consultancy Co., Ltd. Advisory Co., Ltd.
) /NG tREEETSERERAR BER(IER)FEARRAA]
Relationship with the Company Common director WANG Huainan ~ Common director WANG Huainan
L:ER/NG [=0)E LS HREET &R HEEETER
Terms of the amount due
FE R IR 5K
— duration and repayment terms No fixed repayment terms No fixed repayment terms
- FHINGERREAR B EEERAR B EEE AR
— interest rate Interest-free Interest-free
- i R RE
— security None None
— B4 i i
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Balance of the amount
BAER
—at 1 January 2020 5,504 41,891
-R-ZF_FF—HA—H
—at 31 December 2020 and 13,915 58,387
1 January 2021
-RIBEFF+_A=1+—HK
—E-—%—H—H
—at 31 December 2021 59,473 157,261
-RZE_—F+-A=+—H
Maximum balance outstanding
REAEERE
— during 2021 72,841 170,941
-R-F_—F
— during 2020 16,504 58,387
-R-T_TF
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Related party balances (Continued)

(i) Non-trade balance with related parties: (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2021, loss
allowance of approximately RMB58,978,000 (2020:
RMB36,760,000) was recognised against the amounts
due. Details of the provision are set out in note 20.

The amount due from an associate and amount due to
related parties are unsecured, interest-free and have
no fixed repayment terms. The amounts due from
related parties are included in “Prepayments and other
receivables” (Note 20) and the amounts due to related
parties are included in “Accruals and other payables”
(Note 24).

(i)  Trade balances with related parties:

30 EXRBEALRZ #@)

BAN 75 BR AR ()

()

(i)

BT B S A5 - (1)
E_E - —F+tA=1—
HIEFE - B stERGIERER
s ia B % AR #58,978,000
T(ZE2EZFF : ARK
36,760,0007T ) ° BB FIBH
AMIEE20 ©

& W — [ B 2 X B SRIR S FE A
BB AR EER 28R
3 48 [E] E R 5K AR © FEUA AR
77 RRRET AN FEN FRIE R H A
JE W kIR | (9 5E20) K 8 15 A
Bt 07 SORET A FERT R E AR &
3R] (KE24)

HETHE T 6V E ZERRE -

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARET T

Trade receivables =) e e
Trade payables B SRR
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 30 EXBEELIRXI @

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Related party transactions

The following is a summary of material related party
transactions. In the directors’ opinion, these transactions
were carried out in the ordinary course of business.

BB X5
UTABAMB X HHE - EF
A RERSPREREHBE
FREAT o

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARETTT

Video production (Note (i) R A RE (BIREG)

Consultancy fee (Note (ii)) EraE A (B aE)

Recognition of impairment loss on FIETMENEETRARIE
prepayments for non-current assets RRERSE

Recognition of loss allowance on other FE At EUGRIA
receivables REER A

Technical service fee income AT AR TS B A

Notes:

(i) The Group engaged an associate to produce videos during the
reporting period.

(ii) The Group engaged related companies to provide consultancy
service during the reporting period.

The technical service fee income from a related party
disclosed above constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
However, those transactions are exempt from the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as they are
below the de minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).

- 419
27,022 -
- 42,670
58,978 36,760
124 335

i

0) RBMEIA - AEE R —[EH5E
RAEIBUERSA -

(i) HBERAN AEERBEBHAF
YRR -

iR B — % B 7 B BT AR A
WA LT8R - HAZ TR E
MBERERS - AT ZFERS
EMR R =TI R RIS 14A.76(1) 1§ M £
KRREE - ER P ET LMARANE
TOAZMFEERT -
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B Ot R R B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

31 COMPANY - LEVEL STATEMENT OF 31 AREHEMERRE

FINANCIAL POSITION

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TE
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥T T AREFT
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries NG YNGR S =) 184,226 188,537
Financial assets measured at FVPL A AREEFTEBE ST
AEHRESNESREE 177,274 219,915
361,500 408,452
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEUBT B A =) M FIE 1,045,458 1,000,818
Amount due from a related company FE U — B BB N B R IE 74,052 82,375
Prepayments and other receivables ?Eﬁmléi&ﬁﬂﬁﬂif i - 32,707
Financial assets measured at FVPL AR EETE BT
AEHRBESNESREE 107,822 358,096
Cash and bank balances WE NIRRT 787,449 647,630
2,014,781 2,121,626
Current liabilities REEE
Amount due to a subsidiary FEAST —FEIFT /8 A B 5RIE 135,289 135,938
Accruals and other payables JERT R EAb BT 3B 5,450 268
140,739 136,206
Net current assets REEESHE 1,874,042 1,985,420
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBEE 2,235,542 2,393,872
Net assets EEFE 2,235,542 2,393,872
Equity s 28(a)
Share capital &7 1,152 1,153
Reserves B 2,234,390 2,392,719
Total equity SRR 2,235,542 2,393,872
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(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A FR¥EFI7R)

32 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 32 #Z=—Z=-—-+=-A=+-—
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS HitFESEMAERRERD
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE 18T « FERRRIEBHBIEE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 =i
Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial HEHZAMHMEREIERS  BERe
statements, the IASB has issued a number of amendments HERBEe D EASIEERY BITR
and a standard, which are not yet effective for the year ended —IEEER| - ABE_E-——&+— A
31 December 2021 and which have not been adopted in these S BIEEEEAN  BER L
consolidated financial statements. These developments include A MBS RERS - BEN TR R

the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 16
B PR B T e 5 HE R BB 1 655 2 18 ET
Amendments to IFRS 3
B PR B T 5 22 R S35k 2 15T
Amendments to IAS 16
BIFR & 5T R 1659% 2 55T
Amendments to IAS 37
BIFR & 52 R E 379 2 (57
Amendments to IFRSs
Bl B s 22 Al 2 18R]
Amendments to IAS 1
RestERE 1R 2185
Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2
Bl IEH‘J%H‘E&IB?%%EM%#& ZE8)
fi‘“’“:t%zsf‘%Zf
Amendments to IAS 8
BIFR & 5T RSB 85% 2 (55
Amendments to IAS 12

R
IFRS 17
Bl B 5 s 22 A B 1 755%
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

FHERIE1257 2 EFT

BIFR B 5 3R 5 2R R S5 1058 M BBR & 51 2R
285 ZER]

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 !
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 2
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 g

4 Effective for annual period beginning on or after a date to be determined 4

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial

statements.

REEEREOERTER -

Covid-19 — Related Rent concessions beyond 30 June 20211
B —FRA=TREFEERESHEE SRR
Reference to the Conceptual Framework?
BESHELE 2 fR i
Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use?
M3 - BB KR — VE8E R AT BY RS RUIA2
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?
BEEH—EBITE KRB AR?
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-20202

—\FZE T - TFRFRE S 4RI 80 F 5 2
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current?
mEIsIERE B ES

Disclosure of accounting policies?®
L ENEE Lok

Definition of accounting estimates?

Bit i mES

Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction?

—RHEFENEE KRB ERBEIRTENIES

Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments?

RiE R RABRAER]

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*

REEERABENRRAE LR IANEEREITE!

WIE-—FMA-AZ2RRABZFE
R AR
MR-Z_—F—A-BRZRFABZFE
R AR
NEIB-=F—A-BRZERRBZFE
HAR AR
NERER 2 Bk 2 &5 2 FEHE
R

AEBEF A SRS XNERBM
TEHIZE - R BRI AL 2 EmATEMLL
FEER RER BT TR T2 E 4
BMREEEATE -
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Definitions and Corporate Information

BERRAER

“AGM”
[BERBAFAE ]

“Articles of Association”

[AR =2 AEA ]

“associate(s)”

[HEEEA

“Audit Committee”
[EZEZEE ]

“Audiitor”
[ %2k |

“BabyTree Information”

[EEHMER

“Beijing Lujin”

[IERESE]

“Board”

=

“BVI”
[REER RS

“CG Code”
[EEASTRI

“China” or “PRC”

[

“close associate(s)”

[EZHEA
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the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, June 10, 2022;
AARBRZEZ_F A ATH(EHR)BTHRRAFAE

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time;
RAREESERMA - BIEHERT

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules;
HA EmARRIME T ZARRE

the audit committee of the Company;
RNAREZEZES

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, the auditor of the Company;
RBEEGTMEBAERART - AR EXEED :

BabyTree (Beijing) Information and Technology Co., Ltd. (&1t R){5 83l
AR /A7]), a company established under the laws of the PRC on August 8, 2007
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company;
BERLREERMARAR  —KRZZET+F N\AN\BRBEPEIEEK
SNHATF  AAARINEEWNBARF

Beijing Lujin Technology Development Co., Ltd. At RE£RHEHREBBRAT), a
company established under the laws of the PRC on May 28, 2013;
IREBESREERAERAR  —RRZE—=FRAAZ T N\ARBEFRBEEK
hva: /NI

the board of Directors;

=g

the British Virgin Islands;
REEARES

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules;
iR RIM S mprE R ERSFA

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires and only
for the purpose of this annual report, excluding Hong Kong, the Macau Special
Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan. “Chinese” shall be construed
accordingly;

hEARANE - ERNEFELERAFERSHE - TERESE - FE
PIRFRITTIR R )R &8 o [ |fEVE AR EARRE

2
pic

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules;

BB AR T AR RE



Definitions and Corporate Information

BERRAER

“Companies Act”

[REDE]

“Companies Ordinance”

IPNCIESHN

» o

“Company”, “our Company”,
“the Company”, “BabyTree”

[RRE] - [EER]
“connected transaction”
[BEERR 5 ]

“Contractual Arrangements”
[&#Z=HE]
“Consolidated Affiliated Entity”

(A EERE

“Director(s)”

(%]

“Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement”

[(BREBEERH)]
“Exclusive Option and Equity
Entrustment Agreement”

[CARBEELETE
e

the Companies Act (As Revised), Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961) of the Cayman Islands,
as amended or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;
FREEEME2E REDEKERT) (—NR—FFIFRED) - ETEER]
IS A A 5 S 2L

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;
CRRMEDINEBENIE622F) - EARIER]  FFR AR M7 B

BabyTree Group (ZB &£ E), a company incorporated under the laws of the
Cayman Islands on February 9, 2018. The term “BabyTree” used by itself shall
have the same meaning unless the context requires otherwise;

LB % E (BabyTree Group) * — KR ZZE—N\F-ANBIREFSHEAETE
MACZEV AT « BRXES BRI - BRI BER | —FAABHERAESE

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules;

BB EARRIE T AR R

a series of contractual agreements reached to consolidate our interest in
Zhongming entered into among BabyTree Information, Zhongming and its
Registered Shareholders during Pre-IPO Reorganization;

BERERS  FTREEEZCRENERAAFESN EEBBEI IR RN
PR RRIS H) R a5 TR H) — R P & KR

the entity we control through the Contractual Arrangements, being Zhongming;
BFEBE OLEHEHIRNESR - BIRIE

the director(s) of the Company;

RRRESE:

an exclusive business cooperation agreement dated May 23, 2018, entered
into by and among BabyTree Information, the Registered Shareholders and
Zhongming;

BEHGES  BRRRERBZEAIYHRBRR T /\FAA - +=08CH
REBAERRE)

an exclusive option and equity entrustment agreement dated May 23, 2018,
entered into among BabyTree Information, the Registered Shareholders and
Zhongming;

BEHGES  BRRRERBZEAIYNRABRR T /\FAA - +=08CH
RBERELBEEE R
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BERRAER

“Fosun”

(B2 ]

“Fosun Health”

[TEEf2EE]

“Fosun International”

[18 2 BIRR |

“Fosun Pharma”

“Global Offering”
[BIREE ]

“Group”

[ASE ]

“HK$” or uHKDU
[7&7]

“Hong Kong”
(&%

“IFRS”

[ BIFR I T ¥R 2R |
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Fosun International Limited and its affiliates, including Startree (BVI) Limited;
EEBEBRER AR MERB AL - BEStartree (BVI) Limited

Shanghai Fosun Health Industrial Holdings Limited (/515 2 & %1% A
fR -/~ 7]), a company incorporated in the PRC and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Fosun International;

FPEERRREFERARAR  —KNPEFMAZHATF - BEEBERS
EE2EWE QA

Fosun International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, the shares
of which are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 00656);

BEBBARAR  —KNEBIMEZNRE  EKROREBBEXSHAE
PR A B EMR B (B 5E  00656) :

Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd., a healthcare company
incorporated in the PRC, the shares of which are listed both on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 02196), and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600196);
FEERBE(EE)RNHARAT  —KRPEETMRINEENT - ARH
MEBMEZZARD T ER(RM AR - 02196) & FEEHFRZZ (RN K
5% 1 600196) £ :

the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the Shares;
RIEEBNFEEMEIREE

our Company and all of our subsidiaries and the Consolidated Affiliated Entity
or, where the context so requires, in respect of the period before our Company
became the holding company of its present subsidiaries and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entity, the businesses operated by such subsidiaries and the
Consolidated Affiliated Entity or their predecessors (as the case may be);
RRBRKEMOFEMBRARIREHMBERROXBMERARRIKNBEER
EMBEARIREHEBEERNERARANHAMEME - AIEEEMBE AR RE
P B ERSNHA S (REABBERME)LENER

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong;
BEETEEETT

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;
hEARAMBEERHITTHR |

International Financial Reporting Standards;
R RS 2ER
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BERRAER

“Latest Practicable Date” April 19, 2022, being the latest practicable date prior to the bulk printing and
publication of this annual report;

[ERIEERRAT1THE “TFWATAR  BIAFERSHENR R TIEANREERAITEE

“Lingheng Investment” Lingheng Investment Holdings (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (ZE#IRE (L R) B R A7),
a company established under the laws of the PRC on October 29, 2015;

EIERE ] EEREZEROQER)ERAR  — KRR ZE—AFTAZTHLABRBHREVEE
[BAVAZOPNCII

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time;

[ ErAR Al (CERBERSBRARFES EMHRAD - K TRHEFTSFT

“M&C” maternity and children;

[ STII

“Main Board” the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel with GEM of the
Stock Exchange;

[ =k MRS ENEF XS (T RIERETS) - BN MGEM @ BEET
1TiEE

“Memorandum” the memorandum of association of the Company, as amended from time to
time;

R EIR M RAREEERKRE - ETRHERT 5

“Ningbo Baoshu” Ningbo Baoshu Investment and Management LLP (BN S EEIRE B

(BFRA %)), a limited liability partnership registered in the PRC on December 16,
2015, our employee shareholding platform;

[E R B EREMREABESREEBREE)  —ZR_E—hAF+A+AEH
B M ARAaBEE - ARMNEIHKRTS

“Ningbo Honghu” Ningbo Honghu Investment and Management LLP (Zf 848 E BB A B %
(BFRA %)), a limited liability partnership registered in the PRC on December 16,
2015, our employee shareholding platform;

[ B4 ERERREEEARPEAREE)  —XR_E—HF+t-_A+RBETF
BEMHARAEEE - REMNEITHRHKRTE

“Ningbo Yimengweima” Ningbo Yimengweima Enterprise Management Center LLP (B A2 A Kb %EE
ERLARA ), alimited liability partnership registered in the PRC on January
5, 2017;

[ERNERE | BREAZRECEEREFL(AREE)  — KR _T—tF-ARRAEREF

MEBRAEBIRE
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“Ningbo Zhishan”

[BEREE]

“Nomination Committee”
[REZEZE]

“Powers of Attorney”

[Z7EE]

“PRC Legal Advisors”

[h B E R

“Pre-IPO Reorganization”

[BERARBERNEHE]

“Prospectus”
[BIRERE]

“Registered Shareholder(s)’

[ERCRCR

“Remuneration Committee”

ISR

“RMB”
AR

“SFO”

(R85 R B 1A
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Ningbo Zhishan Zhizhen Investment and Management LLP (2 & & FZ8&
BERAERTEBRER), a limited liability partnership registered in the PRC on
December 16, 2015, our employee shareholding platform;
EREELERAEABESREE(BRER)  —FR=_E—hF+=-A+<AH
ERBEEMHEREZEE  REMHBEIFRKRTS

the nomination committee of the Company;
RATHREEZES

an irrevocable powers of attorney dated May 23, 2018 entered into between
each of the Registered Shareholders and BabyTree Information;
BECUREEHESEHERIYNERA—SE— \FRA- Tt A HEZ

CM Law Firm, being the legal advisors to the Company as to the PRC laws;
EERAESH - RARREMTBIERZRERER

the corporate reorganization of our Group in preparation for the Listing,
particulars of which are set out in the section headed “History, Reorganization
and Corporate Structure” in the Prospectus;

AEELAEEHE ITMETHAREAE  FHEFEINBRERIEL SFEEA
IS 3 -1

the prospectus of the Company dated November 15, 2018;
AREHBAZZ—\F+—A+HBENBRER:

the shareholders of Zhongming upon completion of the Pre-IPO Reorganization,
being Mr. WANG Huainan, Lingheng Investment, Mr. SHAO Zhenping (BF#x
F), Ningbo Zhishan, Beijing Lujin, Mr. WANG Yawei (£ 3512), Ningbo Honghu,
Ningbo Baoshu, Ningbo Yimengweima and Mr. WANG Changying (£ & #);
BRAAMBEEEMATHRETISMIRE - BIE@EELE  RERE - BMHRTFE
FBREECIERES  ITRELAE - FRBR EREM  ERASRSE
RERFBERAE

the remuneration committee of the Company;

AABHMEEE

the lawful currency of the PRC;
FENEEERE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;
(BHEBAGROD(EBEDIESTIE) - KTRHER] S AR M7 BB
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BERRAER

“Share(s)”
[&t5 |

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A%

“Share Pledge Agreement”
[CRRHEE 17 ) ]

“State Council”

[ B %56

“Startree”
[ Startree ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 P |

“Strategic Committee”
(BB

“subsidiary” or “subsidiaries”

[

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”
[EFERER]

“U.S.” or “United States”

ES=

“U.S. dollars” or “US$”
E

. ” o«

we,” “us” or “our”

[ 1P

“Zhongming”

[R5 |

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a par value of
US$0.0001 each;
RA R AR EE0.0001 E T A EBAR

holder(s) of the Share(s);
ROFEBA

a share pledge agreement dated May 23, 2018, entered into among Zhongming,
the Registered Shareholders and BabyTree Information;

RIE BRRRREEHEAZHEYNESNR-_E—\FRA-T=A8K
G

the State Council of People Republic of China (3 A R LA & s A REU);
I ARHEFMBF R ARBAT

Startree (BVI) Limited, a Substantial Shareholder;
Startree (BVI) Limited » %R :

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;
EEMERXHMBRAT

the strategic committee of the Company;

EANSIE =

has the meaning ascribed to it thereto in section 15 of the Companies
Ordinance;
BB R RGP T ZAHRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules;
BB EiRRIM T ARRE

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject
to its jurisdiction;
ENBERE  EELIRBMEZEZEENMEHTE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States;
EBEFEBET

the Company or the Group, as the context requires;

ARABEAEE (IEFTIE)

Beijing Zhongming Century Science and Technology Co., Ltd. (bR RIE 42 &}
AR A7), acompany established under the laws of the PRC and a subsidiary
of the Company.

IRBBELBRRBERAT - —KPFEEMIOAT  RARGNBAF] -
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Board of Directors
EEg

Executive Directors

BITES

Non-executive Directors

FHTESE

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHITES

Joint Company Secretaries

BEARME

Authorized Representatives

REAE
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Mr. GAO Min
=L
Mr. XU Chong
RIS LE

Mr. WANG Huainan

FEAEE

Mr. QIAN Shunjiang

FEIET S A

Mr. CHEN Bing

BRIk 5% A

Mr. CHEN Weijun

BRETE A

Mr. WU Ying

RAEzLE

Mr. Christian Franz REITERMANN
Christian Franz REITERMANN 4t 4

Mr. CHEN Guanglei
PRES LA

Mr. De-chao Michael YU
BB E

Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu
Boh&EsE

Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang
ZHANG Hongjiangst 4

Ms. MA Lie
Bt

Ms. SIU Wing Kit
FERL L

Mr. XU Chong
RIS LE
Ms. MA Lie
BHRlLt
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BEEL A RER
Audit Committee
EREES

Remuneration Committee

¥FMWEEE

Nomination Committee

REEES

Mr. CHEN Guanglei (Chairman)
PRESR A (EFE)

Mr. De-chao Michael YU
ARk E

Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang
ZHANG Hongjiang %t 4=

Mr. CHEN Guanglei (Chairman)
PREELE(ERE)

Mr. XU Chong

TR

Mr. WANG Huainan
FEAEE

Mr. De-chao Michael YU
BB &

Mr. ZHANG Hongjiang
ZHANG Hongjiang %t 4

Mr. WANG Huainan (Chairman)
FTEmEE(ER)

Mr. CHEN Guanglei
PRESRTHE

Mr. De-chao Michael YU
AL E
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Strategic Committee Mr. WANG Huainan (Chairman)
BRESS FTlEmEE(ERE)
Mr. GAO Min
=L
Mr. XU Chong
RS AE
Mr. QIAN Shunjiang
BT A4
Mr. CHEN Weijun
BRETE SR A
Mr. WU Ying
RELE
Mr. CHEN Guanglei
PREESR 5o
Mr. SHIAH Hung-Yu
EEIN=Y e

Independent Auditor Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
B AZEED Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance
with the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
2nd Floor, 625 King’s Road
North Point
Hong Kong
ABERBEHMESHHAERDE
P BATSIE ¥R B AR ) T B0 EE 2 R o5 B BB A 20D
i
ibA
REiE62557218

Hong Kong Legal Advisor Miao & Co. (in association with Han Kun Law Offices)
BREEER Room 3901-05, 39/F

Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

BREMBH AT CLEREMEBBE)

B

ERKBEF155

BEHBESNEKRE

39183901-05F
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Registered Office
Rt

Corporate Headquarters
YNGIECE

Principal Place of Business
in Hong Kong
BERTEEEME

Principal Share Registrar
in Cayman Islands

MERSKRMBFETARE

The Offices of Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

The Offices of Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

6th Floor, Building A, Borui Plaza

No. 26 North Road of East Third Ring
Chaoyang District

Beijing

PRC

a2

il

CE[CT

R=RILEK265%

Hin KEAGE

Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong
s
SRAER1835

BRI L541E

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square, Grand Cayman

KY1-1102, Cayman Islands

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 10983, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square, Grand Cayman

KY1-1102, Cayman Islands
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Hong Kong Share Registrar
BERRMBFBERLE

Principal Bank

FEFERRLT

Company’s Website
AT ML
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Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor
Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong
BEBRDREBSFELZERAA
BB

At

ERABR1835E

BRI
17181712-17165% 4

China Merchants Bank, Beijing Guanghua Road Branch
F2 Kerry Shopping Mall

No. 1 Guanghua Road

Beijing

PRC

BERTIE RS T RER T

h

iy

FEERR15

RER52E

ir.babytree.com
ir.babytree.com
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Deliver Loving Parenting, Empower Happy Family
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